Public Document Pack

2N Hampshire
& County Council
EXECUTIVE DECISION DAY NOTICE
Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health
Decision Day & Executive Member for Younger Adults and Health
and Wellbeing Decision Day
Date and Time Thursday, 8th February, 2024 at 2.00 pm
Place Remote meeting
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA
Chief Executive
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION
This decision day is being held remotely and will be recorded and broadcast live via the
County Council’s website.
AGENDA
Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health
Deputations
To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.

KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)

1. HCC CARE OLDER ADULTS PORTFOLIO - PROPOSED SERVICE
CHANGES (Pages 3 - 174)

To seek approval on the recommendations relating to HCC Care service
changes to the Older Adults residential and nursing homes portfolio.

NON KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)

2. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES, STATUTORY JOINT
COMMITTEES, PANELS AND PARTNERSHIP BOARDS (Pages 175 -
176)

To identify a nominee for the Surrey Borders Partnership NHS FT
Council of Governors.



ABOUT THIS AGENDA:

On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages.

ABOUT THIS SESSION:

The press and public are welcome to observe the public sessions of the
decision day via the webcast.



Agenda ltem 1

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health

Date: 8 February 2024

Title: HCC Care Older Adults Portfolio - Proposed Service Changes

Report From: Graham Allen, Director of Adults’, Health, and Care

Contact name: Paul Archer, Deputy Director, Adults’ Health, and Care

Email: paul.archer@hants.gov.uk

Purpose of this Report

1.

The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Executive Lead
Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health for the recommendations
relating to HCC Care service changes to the Older Adults residential and
nursing homes portfolio as set out in paragraph 13 (a-l) of this report.

At their July 2023 meeting, Cabinet approved in principle a significant
investment programme (estimated at £173m — 4t quarter 2022 cost base) for
HCC Care’s Older Adults service portfolio. The proposed programme included
3 new homes and major refurbishments, and expansions to 3 existing homes.
This was in support of a change in direction for the Older Adults service so
that it can better meet the future needs of a growing elderly population with
increasing needs including complex dementia and nursing care.

The proposed investment programme also included 7 proposed home
closures. 2 of the proposed closures being homes that are already temporarily
closed and 2 being homes that would remain open until early 2027 prior to
being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new homes.

The proposed investment programme to support the new service direction,
followed a review of the existing portfolio which highlighted several of the
current homes, especially those providing standard residential services, are
operating from buildings and layouts that are increasingly not fit for purpose
and are challenging for staff to work in. The review confirmed that the homes
proposed for closure, were not fully occupied, are proving increasingly
unattractive to potential service users and their families, and that the work
required to adapt the existing buildings so that they are fit for the future was
either not possible or not viable.

Cabinet approved a formal public consultation specifically in relation to the
proposed home closures and the proposed existing home modifications and
expansions outlined in the proposed capital investment programme. Cabinet
approved the public consultation requesting the outcomes to be scrutinised by

Page 3



mailto:paul.archer@hants.gov.uk

10.

11.

12.

the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee (HASC), prior to any
formal decisions being taken by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social
Care and Public Health not before February 2024.

The formal public consultation commenced on 4t September 2023 and
concluded on 12t November 2023. It covered 10 different HCC Care homes
across 4 separate proposal categories. The public consultation was overseen
by a cross-party HASC Member Working Group and their work, and their
support for the closure proposals was covered in a report of the Working
Group that was presented to HASC at their 16" January 2024 meeting.
HASC approved the report and its recommendations in full.

In summary, 724 official consultation responses were received alongside 44
unstructured written contributions. Consultation responses came from
residents/their families/their representatives, from staff, from people who live
close to the homes that were being consulted on, from organisations
(including the NHS) and from democratically elected representatives. For 3 of
the 4 proposal categories consulted on (covering 7 of the 10 homes) there
was more support for the proposals than there was disagreement.

There was strong public disagreement for the proposed closure of 3 existing
residential homes (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent
Mead — including the cessation of the associated Day Service) and the
consultation responses in this regard were also added to in the form of
submitted petitions against the individual closures. At the HASC meeting of
16t January 2024 a Deputation from 2 family members who have relatives at
Bishops Waltham House was delivered.

This report covers the main issues raised from the consultation responses
and in particular the issues raised in opposition to the closures at Bishops
Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead that (at the time of
producing this report) were supporting 77 residents in total. The report also
provides information on a separate formal staff consultation that took place
during the public consultation and outlines how residents/their families have
been engaged with since the proposals were first published back in July 2023.

Having robustly reviewed the formal public consultation responses,
considered the mitigations to the main issues raised and taken all that has
been analysed and evidenced into account, the report recommends that the
Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health should
support each of the proposals that were publicly consulted on, including the
cessation of residential services at the 3 homes highlighted above.

The County Council has highly experienced staff that work across the different
HCC Care sites and in our Care Management (Social Workers) service.
These staff work with residents and clients across any number of settings
daily, and consistently deliver high quality, sensitive care, and support. This
includes regularly reassessing clients as their needs change and carefully
organising and supporting the transition to new onward care arrangements as
required, taking a person-centred approach.

The way in which the temporary closures of Copper Beeches and Cranleigh
Paddock were managed in late 2021 that resulted in alternative care

Page 4



arrangements being organised for 39 residents, and the outstanding support
given to residents who were affected in June 2023 at Westholme following a
flooding incident that required 20 residents to be moved to alternative care
settings with no notice, demonstrate that those residents (and their families)
impacted by the recommended changes that were consulted on, would be
supported in a careful, sensitive and highly professional manner if the closure
proposals are approved.

Recommendations

13. That the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health

approves the following recommendations:

that Copper Beeches residential care home in Andover should be
permanently closed with immediate effect.

that Cranleigh Paddock residential care home in Lyndhurst should be
permanently closed with immediate effect.

that Bishop’s Waltham House residential care home in Bishop’s Waltham
should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

that Green Meadows residential care home in Denmead should be closed
within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

that Solent Mead residential care home in Lymington should be closed within
6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

subject to recommendation 13e (above) being approved, that the Solent
Mead Day Centre, attached to the Solent Mead residential care home, in
Lymington should be closed by, or at the same time as the residential care
home is closed.

that at Emsworth House residential and nursing care home in Emsworth the
older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed
but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with
modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

that at Oakridge House residential and nursing care home in Basingstoke the
older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed
but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with
modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

that at Ticehurst residential and nursing care home in Aldershot the older
more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but
likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with
modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

Page 5



that Malmesbury Lawn residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant) should
be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set out in
this report.

that Westholme residential and nursing care home in Winchester should be
closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy near
Winchester) opens, as set out in this report.

that in relation to the recommended closures of the residential services at
Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, Solent Mead, Emsworth House,
Oakridge House and Ticehurst, that no further residential admissions to these
homes are to be agreed if the closure decisions are made.

Contextual information

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

The County Council aims to protect the independence, resilience, and
wellbeing of older people. Wherever possible, people want to be supported to
stay in their own home and strong Reablement and Domiciliary Care services
enable this to happen in most cases for people aged 65 and above.

When this is not possible and more unplanned care and support is required,
Extra Care housing provides an option for people to live independently in a
flat within a development which has 24-hour care and support available if
needed. The County Council currently commissions care in 20 Extra Care
schemes (900 apartments) across Hampshire and has further schemes close
to finalisation, or in development.

If an older person’s needs require more significant support, then most will
likely be supported in a residential or a nursing care setting. The County
Council placed close to 2,000 Older Adults into residential and nursing care
services in 2022/23 with 86% of clients being supported by care homes in the
independent sector. In total, there are just under 300 care homes registered
by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in Hampshire to support Older Adults.

Some 3,500 Older Adults, who are the responsibility of the County Council,
are currently being cared for in residential or nursing homes across
Hampshire settings. The County Council’s in-house HCC Care service
currently supports just over 600 of these across its range of residential and
nursing care homes. In total, the HCC Care service provides circa 900 beds
across 15 operational sites, 3 of which focus entirely or mostly on short-term
care and supporting people who are unable to go home at the point of
discharge from hospital. In addition, HCC Care also has 2 other Older Adults
homes (Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock) that have been temporarily
closed for operational reasons since the end of 2021.

A review of the HCC Care Older Adults portfolio concluded last year alongside
a service strategy review which looked at both current and future service
demand levels and support requirements. The latter highlighted the growing
challenges for the HCC Care service in terms of increasing resident
dependency and complexity and pointed to a forecast increase in the over 65
population of more than 50,000 over the next 6 years. Additionally, it
confirmed (based on data from the Hampshire Joint Strategic Needs

Page 6



19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Assessment https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/jsna
and the profile of Older Adults living in HCC Care) that Dementia cases in
Older Adults is predicted to increase by a concerning 45% by 2040, meaning
at least a further 6,000 cases of Dementia for Hampshire’s older population.

The review of the HCC Care portfolio highlighted some significant concerns
about the condition of several of the homes, especially the older residential
units, that have been under-invested in over past decades. Property
assessments and improvement options showed that redevelopment of the
sites to suitable levels and current CQC standards was either not possible or
was unviable. The review demonstrated how unfit for purpose some of the
buildings were and how challenging the conditions were for staff to work in.

The review highlighted cramped conditions and poor personal space with
many of the rooms requiring commodes in the absence of a toilet. Other
limitations included narrow/tight corridors, poor lighting in certain homes, staff
having to move furniture to perform their duties and not easily being able to
support residents who require moving or assistance with personal care needs.
Equipment such as hoists was limited, medicine cabinets were centralised
rather than being personalised in each room and most of the homes lacked
suitable storage space. Many conclusions were drawn from the review and
what was very clear for the homes most in question and ultimately at the
centre of the public consultation is their inability to cater for people with
complex needs and how their layouts would not enable people with growing
levels of dementia to be properly supported.

The outcomes of the portfolio review and the service strategy work, combined
to enable a £173m HCC Care investment proposal (4" quarter 2022 cost
base) to be put forward for Cabinet in July 2023 for consideration. This was
on the basis that the County Council wished to remain as a key service
provider in the residential and nursing care market and was supported by a
financial business case that demonstrated that HCC Care, backed by the
proposed investment and able to operate from fit for the future care home
environments, is able to deliver nursing and complex dementia services
cheaper than the cost of care in the external market. With rising volumes of
people requiring complex care support into the future, this was also a very
important consideration.

The investment proposals included the proposed building of 3 new 80-100
bed care homes and maijor refurbishments and expansions of 3 existing
homes (Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst) that would also see
the cessation of standard residential services from the end of 2025 and would
result in 80-100 bed, fit for the future homes ultimately being delivered. In all
cases, the new or modernised homes would be designed to cater for Older
Adults with complex needs with the capacity being used flexibly to support
both nursing needs and complex dementia needs.

The new and modernised home designs would recognise the environmental
needs of people with increasing stages of dementia. Building design and
interior design are especially important for people with dementia. Improving
the care environment for this group of people has a direct link to improved

Page 7


https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/jsna

24.

25.

care standards, service delivery, improved experiences for nursing home
residents, better staff experience and retention and enhanced reputation.

Individual rooms would be designed to meet current Building Regulations in
terms of size. Bedrooms would have ensuite bathroom facilities. The new
and/or modernised homes would be designed to accommodate overhead
track hoists in all bedrooms, to assist with moving people who have mobility
issues. In terms of communal facilities, groups of 10 residents would have
shared access to lounge and dining facilities. The homes would be designed
to feel homely and domestic in nature, whilst at the same time meeting
appropriate guidance and regulations for complex dementia care and nursing
care. In addition to the ensuite bathrooms, assisted bathrooms and shower
rooms would be provided within the homes on a 1:10 resident ratio.

The service strategy to be able to better cater for people with complex care
needs including complex dementia, was supported by Cabinet. The
associated investment programme to improve and add to the HCC Care Older
Adults portfolio, taking it to nearer 1,000 beds was agreed to in principle, but
given that it included 7 proposed home closures and major changes to 3
existing homes the agreement in principle was subject to a formal public
consultation. Cabinet also requested that the outcomes of the consultation
should be publicly scrutinised by HASC and that the individual proposals that
were to be consulted on (see below) should be subject to a set of decisions to
be taken by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health not before February 2024:

e The proposed permanent closure of two homes currently temporarily
closed for operational reasons: Copper Beeches in Andover and
Cranleigh Paddock in Lyndhurst.

e The proposed closures of Bishops Waltham House in Bishops Waltham,
Green Meadows in Denmead, and Solent Mead in Lymington.

NB: Linked to the proposed closure of the Solent Mead care home, but
specifically consulted on, the proposed closure of the Solent Mead Day
Service in Lymington.

e The proposed refurbishment and expansion of Emsworth House in
Emsworth, Oakridge House in Basingstoke and Ticehurst in Aldershot,
to include the cessation of standard residential services at the 3 homes.

e The proposed closure and relocation (to proposed new build sites
located near to) of Malmesbury Lawn in Leigh Park, Havant, and
Westholme in Winchester.

Pre-Consultation Engagement and the Consultation Approach

26.

Further to the July 2023 Cabinet meeting, the formal public consultation on
the HCC Care closure proposals was planned for and took place between 4
September 2023 and 12 November 2023. It was widely promoted ahead of its
commencement and throughout its 10-week period. This included a range of
online and offline channels, and letters to (and meetings with) care home

Page 8



27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

residents, their relatives, and representatives, and letters to stakeholders such
as partner organisations in the NHS and local Councils.

An information pack containing details of the proposals, and a consultation
response form were developed in standard and EasyRead formats. These
were published on-line and made available in paper format, with other
languages and formats available on request. The information pack contained
important information about each of the 10 homes and the Day Service which
were being consulted on. Part of the information included in the information
pack has been repeated in the separate page by page summaries of the
background to the proposals, alternative provision and other considerations
and confirmation of the recommended closures — see Appendix 1.

Engagement events were held in the homes affected (except for Copper
Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock that are temporarily closed). These sessions
included pre-consultation events (from the day of publication of the Cabinet
report — 10 July 2023) and individual and group meetings during the formal
consultation period. This enabled those who may be directly impacted, their
families and staff (see staff consultation section later in the report), to learn
more about the proposals and to discuss the proposed changes in more detail
with HCC Care senior management, with Registered Managers of the homes
and the Day Service and with Care Management/Social Worker staff.

Take up of engagement sessions with senior HCC Care staff and Care
Management staff by residents and their families was particularly strong for
the 3 residential homes (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and
Solent Mead — including Day Service users) that are most at threat of
imminent closure. The sessions proved invaluable, helping concerns and
issues to be openly expressed and enabling the already strong understanding
of resident and family needs, to be strengthened further.

Officers also worked with and supported the cross party HASC Working
Group that was established at the end of July, on request from Cabinet, to
oversee and scrutinise the consultation process. This included advising the
Working Group of the approach being taken to the consultation, regularly
informing them of progress, organising visits to different forms of HCC Care
homes to help bring to life the drivers behind the overall proposals and to
demonstrate the high quality of care that HCC Care provides. Members were
also informed and assured by the regular promotion of the consultation
throughout the 10-week period.

A key element of the consultation approach was to ensure that Advocacy
support was also provided and regularly offered to residents and Day Service
users throughout the consultation period to help them to participate in the
consultation. MS Teams and telephone appointments were also offered (and
accepted) to people who preferred that form of engagement.

The Consultation Response

32.

The formal consultation responses including multiple comments from those
who responded, were captured, and summarised by the Corporate Insight and
Engagement service and their report has been included with today’s agenda

Page 9



33.

34.

35.

pack. The report confirms 724 separate responses were received via the
official response form with respondents on average commenting on more than
2 of the closure proposals. Of the official responses received, 675 were from
individuals, 13 officially on behalf of an organisation, group, or business, and
16 responded as Democratically Elected Representatives. The remaining 20
respondents did not indicate their status.

From the above information, approximately 98% of the consultation responses

fell into the following respondent groups:

residents, their families, others with a connection (32%),

staff (or volunteers), either working at the homes covered by the

consultation, or who work, or have worked for the Directorate (13%),

proposals (28%).

people who live near to the homes covered by the consultation (24%),

people and/or organisations, such as the NHS, with an interest in the

In addition to the official responses, a further 44 ‘unstructured responses’

were received through letters and email correspondence and informal
feedback was also captured by HCC Care senior staff from meetings they
held with 50 residents from a range of homes and Day Service users. This
engagement was in addition to private meetings with residents/their families,
and meetings they had with staff, which were separate to the formal staff
consultation meetings recorded by Human Resources. The information
gathered from the unofficial sources complemented the issues raised and
generated from the official routes.

The headline themes from the consultation responses including a range of

supportive comments in support of the proposals, concerns and impacts and
other key considerations/points raised are shown in Appendix 2 and are
covered off in the consultation mitigations section of the report from paragraph
57. The headline results from the consultation responses, which positively
demonstrate greater support than disagreement for 3 of the 4 proposal
categories consulted on, are shown in the table below.

PROPOSED CLOSURES
Copper Beeches

Cranleigh Paddock
Bishops Waltham House
Green Meadows, Denmead
Solent Mead (home)
Solent Mead (Day Service)

PROPOSED MODIFICATION / EXTENSION
Emsworth House

Oakridge House

Ticehurst

PROPOSED CLOSURE AND RELOCATION
Malmesbury Lawn
Westholme

e 6% | 7%

e s v 5% A
G 5 22, 6%
ee% T 1A% 9%

s 8% 8%
[ s0% T 15% 9%
W | agree W | accept the

with the proposal  proposal but
| have some concerns

Unsure or M| disagree
have no view with the proposal

NB: Many of the 724 respondents shared their views on more than one proposal.

Page 10



The 4 Consultation Proposal Categories

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

The public consultation was formed based on the different proposals being
broken down into the 4 main category areas listed in paragraph 25. The
summary position for each of these category areas is commented on in the
following paragraphs.

CATEGORY 1 - The proposed permanent closure of two residential
homes currently temporarily closed for operational reasons: Copper
Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock.

Positively, nearly 60% of respondents (56% and 57%) respectively for
Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock agreed with the closure proposals
or accepted the proposals, albeit with some concerns. Disagreement with the
proposals was recorded at 37% and 39% respectively and in total, just under
100 of the 724 respondents commented specifically on the 2 closure
proposals.

2/3rds of those who responded were from the group of ‘other interest
individuals’ which included organisations and democratically elected
representatives. Former staff who worked at the homes strongly supported
the closure proposals.

These two sites have been closed for operational reasons since the end of
2021. In the lead up to the temporary closures, 39 residents were supported
to move either to alternative HCC Care provision, or to care homes in the
independent sector.

The main concerns that were raised were about the future use of the sites,
that the size of the proposed new homes is too large and that there is
inadequate capacity or appropriate capacity for future needs and worries
about an over reliance on the independent sector. A small range of comments
were also received, these included references to the future use of the sites
and in the case of the Cranleigh Paddock site, New Forest District Council
openly stated a desire to work with the County Council on the options for its
future use.

The points above were not unique to this proposal category as evidenced in
the updates provided below for the other category areas. The key points
raised here and below, are addressed in the next section of this report.

CATEGORY 2 - The proposed closure of three residential homes at
Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows and Solent Mead (including
the Day Service), within 6-12 months of the closure decision, if made
(timings to be confirmed) for service and financial reasons.

This consultation category secured the highest level of interest which was not
a surprise given that 3 existing residential homes were being proposed for
closure. If the proposed closures of the 3 homes within this category are
agreed to by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health, then the closures would take place within 6-12 months of today’s
formal decision.

Page 11



43.

44.

45.

46.

47.

48.

Some 78% of respondents in respect of Bishops Waltham House disagreed
with the proposed closure. The Bishops Waltham House proposal also
attracted the highest number of responses with 334 of the 724 respondents
submitting a response in relation to the home. Opposition to the proposals
was especially high from residents/their families (96%) and from people who
live near to the home (94%). On the flip side 60% of current and/or former
staff or volunteers who have worked at the home and responded, agreed with
the closure proposal, or accepted it, but with some concerns. The level of
response from this group was around 1/3" of the level for the other 2
respondent areas.

The most frequently mentioned concerns included the loss of a highly valued
community service, the inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local
needs, that closure would be unsettling or traumatic for residents who would
have to leave the home and the adverse impact on relatives including the
need to travel further. A significant number of individual comments were also
made including from those who strongly value having a community facility in
their village and from those who expressed concerns about the HCC Care
service strategy and the size of the proposed new and/or modernised homes
that are part of the proposed investment programme plans.

In respect of Green Meadows, 58% of the 166 respondents disagreed with
the proposed closure. Interestingly, of the 4 different groups of respondents
listed in paragraph 33, the level of agreement or acceptance with some
concerns was higher than the level of disagreement in terms of the responses
from staff, from people living close to the home and from other interested
parties. That said, 85% of the 73 residents/their families that responded,
disagreed with the closure proposal.

In line with the responses received in respect of Bishops Waltham House, the
most frequently mentioned concerns included the loss of a highly valued
community service, that closure would be unsettling or traumatic for residents
who would have to leave the home and the adverse impact on relatives
including the need to travel further. A range of individual comments were also
received, including from those who strongly value having a community facility
and from those who questioned the service strategy and the size of the
proposed new and/or modernised homes.

In respect of Solent Mead, 67% of the 231 respondents disagreed with the
proposed closure. Like the Bishops Waltham response, there was strong
disagreement from those living close to the home (95% of 37 respondents)
whilst 71% of current or former staff (or volunteers) agreed with the closure
proposal or accepted it but with some concerns.

Again, very much in line with the responses received in respect of Bishops
Waltham House and Green Meadows, the most frequently mentioned
concerns included the loss of a highly valued community service, less local
care choice and an over reliance on the independent sector, that closure
would be unsettling or traumatic for residents who would have to leave the
home and the adverse impact on relatives including the need to travel further.

Page 12



49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

A range of individual comments were also received, including many from
those who strongly value having a community facility and who want the
proposed new build for the yet unidentified New Forest location, to be focused
on Lymington. Some respondents questioned the service strategy and the
size of the proposed new and/or modernised homes.

Lastly in this section is the responses received in relation to the proposed
closure of the Solent Mead Day Service. It needs stating that despite the
strong disagreement for the cessation of the service (73% of the 204
responses), if the Solent Mead residential service is agreed to be closed, then
the Day Service would not be able to continue.

Again, there were different views expressed with agreement from current
and/or former staff and Day Service volunteers but strong disagreement from
service users/their relatives and from people living close to the service or
those with an interest in the closure proposal - 105 of the overall 204
respondents. Similar issues were raised when the comments were analysed
but concerns were also expressed about the strategy being driven primarily by
financial considerations.

CATEGORY 3 - The proposed cessation of residential services at
Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst (not before the end of
2025) as part of extensive modifications and expansions of the homes.

Positively, there was strong support for the major refurbishments and
expansions of Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst with those
agreeing with the proposals at 63%, 65% and 69% and when added to those
who accepted the proposals but did have some concerns these percentages
increased to 88% (of 81 responses), 87% (of 77 responses) and 83% (of 77
responses). From any perspective, the responses received demonstrate
overwhelming support for the refurbishment and expansion proposals.

A range of comments were received with the response submissions, and
these praised the ambition of the proposals, including the planned efforts to
ease the journey into old age and to proactively provide fit for the future
facilities to support those with complex dementia needs. Some concerns
consistent with those highlighted above were also registered as was the worry
about the ability to access suitable alternative provision if the standard
residential services are ceased.

CATEGORY 4 - The proposed closure and relocation of the residential

service at Malmesbury Lawn and the residential and nursing service at
Westholme, mainly for service proximity and workforce reasons, at the
time both proposed new-build facilities (at Oak Park and Cornerways),

become operational (not until 2027 at the earliest).

Like with the previous consultation category area, strong support was
expressed via the formal consultation responses for the Malmesbury Lawn
and Westholme closure proposals on the basis that the 2 homes would
remain open until being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new build sites at
Oak Park and at Cornerways.

Page 13



55.

For Malmesbury Lawn 92 responses were received with 68% in agreement or
accepting of the proposal (with some concerns) and just 24% of respondents
disagreeing with the proposal. In the case of Westholme, 103 responses were
received, with 65% in agreement or accepting of the proposal (with some
concerns) and just 26% disagreeing with the proposal. For both homes, nearly
80% of the submissions received from current or former staff (or volunteers)
agreed with the replacement proposals.

56. A range of comments were made about the proposals, again mainly positive

and amongst them was a point made about how the new build facilities would
enable residents to be supported throughout their care journey in the same
home once they are admitted. This is something that isn’t currently the case in
many of the homes being proposed for closure. Indeed, at the point of
finalising this report, 6 nursing assessments were completed in the first week
back, in January 2024, for residential residents at Green Meadows who have
regressed in the past months. All 6 will now be supported to transition to
alternative nursing care provision at different homes. This is something that
we will be able to avoid if the proposed investment plans for the 3 new builds
and the 3 refurbishments and expansions are delivered on.

The Main Issues Raised by the Consultation and the Mitigations

57.

58.

59.

60.

As outlined in the previous 2 sections of this report, a range of issues and
concerns were raised from the consultation respondents, most notably from
those responding in relation to the proposed closures of Bishops Waltham
House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead, as well as the Solent Mead Day
Service. The 3 homes currently host/support 77 residents in total, whilst there
are 13 individuals who use the Solent Mead Day Service. Appendix 2
summarises the concerns raised and lists other key considerations that
emerged from the consultation process.

Not surprisingly, the main concern centred around uncertainty for residents
and their families if the closure proposals are approved. This included
concerns about “what is going to happen to me”, ‘what the alternative
care choices will consist of and where’, “will | still be visited” and “how
might this affect me financially”. In addition, other concerns were raised
about the level of support residents and their families would receive and how
the change process would work, and about the loss of relationships with other

residents and with staff and loss of routine.

It is fully accepted that the process of moving to an alternative care home can
be very unsettling and potentially traumatic and it is accepted that 1 of the
current residents at Solent Mead was transferred from Cranleigh Paddock at
the end of 2021 and would thus be subject to a 2" home move within a 3-year
period if the closure proposals are approved.

Prior to and during the consultation, HCC Care staff and Social Workers
started to sensitively engage with residents and their families. Support was
offered to understand individual and family needs and concerns. Full Social
Work support would continue to be offered to each resident should the closure
proposals be approved as recommended. Adults Health and Care (through

Page 14



61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

HCC Care and Care Management staff) have significant experience in
supporting older people to transition to new settings. It is work that is
practiced daily, especially as existing resident needs are constantly changing
and, in many instances, this leads to a different care setting being required.

Where appropriate an individual's family would be involved in the transfer
process to help support the affected resident. Factors such as proximity to
family and other regular visitors, a person’s links with community groups such
as churches or lunch groups would also be considered. If someone expressed
a desire to move to the same home as a friend or other family member,
currently living in the same residential home, this would be explored. The
process would be managed in a sensitive and person-centred way by highly
experienced, professionally astute, and caring staff.

Information regarding alternative provision for the 3 homes referenced in
paragraph 57 and for Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst (the
other 3 homes where it is proposed that standard residential care is ceased)
is shown in Appendix 3. This shows a plentiful supply of CQC rated good or
above alternative provision existing within 10 miles of the homes or services
that are recommended to close. The information in Appendix 3 shows details
of how many of the alternative homes HCC has current long-term placements
with (49 residential homes in the case of Bishops Waltham House) and shows
the number of other homes that HCC has worked with in the recent past.

The information gathered provides strong assurance that not only is there is
vibrant independent sector operating close to the homes in question, but also
that they are rated good or better and are businesses (care homes) that work
with and are happy to support local authority clients. The recent approval of a
new Care Home framework by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social
Care and Public Health is intended to further strengthen the relationship the
Adults’ Health and Care Directorate has with the independent sector.

HCC Care holds a good volume of high-quality information about each of the
77 residents it hosts/supports at Bishops Waltham House at Green Meadows
and at Solent Mead and this has been strengthened through the sessions
held with residents and their families over the past 6 months or so. It
demonstrates the desire to have deep knowledge about each resident and an
unrelenting commitment to keep learning and to ensure that resident and/or
family concerns or issues are constantly understood.

This extends to information regarding the number of self-funders (9 of the
current 77 residents and none at Solent Mead) and from the information
shown in Appendix 3 and from recent external commissioning activity, there is
a confidence that alternative provision can be secured at competitive prices. It
is also the case that for those residents who make a partial contribution to
their weekly care costs, they will be financially unaffected by a move to
alternative provision within the independent sector.

In terms of the concerns about whether residents would still be visited if they
are required to move to an alternative home, and issues of accessibility for
family and friends, information is held by each of the potentially affected
homes in this regard. Of the 77 residents that were being hosted as we

Page 15



67.

68.

69.

entered the Christmas period, 15 of them are never visited and a further 7 are
visited very infrequently — every 2-3 months at best. Of the 55 residents who
are visited regularly, or more frequently, at least 49 are visited by family
and/or friends who drive to Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, or
Solent Mead. From this information, visits, and access to alternative provision,
should be very much in line with what currently occurs.

As already referenced, the HCC Care Older Adults service area is a very
dynamic environment. At the time the Cabinet report was published back in
July 2023, Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead had a
combined occupancy of 95 residents and as stated numerous times in this
report, the occupancy as we headed into Christmas had reduced to 77. Part
of the reduction will be explained by a drop off in admissions since the
Cabinet report was published, but what the table below highlights is that 18 of
the 95 residents who were at the homes in July, are no longer there or have
moved on. This will be for different reasons including a change in needs,
family choice, or regrettably end of life.

Home Total Occupancy Occupancy
Beds July 2023 Dec 2023
Bishops Waltham House 32 27 26
Green Meadows 42 39 29
Solent Mead 35 29 22
Total 109 95 (87%) 77 (70%)

The above table helps to highlight the under-occupancy (87%) that has been
a feature of service performance at the 3 homes over the recent past, and this
was part of the consideration in the development of the portfolio proposals. It
shows occupancy levels reducing to just above 70% over the past 5 months
and it should be noted that 2 of the 26 residents at Bishops Waltham House
have been admitted in this recent period as temporary, short-term admissions,
pending their long-term care needs being established and organised.

Continuing the ‘dynamic nature of care provision’ theme, some 31 of the
existing 77 residents at the 3 homes, are due to be reassessed by the end of
this quarter mainly due to deterioration/increased needs that will likely result in
most needing to move on to more appropriate care settings. This includes the
6 residents at Green Meadows who were referenced in paragraph 56 as
having confirmed nursing needs following reassessments in the first week of
2024. The remaining reassessments will confirm in several cases, necessary
moves to nursing homes and in a smaller number of cases, moves to homes
that are better able to support people with complex dementia needs, The
nature of long-term care provision is that some of the remaining 46 residents
are also likely to regress during 2024 and they too will be reassessed as
appropriate in a timely manner.

Page 16



70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

Accepting that if the decision is taken to close the Solent Mead care home,
that this would mean the cessation of the Solent Mead Day Service, the public
consultation, as highlighted earlier, also specifically sought views for this
service area. Whilst there was strong public opposition to the closure of the
Day Service, the operational facts are that the service currently operates just
3 days of the week, and in total, supports 13 service users.

Positively, alternative Day Service provision exists in New Milton and in
Dibden. Age Concern run Day Services in the two locations and have spare
places at both sites. Additionally, HCC Care operates a Younger Adults Day
Service in New Milton, and this has the flexibility and the space to support a
minimum of 3 Older Adults. HCC Care operates a Day Service in Andover
that supports both Younger and Older Adults and thus has experience of
delivering services that cater for the different needs of adults of all ages.

The above paragraphs respond to the main ‘uncertainty’ concerns that
emerged from consultation responses from residents and their families and
friends/representatives. Further, they help to demonstrate the mitigations and
the dynamic nature of residential and nursing care provision. They also
provide assurance and evidence that for both HCC Care senior management
and Care Management (Social Workers), not only do they possess the
necessary skills, professionalism, caring qualities, and experience to
sensitively plan and execute moves to alternative care home provision, but
their knowledge of the residents that will be most affected by the proposed
closures if they are approved, is thorough.

Aside from the fact that re-assessments and moves are tasks that are carried
out daily in response to the regular changing needs of residents and/or
delivering on family requests for moves, HCC Care staff and Care
Management staff successfully and sensitively transitioned 39 residents from
Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock over a 3-month period, when the 2
homes were closed for operational resilience reasons in November 2021.

More recently, staff from HCC Care presided over the safe temporary moves
of 20 residents from Westholme who needed to be evacuated urgently
following a sprinkler incident that led to the flooding of rooms across 2 floors.
Whilst different in nature and temporary, the moves were expertly handled
and, in some cases, those who were moved, requested to stay permanently in
their new (temporary) accommodation.

Other Issues/Key Considerations Arising from the Consultation

75.

76.

Amongst other concerns that regularly featured, especially from those living
near to the homes covered by the consultation, was the worry about the
loss of well-respected/treasured community assets, a desire for the sites
to continue to provide forms of public service, whether alternative ownership
could carry on providing care services and comments from respondents who
did not want to see the sites sold for private housing or flats.

In response to these points, possible future alternative uses have not yet been
considered. The internal (officer) focus has been on promoting the
consultation, understanding it, and preparing for the HASC scrutiny and then

Page 17



77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health decision
day. To be considering future use of the sites ahead of the proposal decisions
being taken would be seen by some, as pre-empting the decision and has
rightly been avoided.

It is also the case that the business case for the investment programme is
NOT reliant on the selling of the sites proposed for closure. This means ‘the
door would be open’ for meaningful future engagement with all interested
parties, including New Forest District Council in the case of both Cranleigh
Paddock and Solent Mead, should the closure proposals be approved. This
could also include third party interest in some form of continued care home
operation albeit it would not be possible for a new site owner to secure re-
registration with CQC, without extensive modification and investment.

Concerns were voiced from residents/their families, from people living close to
the sites, and from other interested parties regarding the loss of Solent Mead
and the impact this would have on Lymington. Arguments were made for the
yet to be identified new site to be prioritised for the Lymington area. At this
stage, all options remain open in regard the future location of the (3) new
home in the New Forest area and the site search will be included as part of
the planned engagement with New Forest District Council.

In terms of the responses received from ‘others with an interest in the
proposals’ concerns were raised about the ability of HCC Care to attract the
additional professional staff that would be required to support a bigger
operation that is more geared to higher need clients. In the challenging
recruitment and retention environment in respect of Health and Social Care,
the concerns raised are very topical and relevant.

Pleasingly, HCC Care has had its best recruitment and retention year in 2023
despite the well-versed workforce challenges. Permanent staffing levels are at
an all-time high and the gains made in the past year are equivalent to
reducing vacant hours by more than 150 full time equivalent staff. A range of
initiatives, including internally led nurse conversion arrangements have led to
the success that has been achieved. With the first of the investment projects
not set to be completed until the first half of 2027, there is high confidence
(not adversely impacted by the recent changes announced by Government in
respect of the Legal Migration Rules for Family and Work Visa) that staffing
levels will be where they need to be, especially as HCC Care will be seeking
to recruit staff to modern, fit for the future homes.

Another common issue that emerged from the consultation responses was in
the form of respondents challenging the service strategy and in particular
raising concerns that future care homes of 80 or more beds will be too big
and result in people being cared for in institutions and that ‘homely
atmosphere’s’ will be lost.

The response to this point is two-fold. Firstly, and as touched on in paragraph
24 within the ‘context section’, the investment proposals are based on
developing homes for the future that enable residents to benefit from their
own facilities and their own staff groups and very much feel like they are part
of a home within a home. In a typical 80 bed home, the layout would be over

Page 18



83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

two floors with each floor being split into 2 areas of 20 residents each that
would each be supported by a visible nursing station. Lounges, eating areas
and communal spaces would be dedicated to smaller groups of residents as
would assisted bathrooms and shower rooms (separate to individual ensuites
that will be a feature of resident rooms) and will be provided on a 1:10 ratio.

The other factor behind the minimum 80 bed care home proposal, is the
efficiency but also the resilience of the staff operating model. 80 bed homes
will enable economies of scale to be secured in terms of overall staffing costs
and ratios, as well as enabling specialist staffing positions to be more secured
and thus consistently available to the home on a 24/7 basis. In turn, this will
ensure that residents will be cared for in an optimum fashion at all times.

Questions were raised about why some sites are planned to close ahead
of the proposed investment sites being developed. The fact remains that
the 3 homes proposed for closure (Bishops Waltham House, Green
Meadows, and Solent Mead) are not viable to remain operating and would
require significant repair and maintenance expenditure over the coming years
to ensure the homes are safe to operate in. Such expenditure cannot be
justified given that it would run to many millions of pounds and would not
address the attractiveness of the home or increase the bed numbers to
improve viability. It is also the case that the proposed new or substantially
upgraded homes are planned to cater for people with complex care needs
including nursing or complex dementia.

Amongst other comments received through the consultation were questions
about the value for money of the investment proposal, whether the
proposals should be more ambitious given the forecast volumes of older
people who will require help and support into the future, whether the
proposals will result in an over-reliance on the independent sector and
whether the proposals are being driven by the desire to secure financial
savings.

The investment programme is backed by a robust and complex financial
business case that includes several variables and compares the proposed
investment with a withdrawal of the HCC Care service and a future reliance
on the independent sector. The cost of the proposed investment is indeed
eye-watering, but it should be born in mind that without investing in new
facilities and/or refurbishing and modernising existing facilities, the current
900 beds that the service operates from would reduce annually. So, in short,
the proposed investment not only helps to avoid this situation, but it also adds
at least 10% more service capacity than HCC Care currently operates to.

The business case suggests that if the proposed investments are delivered,
then the costs that the Directorate will be exposed to in the future will be less
than they would be if the Council looked to rely solely on independent sector
provision. This is better regarded as future cost avoidance as opposed to
planning to secure financial savings and is especially welcome as the excess
costs being incurred year on year for Children’s and Adults’ Social Care is
having a significant impact on the Council’s finances. The forecast future
revenue cost exposure also covers the costs of the investment borrowing.

Page 19



88. In the current financial and operating climate, the investment proposals are
generally regarded as significant and very ambitious. Should the investment
programme be implemented then 6 major development projects averaging
just short of £30m each would be progressed alongside each other, and over
consecutive years, placing a heavy burden on the construction sector in
Hampshire. To go further, would add any number of unnecessary risks to the
County Council and to the private sector.

89. The investment plans, if implemented, will mean a sustainable future for HCC
Care and the ability to support up to 1,000 people at any point in time, in
largely fit for the future homes across Hampshire. We will continue to rely on
the independent sector for circa 80% of annual residential and nursing
requirements and this appears to be a sensible and logical balance to try to
go forward with. The investment proposals are designed to allow HCC Care to
continue to have strong market presence and to avoid the County Council
from being over reliant on the independent sector over future decades.

Staff Consultation

90. In addition to the formal public consultation process, a separate formal HR
consultation process was also organised to ensure the management team
engaged formally with the staff most affected by the proposals in the Cabinet
report.

91. Several all-staff meetings were arranged to ensure as many staff as possible
were told in person about the proposals in the Cabinet report just before it
was available online, and further staff briefings took place immediately after
the Cabinet decision but prior to the formal HR consultation process beginning
on the 4 September 2023, the same day as the formal public consultation
commenced. Meetings were also held with Trade Unions during this pre
consultation period.

92. Staff (and Trade Unions) were briefed on 4 September 2023, marking the
start of the 10-week formal HR consultation process which covered staff at
Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead (including the
Day Service). Additionally, staff who previously worked at Cranleigh Paddock
and Copper Beeches (the 2 homes that have been temporarily closed since
November 2021) were also covered by the formal HR consultation.

93. As part of the briefing staff were informed that there would be no compulsory
redundancies if the portfolio proposals are approved and then implemented,
but that a voluntary redundancy ‘window’ would open early in the HR
consultation period. Although, in overall terms, the HCC Care service does
have many vacant positions, the location of the homes with vacant posts does
not necessarily make redeployment for those most affected by the proposals,
a practical option. This was a leading factor in the decision to offer voluntary
redundancy. That said, it was made very clear to staff that the service will
strive to retain as many staff as possible and that voluntary redundancy will
only be agreed if there is no realistic prospect that the member of staff could
be redeployed.

Page 20



94.

95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

During the HR consultation period, a series of meetings with individual
members of staff took place with a representative from HCC Care Services’
senior management team and senior HR colleagues to ensure everyone had
an opportunity to talk about the proposals and the potential impact of a
decision to close any or all the homes. The level of engagement was
unprecedented, with meetings being proactively arranged to ensure as many
staff as possible had an opportunity to talk to senior managers about the
proposals and were able to access HR advice, including voluntary
redundancy and pension estimates.

As anticipated (and hoped) most staff indicated a preference to continue
working for HCC, so the meetings provided a valuable opportunity to discuss
the sort of roles, hours of work and location to help the management team
prepare for the future should the overall portfolio proposals ultimately be
approved. They also facilitated discussions about working in different roles,
for example Case Managers in the local community social work teams, and
thus gathered intelligence that would not have been possible without face-to-
face discussions.

A total of 153 staff (97%) had at least one meeting, and in many cases, more
than one, to discuss personal circumstances in detail. If staff were
unavailable, because they were on long term sick leave or maternity leave,
phone calls were arranged to ensure they were not disadvantaged because of
their absence. A few staff did not want to meet, in the main because they are
only contracted to work for a small number of hours and not wanting to
discuss redeployment. In other cases, some staff were due to move to other
roles or indeed to retire.

Regular meetings were arranged with the Trade Unions, on average once
every two to three weeks, throughout the consultation period. Overall, the
Trade Unions reported a surprisingly low number of enquiries from their
members. They have reported that the level of engagement with staff, the
principle of voluntary redundancies only and the offer of a second voluntary
redundancy window, if the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and
Public Health approves the closure proposals, have reduced some of the
anxiety and stress for staff.

The voluntary redundancy window referenced above, was opened on 25
September 2023 and was due to close on 5 November 2023, but it was
extended for another week until 12 November 2023, because there had been
some delays with some of the requested pension estimates. Additionally, it
was confirmed there would be a second opportunity to apply for voluntary
redundancy (10 February 2024 to 18 February 2024) if the Executive Lead
Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health approved the closure
proposals at today’s decision day. This is intended to help those staff who
either wanted more time to consider their position or did not feel able to
commit until a formal decision is made.

To date 50 applications for voluntary redundancy have been received. This
equates to 32% of the total staff potentially impacted by the home closure
proposals. It is likely this number will increase if the second voluntary
redundancy window is opened should the Executive Lead Member for Adult

Page 21



Social Care and Public Health approve the closure proposals. In summary,
currently 108 staff are wanting to continue working for HCC Care and are thus
seeking redeployment. This equates to 68% of the overall impacted
workforce.

Consultation and Equalities

100. Itis for the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health
as decision maker to have due regard to the need to: Eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct prohibited under the
Equality Act and advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it.

101. Equalities Impact Assessments have been carried out to determine the
impacts of these recommendations on both residents of the homes, users of
the day service at Solent Mead and staff that would be affected should they
be approved. The full EIA for both residents and service users and for staff
can be found at the end of this report, with the key potential impacts detailed
below.

Equalities Impact Assessment (residents and service users)

102. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on the proposals
contained in this report, in relation to their potential impact on both the
residents of the homes involved and the users of the day service. In
completing it, a range of concerns expressed during the public consultation
have been considered, in particular relating to age and disability.

103. Approximately 350 individuals live in the 8 homes that would be impacted
by these proposals (remembering that 2 other homes that are set to be
affected, are temporarily closed, and thus have no current residents), of these
75% are over 80 years old. In addition, 13 service users have been identified
in respect of the Solent Mead Day Service that is also proposed to be closed
as part of the overall proposals. Of these 13 service users 54% (7) are over
80 years old.

104. It has been identified that there will be a medium negative impact on
current residents and current day service users, in relation to the protected
characteristic of age, within homes or services that are proposed to either
close or be remodelled to the extent that relocation of current residents would
be necessary.

105. Some impacts on the grounds of age were reflected as a concern in the
consultation responses. The consultation analysis highlighted concerns that it
could be unsettling or traumatic for older residents to move from their current
homes.

106. To mitigate impacts, should the decision be made to close the homes, HCC
Care and Care Management (Social Workers) have the necessary skills and
expertise to handle the closure process sensitively and work with residents,
service-users, and their families to find suitable alternatives for each of the

Page 22



current residents and service-users. For current users of Solent Mead Day
Service, they would be supported to find alternative Day Service
opportunities.

107. Itis also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in
specialist care for older people in Hampshire, particularly those requiring
complex dementia and nursing care which would be a positive impact for
future cohorts of residents.

108. Approximately 96% of the current HCC Care residents have a disability and
in terms of day service users the disability level is 54%. Most residents have
multiple chronic conditions, including mobility issues, dementia, and sensory
loss. It has therefore been identified that there would be a medium negative
impact on current residents, in relation to the protected characteristic of
disability, within homes that are proposed to either close or be remodelled to
the extent that relocation of current residents would be necessary.

109. Concerns were raised during the public consultation about the impacts on
people with dementia, particularly in relation to the proposed new homes and
the proposed extensions to existing homes. To mitigate this, the homes would
be designed to feel homely and domestic in nature, whilst at the same time
meeting appropriate guidance and regulations for complex dementia care and
nursing care. In terms of communal facilities, groups of 10 residents would
have shared access to lounge and dining facilities. In addition to the ensuite
bathrooms, assisted bathrooms and shower rooms would be provided within
the homes on a 1:10 resident ratio.

110. Itis also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in
specialist dementia provision which would be a positive impact for the future
cohorts of residents— and particularly those with complex dementia. The
proposal would place Hampshire in a strong position to meet the needs of
residents with complex dementia which is expected to become the fastest
growing service area in the next 5-10 years.

Equalities Impact Assessment (Staff)

111. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on the proposals
contained in this report, in relation to their potential impact on the staff working
in the homes involved. The assessment found that there were neutral impacts
on all protected characteristics, except for race where the staff impact was
assessed as negative / medium.

112.  Our data confirms that 10% of staff who work for Hampshire County
Council identify as being from ethnic minority communities, 86% white and 3%
prefer not to say. Within HCC Care, 43% of the HCC Care (Older Persons)
workforce identify themselves as BME, 54% White and 2% prefer not to say.
Any staff reductions would be achieved voluntarily and given the profile of the
BME workforce any decisions to support voluntary redundancy would be
assessed in the context of this profile to ensure there would be no unintended
negative or disproportionate impact on staff from ethnic minority communities.

Page 23



Climate Change Impact Assessment

113. A Climate Change Impact Assessment is not applicable to this decision
report as it relates to the HCC Care service changes to the Older Adults
residential and nursing homes portfolio following a formal public consultation
and is therefore strategic in nature. The individual investment project
proposals recommended within this report will be subject to individual project
appraisals which will cover climate change impact assessment requirements.

114. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the
carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These
tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects,
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change
targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2°C
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.

Conclusions

115. This report details the outcomes from the 10-week formal public
consultation that considered different HCC Care home closure and service
cessation proposals that are an integral part of a proposed £173m investment
programme (4t quarter 2022 cost base) in the HCC Care Older Adults service
portfolio that was considered by Cabinet in July 2023.

116. The investment programme resulted from a review of the existing Older
Adults service portfolio which highlighted several of the current homes,
especially those providing standard residential services, are operating from
buildings and layouts that are increasingly not fit for purpose and are
challenging for staff to work in. It also was influenced by the development of a
future service strategy that, in the context of material growth forecasts for
older people generally and for increases in complex dementia levels, is aimed
at HCC Care being better able to meet the needs of older persons with
complex care needs, including complex dementia.

117. The background to the investment programme and what is proposed to
result from it has been explained in the report. In summary, the HCC Care
Older Adults service would have a more sustainable future if the programme
were implemented. It would be able to operate with approximately 1000 beds
(100 more than now) and importantly from fit for the future homes. By
maintaining a strong market presence, the County Council would be less
susceptible to prices in the independent sector, especially complex care
prices with the investment programme business case demonstrating that HCC
Care is able to deliver complex care services at rates cheaper than the
County Council can buy care for in the independent sector.

118.  Cabinet approved the investment programme in principle in July 2023, but
subject to a formal public consultation, public scrutiny of the consultation
outcomes by HASC and a subsequent set of decisions by the Executive Lead
Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health. Should the consultation

Page 24



proposals be approved, and the proposed investment programme be
implemented, the HCC Care service would be better positioned to meet
increased service demand both in terms of the expected continued increase in
the elderly population (over 65’s set to increase by more than 50,000 in the
next 6 years) and in terms of being able to support more people with complex
dementia — a condition that is forecast to see a 45% increase for the elderly
population by 2040.

119.  As outlined, the investment programme combines 3 new builds, and major
refurbishments and expansions to 3 existing homes (Emsworth House,
Oakridge House and Ticehurst) that would also include the cessation of
standard residential services at the sites. The investment programme also
includes 7 proposed closures of residential homes. 2 of the homes proposed
for closure (Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock) are currently
temporarily closed and 2 of the homes (Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme)
would continue to operate until being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new
builds in the first half of 2027. It was agreed that the public consultation would
thus be focused on the 10 homes affected by the investment programme
proposals, divided purposely into 4 consultation categories. It also included
consultation on the Day Service at Solent Mead given that the home is
included in the closure proposals.

120.  The 10-week public consultation was relentlessly advertised and
promoted prior to its commencement and throughout it being live. This
resulted in 724 separate responses being received from residents/their
families/friends, from staff, from people living near the sites and from other
interested parties including organisations and democratically elected
representatives. For 3 of the 4 consultation categories (covering 7 proposed
home or service closures) there was greater support than there was
disagreement for the proposals.

121.  For the remaining consultation category, there was strong public
disagreement for the proposed closures of residential services at Bishops
Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead. The consultation
disagreement by the public was further supported by petitions against the
proposed closures. Existing and/or former staff or volunteers who responded
to the consultation, were supportive of the proposals.

122.  The main issues that emerged from the consultation responses and the
mitigations have been outlined in detail in this report. Uncertainty for those
affected was not surprisingly the biggest issue that came through the
consultation and through the informal discussions held with residents and
their families by HCC Care staff and by Care Management staff prior to,
during and since the consultation period. The concerns included the
availability and the proximity of suitable alternative provision, of the levels of
support that would be available to residents and their families, the likely
financial consequences for those that contribute to, or fully fund the care that
they receive, and the potential for reduced visiting by families and friends who
might struggle to access alternative homes.

123.  These points and many more have been addressed in the report. Strong
levels of good quality and price competitive alternative provision exists within

Page 25



10 miles of the homes proposed for closure and the report confirmed that in
almost all cases, family and friends visit their loved ones by car. It is accepted
that the prospect of having to move to an alternative care home, for some
residents and for their families will be unsettling and concerning. The report
outlined the vast experience that HCC Care staff and Care Management staff
have in dealing sensitively and professionally with resident changing needs
and confirmed just how dynamic the residential and nursing care arena is,
with reassessments and onward moves being very much part of the daily
workload. The report also highlighted the extent of understanding that staff
have of existing residents, their needs, and of issues and concerns of family
and friends.

124. Itis very much the case that residents who are supported in HCC Care
residential settings do regress over time and in many cases, re-assessments
confirm that nursing care or complex dementia services are required to enable
the increasing needs of residents to be appropriately catered for. An example
was quoted about 6 such assessments that were completed in the first week
of 2024, on residents who are currently supported at Green Meadows. In each
case, alternative onward nursing care arrangements will be pursued in a
sensitive and person-centred manner so that the best outcomes for each
resident can be secured.

125. The report highlighted how, beyond every day changing needs, that
HCC Care staff and Care Management staff have the experience and
knowledge from recent events of successfully managing and completing
moves for residents to alternative care settings, again carefully controlled and
sensitive to the needs and concerns of each individual resident and to their
families. The experiences of the Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock
temporary closures at the end of 2021 involving 39 residents being moved to
alternative care home settings, and the more recent transfer of 20 residents
from Westholme following the flooding of rooms in the summer of 2023 were
referenced.

126. In addition to the potential impacts for residents and their families, it is
also acknowledged that there would also be impacts for HCC Care staff who
work at the different homes if the closure proposals are approved. The report
outlined the extensive engagement that took place with staff as part of a
formal HR led, staff consultation process. This process, which confirmed that
there would be no compulsory redundancies resulting from the proposed
programme, ran alongside but separate to, the formal public consultation
process and positively, engagement was secured with 97% of the 150+ staff
that are most impacted by the change proposals.

127.  Nearly 70% of the staff expressed a preference to remain employed with
HCC Care if the closure proposals are approved, with 50 applications being
received for voluntary redundancy consideration, recognising that
redeployment is not always suitable for every individual member of staff. The
voluntary redundancy process is consistent with major change programmes
that may impact on staff groups. Staff who did apply are aware that their
applications will not be decided upon until after the Executive Lead Member
for Adult Social Care and Public Health 8 February decision day.

Page 26



128.  Having robustly reviewed the formal public consultation responses,
considered the mitigations to the main issues raised and taken all that has
been analysed and evidenced into account, the report recommends that the
Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health should
support each of the proposals that were publicly consulted on, including the
cessation of residential services at the homes (Bishops Waltham House,
Green Meadows, and Solent Mead) for which there was public disagreement
to the proposals consulted on.

129.  The recommendations also support the cessation of the Day Service at
Solent Mead which clearly cannot continue if it is agreed that the Solent Mead
residential home should close. In respect of the 13 current users of the Solent
Mead Day Service, the report did evidence alternative provision in New Milton
and Dibden led by HCC Care and/or Age Concern for which available
capacity has been confirmed.

Page 27



APPENDIX 1
Copper Beeches Residential Care Home

Copper Beeches is a 36-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Andover. It
was built in 1975. It was temporarily closed in November 2021 for operational
reasons.

The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being
modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people
requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for
HCC Care.

The typical bedroom size at Copper Beeches does not meet current bed and
Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with
standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum
space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a
minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed
to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to
assist the resident. The typical room size at Copper Beeches is 10m2.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Copper Beeches, but this
isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to
provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 36 to 21.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

Should the decision be taken to permanently close Copper Beeches, as of
December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Copper Beeches there are 6
residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) and that HCC commissions care with. In addition, there are
12 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes, that HCC
commissions care with, rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile
radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the
local area to meet the needs of older people, both currently and in the future.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Copper Beeches and considering the
above, it is recommended that the residential care home is permanently
closed with immediate effect.

Page 28



Cranleigh Paddock Residential Care Home

Cranleigh Paddock is a 32-bed residential care home for Older Adults in
Lyndhurst. It was built in 1980. It was temporarily closed in November 2021 for
operational reasons.

The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being
modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people
requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for
HCC Care.

The typical bedroom size at Cranleigh Paddock does not meet current bed and
Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with
standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum
space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a
minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed
to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to
assist the resident. The typical room size at Cranleigh Paddock is 10m2.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Cranleigh Paddock, but
this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to
provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 32 to 18.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Cranleigh Paddock there are 55
residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) and that HCC commissions care with. In addition, there are
42 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes, that HCC
commissions care with, rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile
radius.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Cranleigh Paddock and considering the
above, it is recommended that the residential care home is permanently
closed with immediate effect.

Page 29



Bishop’s Waltham House Residential Care Home

Bishop’s Waltham House is a 32-bed residential care home for Older Adults in
Bishop’s Waltham. It was built in 1980. The footprint and layout of the building do
not lend themselves to being modernised to meet the environmental standards
required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex
dementia care.

The typical bedroom size at Bishop’s Waltham House does not meet current bed
and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with
standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum
space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a
minimum room size of 14m? is required. A room of this size also enables the bed
to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to
assist the resident. The typical room size at Bishop’s Waltham House is 9m?Z.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Bishop’s Waltham House,
but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to
provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 32 to 24.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Bishop’s Waltham House there
are 61 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 12 nursing homes or dual nursing and
residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile
radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the
local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the
future.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and
considered the mitigations in respect of Bishops Waltham House and
considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is
approved for closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months
of the closure decision if made.

Page 30



Green Meadows Residential Care Home

Green Meadows is a 42-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Denmead.
It was built in 1969. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to
being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people
requiring nursing care and complex dementia care.

The typical bedroom size at Green Meadows does not meet current bed and
Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with
standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum
space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a
minimum room size of 14m? is required. A room of this size also enables the bed
to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to
assist the resident. The typical room size at Green Meadows is 10mZ.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Green Meadows, but this
isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to
provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 42 to 20.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Green Meadows there are 65
residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 9 nursing homes or dual nursing and
residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile
radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the
local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the
future.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and
considered the mitigations, in respect of Green Meadows and considering
the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is approved for
closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months of the closure
decision if made.

Page 31



Solent Mead Residential Care Home

Solent Mead is a 35-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Lymington. It
was built in 1968. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves
to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of
people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the
strategy for HCC Care.

The typical bedroom size at Solent Mead does not meet current bed and Buildings
Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the
time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards
for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size
of 14m? is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated
with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The
typical room size at Solent Mead is 10m?.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Solent Mead but this isn’t
being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide
bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 35 to 19.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Solent Mead there are 32
residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 21 nursing homes or dual nursing and
residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile
radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the
local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the
future.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and
considered the mitigations, in respect of Solent Mead and considering the
above, it is recommended that the residential care home is approved for
closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months of the closure
decision if made.

Page 32



Solent Mead Day Service

Solent Mead Day Service offers day services to (Older Adults) people aged 65
and over. The Day Service is operated from the same building as Solent Mead
residential care home. Were the decision be made to close the residential care
home at Solent Mead, then it would not be possible or viable to maintain the day
service in its current location.

Hampshire County Council currently commissions places at 2 Day Services for
Older Adults in the New Forest; these are Gore Grange in New Milton and The
Horrill Centre in Dibden (Hythe). In both cases, the Day Services referenced are
run by Age Concern Hampshire.

In addition, HCC Care operates a Day Service in New Milton primarily for Younger
Adults but does have up to 3 places currently available and able to be accessed
by Older Adults. HCC Care combines Day Services provision for Younger and
Older Adults in Andover and thus has experience of serving the differing needs of
people of all ages.

Should the decision be taken to close the Solent Mead Residential service and
thus the Day Service, then people who currently use the service (13 presently)
would be sensitively supported to find alternative Day Service opportunities.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and
considered the mitigations in respect of the Solent Mead Day Service and
considering the above and the recommended closure of the Solent Mead
residential care home, it is recommended that the Solent Mead Day Service
is approved for closure and should be closed by, or at the same time as the
residential care home is closed.

Page 33



Emsworth House Residential and Nursing Care Home

Emsworth House, in Emsworth, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 24
residential beds and 48 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1963 but
modernised and extended in 2005 to allow it to provide nursing care.

Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in
Emsworth House offering 100 beds for complex dementia and/or nursing care.
The proposals include the cessation and removal of the standard residential
service prior to the planned development of the site.

The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to
continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work
would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely
and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks
would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or
enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their
construction as easy as possible.

Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Emsworth House, then it is
expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned
that the residential service at Emsworth House will continue to operate until the
end of 2025.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Emsworth House and considering the
above, it is recommended that the existing residential service is closed
(timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately
replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people
requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time
modernising the existing nursing capacity.

Page 34



Oakridge House Residential and Nursing Care Home

Oakridge House, in Basingstoke, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 34
residential beds and 57 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1969 but
modernised and extended to allow it to provide nursing care in 2010 and then
again in 2014.

Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in
Oakridge House offering 88 new and/or modernised beds for complex dementia
and/or nursing care. The proposals include the cessation and removal of the
standard residential service prior to the planned development of the site.

The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to
continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work
would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely
and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks
would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or
enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their
construction as easy as possible.

Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Oakridge House, then it is
expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned
that the residential service at Oakridge House will continue to operate until the
end of 2025.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Oakridge House and considering the
above, it is recommended that the existing residential service is closed
(timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately
replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people
requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time
modernising the existing nursing capacity.

Page 35



Ticehurst Residential and Nursing Care Home

Ticehurst, in Aldershot, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 36 residential
beds and 48 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1973 but modernised and
extended to allow it to provide nursing care in 2005.

Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in
Ticehurst offering 100 beds for complex dementia and/or nursing care. The
proposals include the cessation and removal of the standard residential service
prior to the planned development of the site.

The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to
continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work
would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely
and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks
would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or
enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their
construction as easy as possible.

Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Ticehurst, then it is
expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned
that the residential service at Ticehurst will continue to operate until the end of
2025.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Ticehurst and considering the above, it
is recommended that the existing residential service is closed (timing to be
confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately replaced and
extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring
complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time
modernising the existing nursing capacity.

Page 36



Malmesbury Lawn Residential Care Home

Malmesbury Lawn is a 33-bed residential care home for Older Adults. It was built
in 1973.

The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to being modernised to
meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care
and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for HCC Care.

The County Council is proposing to develop a new 100 bed care home at Oak
Park near Havant. This would provide a flexible mix of nursing and complex
residential dementia care. This proposed development is approximately 2 miles
from Malmesbury Lawn, a residential care home run by Hampshire County
Council in Leigh Park Havant. The proposed Oak Park development is anticipated
to be completed no earlier than the beginning of 2027.

The typical bedroom size at Malmesbury Lawn is 16m? which meets current
Building Regulations. The bedroom sizes are partly the result of some bedrooms
being knocked through to form 1 bedroom out of 2 rooms. Whilst this has resulted
in overall larger floor area, the existing bedroom widths remain restricted.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Malmesbury Lawn, but this
isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to
provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was
financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities,
would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the
home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of bedrooms from 33 to 24.

The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80
bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future
investment.

Should the decision be made to close Malmesbury Lawn on the completion of the
new care home at Oak Park (planned for early 2027), then the residents of
Malmesbury Lawn would be supported to move to the new home that will be
designed to meet the needs of clients with complex dementia.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses that support
the proposals in respect of Malmesbury Lawn and considering the above, it
is recommended that the residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant)
should be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set
out in this report.

Page 37



Westholme Residential and Nursing Care Home

Westholme is a care home for Older Adults, offering 34 residential beds and 40
nursing beds. It was originally built in 1965 but extended in 2005 to allow it to
provide nursing care. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to
being modernised and expanded in the same way that is proposed on the sites at
Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst.

The County Council is proposing to develop a new, minimum 80 bed care home at
Cornerways (Kingsworthy) near Winchester. This would provide a flexible mix of
nursing and complex residential dementia care.

This proposed development is located approximately 2.5 miles from Westholme, a
residential and nursing care home run by Hampshire County Council in
Winchester. It is estimated that the new development at Cornerways would be
completed no earlier than the beginning of 2027.

The typical bedroom size within the residential care building at Westholme, does
not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although
they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building
Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to
comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m? is required. A room of
this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a
carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size within
this part of the home is 10m?2.

Consideration was given to remodelling and extending the original residential care
wing of the building, but this isn’t proposed as the work required to adapt the
existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with
ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to
provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could
be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.

A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would
reduce the number of residential care bedrooms from 34 to 16, resulting in the
overall number of bedrooms at Westholme being reduced to 56.

Should the decision be made to close Westholme on the completion of the new
care home at Cornerways (planned for early 2027), then the residents of
Westholme would be supported to move to the new scheme given that the
proposed new home will cater for both complex dementia and nursing needs.

Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which
support the proposals in respect of Westholme and considering the above,
it is recommended that the residential and nursing care home in Winchester
should be closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways
(Kingsworthy near Winchester) opens as set out in this report.

Page 38



6E abed

APPENDIX 2

Range of comments received

Across the public consultation responses, engagement sessions and other
correspondence received, a range of views, questions, impacts and concerns were
expressed.

On the public consultation response form specifically:

. 90% of respondents chose to include comments on the response form
For each proposal, respondents were invited to provide comments on their
reasons for their response and to identify impacts - they were also invited to
provide any additional comments or suggested alternative approaches.

. There were 778 comments where respondents explained their response to
proposals and highlighted impacts — Most were specific to individual proposals
but 6% were general comments (where people chose to comment once to
cover several proposals they had responded on.

+ There were 342 further comments in the question on “other comments and
suggested alternative approaches”.

Of all the written comments received, most of them related to the proposals on home
closures (Bishops Waltham House 67%, Solent Mead Home 59%, Day Service 59%
and Green Meadows 45%).

Set out on the right-hand side is the spectrum of themes which arose from the
comments overall.

Comments supportive of the proposals:

= Opportunities for better facilities and better care for the future

= Provides improved accommodation in modern buildings

* Aclear strategy to position HCC care more strongly within the market

» Aclear aim to better meet the increasing complex needs of older persons

= Existing HCC care services are highly regarded and valued

= An improved environment that will better attract and provide opportunities for staff

Concerns and impacts:
« Uncertainty
* What is going to happen to me, when, what are my care choices?
» Where will my home be? What will it be like? What will change?
* How will the process be managed and what support will | receive?
* How might this affect me financially?
= Loss of treasured home, routine, lifestyle and relationships with residents/ staff
* Less regular contact with visitors, losing contact with my community
= Access for visitors especially in rural areas and for low incomes/ non car users
» Process of change can be unsettling/ traumatic
» Loss of local employment
» Development and land use resulting from sales



oY abed

Key considerations emerging from the Response Form comments

A range of issues for consideration for HCC Care were drawn from the comments and suggestions received:

« Can new provision be available prior to homes being closed?

= Why can't some existing sites based in communities be redeveloped to achieve the same goal?

« Have we explored all options to refurbish existing facilities?

+ If they cannot be refurbished or the land used for new facilities, can they be retained for other health and social care purposes?
« Are 80+ bed homes too big? Can quality of care and the creation of a “homely” atmosphere be achieved to match what many existing HCC already have?
« Can we overcome recruitment challenges to run large homes?

« Are we including provision for day services in new facilities, and could we do more to promote this service?

« Transitions between homes needs to be managed in a way that ensures a full understanding of residents’ needs are transferred.
* Is this value for money for an extra 100 beds?

« Is there a risk of becoming overdependent on the private care market?

* Should we be more ambitious on the numbers we will aim to support directly given future demographics?

* |s this being done for financial savings or, conversely, is it too expensive?



T obed

APPENDIX 3

Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Bishops Waltham House
Nursing & Dual . rels .
Bishops Waltham House - All care homes within 10 miles that are CQC
| 4 5

Less £850

£850-£950

£950-£1050

£1050-£1 150

£1150-£1250

£1250-£1350

£1350-£1450

£1450-£1550

£1550 more

Unknown

Grand Total

3

12

good or above

16

14
8 ? 14
12
14 15 .
6 9
10 9
8
9 9 .
6 W Nursing & Residential
4 5 6 P
o Residential
4 4
2 4 4 .
22

I 2 2 —1 1 1 I 1 II 11 11 1
: ) mll ml = O T

& s & > o 5 & §P & S
12 13 q‘{.- U‘V " ‘&} oY o . Py Q(Q‘ \*S‘O

& & o & & & & & & N
¥ & o N b w7 W &
L S % % %

.1 73

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 196.




2y abed

Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Green Meadows

Banding registered Residential Grand Total
| 4 5

Less £850

£850-£950

£950-£1050

£1050-£1150

£1150-£1250

£1250-£1350

£1450-£1550

£1550 more

Unknown

Grand Total

16

14

13
| 7 8
12
I 13 14 y
10 5
3 9 12
8 7
| 10 I
6
4 4 4 4
4 3
I 2 3 ,
2 i 1 1 1 1
| | 2
, N [ | [ | [ [
I5 15 less£850  £850-£950 £950-£1050 £1050-£1150 £1150-£1250 £1250-£1350 £1450-£1550
9 65 74

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 190.

1 1

£1550 more

Green Meadows - All care homes within 10 miles that are CQC good or above

15

W Nur

m Res

Unknown



oy obed

Less £850

£850-£950

£950-£1050

£1050-£1150

£1150-£1250

£1250-£1350

£1350-£1450

£1450-£1550

£1550 more

Unknown

Grand Total

21

Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Solent Mead

8 9

8
7

5 6

6
7 14 5 5

5
3 3 4 4
2 6 ?
I 6 ’

| 0
o ] O
@‘9 Q@ %Q‘P 0{9 Q‘J@ g\f”‘j

2 3 & &

&

W

b

o

o ; § ; o o
& Q?’@ ,;\'1'9 9{9 » Q‘”CJ
32 53

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 179.

2
1I
o
&

Solent Mead - All care homes within 10 miles that are CQC good or above

M Nursing & Residential

M Residential



Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Emsworth House

Nursing & Dual . . .
Residential | Grand Total Emsworth - All care within a 10 mile radius
4 2 6

Less £850 21
£850-£950 1 2 3 20
o  £950-£1050 1 6 7 15
@  £1050-£1150 6 6 12 10 B !
o] o b c o]
) £1150-£1250 1 7 8 N ) > 3 , 3
£1250-£1350 5 0 5 Lo I II ' I I ' I
SR . X . . I = . - I . = K.
£1450-£1550 1 2 3 & & S S S
£1550 more 3 1 4 < % % &
Unknown 6 21 27 W Nursing & Dual Registered M Residentia
Grand Total 31 48 79

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 100.




Gy abed

Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Oakridge House

Bandings Registered Residential | Grand Total
6 9 15

Less £850
£850-£950
£950-£1050
£1050-£1150
£1150-£1250
£1250-£1350
£1350-£1450
£1450-£1550
£1550 more
Unknown
Grand Total

= O O O = N O O

=
~

10 9

9
2 9 8 7

7 6
2 2 6

5
2 2 ;

3 2 2 2 2
1 B 2 11

1 I 0 I 0 I I 0
0 ! o LI
D 2 < <> o < < <0

<& 52 N N> v P
0 0 © I8 % & % %
el N &> & > 3

e < o S Y NV N
1 1 hS e < Q <
0 1 W Nursing & Dual Registered
17 34

Oakridge - All care within a 10 mile radius

1
00 00 O
u
S 8] @
NP Y
AR ARSI
(,)() 6)(') \DQ
N> o

W Residential

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 132.




Homes within HCC Care - Bandings

Ticehurst

- Nursing & Dual -- Ticehurst - All care within a 10 mile radius
Bandings Registered Residential | Grand Total

Less £850 " —
£850-£950
£950-£1050
£1050-£1150
£1150-£1250
£1250-£1350
£1350-£1450
£1450-£1550
£1550 more
Unknown
Grand Total 58

o abed

II l- I lI l_ e IO oo o7
In L

o o o o e
& 2 & RS & 5 e & & &
S o > ~ N N ~
o Q,'iv Q"v Q‘v Q%/ Q‘v Qﬁv o
& K3 & &5 <5 5 K% & SF
7 < .;;» .;;» c;» > %

o O W B W Wk o
= O O N =B B B N
B O W W b 4 U

&?
&

w
o
M
(o2}
w1
0o

B Nursing & Dual Registered  ® Residentia

B
(o]

107

No. of homes within a 10-mile radius where the CQC is Good or above —
Vacancies snapshot as at 02/01/2024 is 200.




REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic | Yes
growth and prosperity:

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent | Yes
lives:

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse No
environment:
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, Yes

inclusive communities:

Other Significant Links

Links to previous Member decisions:

Title Date

HCC Care Service and Capital Strategy 18 July 2023
2023-07-18 HCC Care Service and Capital Strategy Cabinet

report

HCC Care Service Consultation — Report of the HASC Member | 16 January 2024
Working Group

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives

Title Date

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in
the Act.)

Document Location
Responses to consultation E11 Court Winchester

Page 47



https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s109863/HCC%20CARE%20SERVICE%20AND%20CAPITAL%20STRATEGY.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s109863/HCC%20CARE%20SERVICE%20AND%20CAPITAL%20STRATEGY.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s115905/HCC%20Care%20Older%20Adults%20Portfolio%20Proposed%20Service%20Changes%20HASC%20Working%20Group%20report.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s115905/HCC%20Care%20Older%20Adults%20Portfolio%20Proposed%20Service%20Changes%20HASC%20Working%20Group%20report.pdf

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:

1. Equality Duty

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity,
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who
do not share it.

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that
characteristic;

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share
it;

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such
persons is disproportionally low.

2. Equalities Impact Assessment:

Equalities Impact Assessments have been carried out to determine the impacts of
these recommendations on both residents of the homes, users of the day service
at Solent Mead and staff that would be affected should they be approved.

Residents / Service Users Equalities Impact Assessment
Service Affected: HCC Care — Older Persons

Service Description

HCC Care currently operates 15 older persons care homes with 900 beds,
consisting of long-term and short-term provision. This includes 4 residential
homes, 4 nursing homes (3 of which are exclusively or predominantly being used
to support the short-term needs of patients being discharged from hospitals) and 7
joint residential and nursing homes for older people. Additionally, 2 further
residential homes (Cranleigh Paddock in Lyndhurst and Copper Beeches in
Andover) have been temporarily closed since November 2021. As well as

Page 48



providing residential and nursing care for older people, HCC Care also provides
day services, respite services, including a crisis service, and a small number of
residential places for adults under 65 years old with learning disabilities.

Annually, the County Council’s Adults’ Health and Care directorate helps to place
between 1,600 and 1,700 older people into a range of care homes across
Hampshire with the vast majority (80%) accessing independent sector homes. In
terms of capacity within the care home market, the overall vacancy rate across
the whole market in Summer 2023 was approximately 11%.

Service Change

The proposed changes follow the County Council’s review of its Care Strategy to
establish how its own residential care and nursing homes could be made fit to
meet current and future demand whilst ensuring the financial sustainability of the
service.

a) that Copper Beeches residential care home in Andover should be
permanently closed with immediate effect.

b) that Cranleigh Paddock residential care home in Lyndhurst should be
permanently closed with immediate effect.

c) that Bishop’s Waltham House residential care home in Bishop’s Waltham
should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

d) that Green Meadows residential care home in Denmead should be closed
within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

e) that Solent Mead residential care home in Lymington should be closed within
6-12 months of the closure decision if made.

f)  subject to recommendation 13e (above) being approved, that the Solent
Mead Day Centre, attached to the Solent Mead residential care home, in
Lymington should be closed by, or at the same time as the residential care
home is closed.

g) that at Emsworth House residential and nursing care home in Emsworth the
older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed
but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with
modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

h) that at Oakridge House residential and nursing care home in Basingstoke the
older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed
but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with
modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

i) that at Ticehurst residential and nursing care home in Aldershot the older
more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but
likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with

Page 49



modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia
care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing
nursing capacity.

j)  that Malmesbury Lawn residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant) should
be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set out in
this report.

k) that Westholme residential and nursing care home in Winchester should be
closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy near
Winchester) opens, as set out in this report.

) thatin relation to the recommended closures of the residential services at
Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, Solent Mead, Emsworth House,
Oakridge House and Ticehurst, that no further residential admissions to these
homes are to be agreed if the closure decisions are made.

Additional Information

As noted, the purpose of this EIA is to support the Executive Member decision
making process. This EIA is linked to a previous EIA 445-HCC Care Service and
Capital Strategy which supported the Cabinet decision making to proceed with the
consultation. The information contained in this EIA has been reviewed to reflect
additional information from the consultation.

Within this EIA, the assessment of impact and risk has been primarily focused on
the short to medium term impacts on current residents. A longer-term
assessment, focused on future residents, would highlight primarily positive
impacts, particularly in terms of age and disability.

Overview Statement
Engagement/Consultation

A full public consultation was undertaken between 4 September 2023 and 11.59
pm 12 November 2023. Responses received were analysed and considered.
Information about the consultation proposals, an information pack with copies in
easy read and the response form were published on a dedicated consultation
page on Hampshire County Council's website. Copies in other languages and
formats were made available on request.

The consultation was widely promoted via a range of online and offline channels.
Letters were sent to care home residents, their relatives and representatives,
along with stakeholders such as partner organisations in the NHS and local
councils.

Several engagement events were also undertaken with those directly impacted,
service users, their families, HCC Care staff and other staff as appropriate.

Page 50



Impact Assessment:

Age
Public Impact
Negative - Medium

Decision Rationale

Approximately 375 individuals live in the 8 homes (remembering that 2 other
homes that are set to be affected, are temporarily closed, and thus have no
current residents), that would be impacted by these proposals, of these 75% are
over 80 years old. In addition, 13 service users have been identified in respect of
the Solent Mead Day Service that is also proposed to be closed as part of the
overall proposals. Of these 13 service users 54% (7) are over 80 years old.

It is recognised that spouses and partners may also be older adults who could
struggle to travel to an alternative care facility to visit if it was further in distance.

Some impacts on the grounds of age were reflected as a concern in the
consultation responses. The consultation analysis highlighted concerns that it
could be unsettling or traumatic for older residents to leave their current homes
and communities and that this could lead to deterioration of their health and
wellbeing.

It has therefore been identified that there will be a medium negative impact on
current residents within homes that are proposed to either close or be remodelled
to the extent that relocation of current residents would be necessary.

While there are negative impacts identified for existing residents on the grounds of
age due to the requirement for relocation or having to remain on site while works
are ongoing which may negatively impact their experience within the home, it is
also recognised that there would be strong positive impacts for the future cohort of
residents on which the proposals are based. Future residents would have access
to improved, modern facilities which would better meet their needs.

Mitigation/Actions

It is recommended that two homes would close immediately — Copper Beeches
(Andover) and Cranleigh Paddock (Lyndhurst) and that three homes would close
within 6-12 months - Solent Mead (Lymington) which includes Solent Mead Day
Service, Bishops Waltham House (Bishops Waltham), Green Meadows,
(Denmead). It is also proposed that Westholme (Winchester) and Malmesbury
Lawn (Havant) would close following completion of the replacement sites and no
earlier than the beginning of 2027. Residents would be relocated to the new
homes, should this be their preference.

Residents and service users, and their relatives at Bishops Waltham, Green
Meadows and Solent Mead (including the Day Service), proposed for closure
within 6-12 months, have had the opportunity to look at potential alternative
accommodation to ensure that they have time to make informed decisions. Some
have taken up this opportunity whilst others have not. For current users of Solent

Page 51



Mead Day Service, they would be supported to find alternative Day Service
opportunities.

If the decision to close is made, social workers would carry out Care Act
assessments for all residents. These would generate an up-to-date person-
centred support plan for each resident. They would help to ensure that residents,
their families and the social work staff, are fully informed of their care needs when
residents, and their families, come to make decisions on future accommodation.

The County Council has begun conversations with individuals, their families and
carers to explore options that would work best for them to limit the impact of any
proposed moves. All residents would be supported to make informed decisions
together with their families. Advocacy would be offered and provided, as
appropriate, to enable and support the individual’s voice within the decision-
making process.

To mitigate impacts, should the decision be made to close the homes, HCC Care
and Care Management (Social Workers) have the necessary skills and expertise
to handle the closure process sensitively and work with residents, service-users
and their families to find suitable alternatives for each of the current residents and
service-users.

It is proposed that three homes undergo extensions and modifications on the
existing sites which would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is anticipated
that work would be scheduled to allow nursing services to remain open to
minimise and mitigate any disruption for the nursing element. It is proposed that
residents within the residential element would move to alternative homes by the
end of 2025, having been re-assessed with up-to-date, person-centred support
plans to help identify more appropriate care settings.

There would be a robust communications and engagement plan to ensure that all
affected, including residents and their families, are aware of any changes that
may impact them. This plan would be reflective of different needs and information
would be appropriately and effectively targeted.

It is also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in specialist care
for older people in Hampshire, particularly those requiring complex dementia and
nursing care which would be a positive impact for future cohorts of residents.

Disability
Public Impact
Negative - Medium

Decision Rationale

Approximately 96% of the current HCC Care residents have a disability and in
terms of day service users the disability level is 54%. Most residents have multiple
chronic conditions, including mobility issues, dementia, and sensory loss.

Page 52



A concern raised within the consultation was about the size of the proposed care
homes being too large and the number of residents, changes in facilities, routines
and staff could be confusing for residents especially those living with dementia.
An additional concern was that the changes could impact on the ability of staff to
spot irregular behaviours and early signs of medical conditions.

Mitigation/Actions

If the decision to close is made, to ensure that the impacts on individuals with
disabilities are minimised, social workers would carry out Care Act assessments
for all residents. These will generate an up-to-date person-centred support plan
for each resident. They would help to ensure that residents, their families and the
social work staff, are fully informed of their care needs when residents come to
make decisions on future accommodation. For current users of Solent Mead Day
Service, they would be supported to find alternative Day Service opportunities.

The County Council has begun conversations with individuals, their families and
carers to explore options that would work best for them to limit the impact of any
proposed moves. All residents would be supported to make informed decisions
together with their families. Advocacy would be offered and provided, as
appropriate, to enable and support the individual’s voice within the decision-
making process.

Should a move be required, full support would be provided to ensure all care and
support needs could be met in the agreed service. Where possible, individuals
would be supported to move to alternative HCC care services as they would be
more familiar and enable a smoother transition.

Concerns were raised during the public consultation about the impacts on people
with dementia, particularly in relation to the proposed new homes and the
proposed extensions to existing homes. To mitigate this, the homes would be
designed to feel homely and domestic in nature, whilst at the same time meeting
appropriate guidance and regulations for complex dementia care and nursing
care. In terms of communal facilities, groups of 10 residents would have shared
access to lounge and dining facilities. In addition to the ensuite bathrooms,
assisted bathrooms and shower rooms would be provided within the homes on a
1:10 resident ratio.

Residents, currently residing in Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme would be
supported to relocate to the new homes in Oak Park (near Havant) and
Cornerways (Kingsworthy) respectively, when completed, should they wish to.
This would ensure residents would have the same community of residents and
staff team which would make the transition easier.

It is also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in specialist
complex dementia provision which would be a positive impact for the future
cohorts of residents— and in particular those with complex dementia. The proposal
would place Hampshire in a strong position to meet the needs of residents with
complex dementia which is expected to become the fastest growing service area
in the next 5-10 years. The proposed modern, fit for the future designs recognise

Page 53



that all residential homes house people with varying levels of need including with
increasing stages of dementia. Building design and interior design would need to
reflect this as they are especially important for people with complex dementia.

Gender Reassignment
Public Impact
Neutral

Census 2021 data suggests that less than 0.25% of UK residents over 65 years
identify as trans. HCC Care data currently indicates that there are no residents
within the service who have had gender reassignment. We know that the ageing
trans population may have specific and complex social and physical needs
relating to their gender reassignment. The upgraded portfolio resulting in homes
with modern design and features, including enhanced space and more ensuite
facilities, will create further options for privacy and could better house people with
varying levels of need whilst potentially allowing for improved dignity and care for
trans people; however, due to the potential low numbers this is regarded to be a
neutral impact.

Pregnancy and Maternity
Public Impact
Neutral

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) records maternal age up to 45 years with
the average age of mother giving birth in England and Wales at 30.9 years in
2021. While the overall trend is that of delaying parenthood, due to biological
factors, it is reasonable to assume that proposals will have none to very limited
impacts on pregnancy and maternity either positively or negatively. Based on the
above, it is unlikely that anyone entering an HCC Care Home would have parental
responsibility for children under 18 years therefore the proposals have a neutral
impact.

Race
Public Impact
Neutral

The Hampshire population is less diverse than England as a whole, with 92.6%
describing themselves as belonging to White ethnic groups compared to the
national average of 81%. The diversity of the area's population is increasing; 7.4%
of the population described themselves as of an ethnic background other than
White in 2021, up from 5% in the previous census conducted in 2011. Data also
suggests that the demographic of the population who are from an ethnic minority
group is younger.

While the numbers of ethnic minority residents in HCC Care homes remains low
(3%), it is anticipated that they may increase in line with the population ageing. As
a result, ethnic minority residents, as with all ethnic groups, could benefit from the
investment and modernisation of care homes. The personalisation of care, staff
training on equality and diversity and effective equality and inclusion policies may

Page 54



be more likely to have an impact on ethnic minority residents than the proposals,
therefore this impact is neutral.

Religion or Belief
Public Impact
Neutral

Census 2021 data reported almost two thirds of Hampshire residents (51.5%)
stated they have a religion, 42.8% no religion and 5.7% did not say. Christianity
was the dominant religion with 47.8% of Hampshire residents reporting to be
Christian. 1.1% reported Hindu as their religion, 0.9% Muslim and 0.8% Buddhist.
Across the districts, religion varied the most in Rushmoor, reflecting the greater
ethnic diversity in this district. Christianity remained the dominant religion, but the
proportion was lower than Hampshire (42.3%). 5.7% reported Hindu as their
religion, 2.5% Muslim and 4.7% Buddhist.

Within HCC Care, 52% of residents have not described their religion or belief,
32% of residents describe themselves as non-religious, 14% Christian and 2%
Roman Catholic.

While religion or beliefs do not impact the service and support delivery for
residents directly, it is anticipated that larger homes may allow for the natural
increase in numbers of individuals practicing various religions living together and
therefore there could be increased opportunity for group worship and/or group
visits from faith leaders. The existing home within the Rushmoor district —
Ticehurst, is proposed to be retained, extended and remodelled.

Practising religion can become more difficult for a person with dementia, it is
appreciated that while there is a need for an individual’s cultural and religious
identity need to be preserved as their dementia progresses as part of person-
centred care, this can be complicated and challenging. All HCC Care homes
therefore work with different faith leaders to support residents to practice their
faith, as appropriate and the specific proposals would not have a direct impact on
the service’s ability to continue to do so and is therefore a neutral impact.

Sex
Public Impact
Neutral

Within the general Hampshire population there are slightly more females (51%),
than males and this difference becomes starker as the population ages. Research
has demonstrated that women are more likely than men to be admitted to a
nursing or residential home than male counterparts due to socio-cultural and
demographic factors, and the difference may be more astute when comparing
outcomes of married couples. This is evidenced within the gender statistics for
HCC Care, with over two-thirds of residents identifying as female (68%).

It is not foreseen that the proposal will have any measurable impacts on
individuals on the grounds of sex. and the impact is therefore considered neutral.

Page 55



Sexual Orientation
Public Impact
Neutral

In the 2021 Census, 91.3% of Hampshire residents identified as ‘Straight or
Heterosexual’, 1.2% identified as ‘Gay or Lesbian’ and, 1.1% identified as
‘Bisexual’. HCC Care does not hold data on the sexual orientation of residents.
Evidence shows that moving into a care home can be particularly challenging for
LGBT+ individuals due to fears of homophobia or of not having their specific
needs met. All HCC Care Homes offer environments which facilitate individual
rights and choices in sexuality expression and intimate relationships. The
proposed changes would not impact this therefore the impact is determined to be
neutral.

Marriage & Civil Partnership
Public Impact
Negative - Low

Decision Rationale

Approximately 16% of current residents are married, and it is recognised that
should a move of care facility be required there is a potential for a negative impact
on those residents should the travel requirements for spouses increase.

This was reflected in the concerns raised about proposals in the consultation that
a change in location of a care facility could result in a loss of proximity to
spouse/partner and a reduction in frequency of visits especially where the
spouse/partner does not have use of a car and/or has difficulty in accessing public
transport.

Mitigation/Actions
The County Council has begun conversations with individuals, their families and
carers to explore options that would work best for them to limit the impact of any
proposed moves.

If the decision to close is made, to ensure that the impacts on individuals who are
married are minimised, social workers would carry out Care Act assessments for
all residents. These will generate an up-to-date person-centred support plan for
each resident. They would help to ensure that residents, their families and the
social work staff, are fully informed of their care needs when residents come to
make decisions on future accommodation, alongside the support of care
management such as distance from spouse/partner home and/or access to public
transport. For current users of Solent Mead Day Service, they would be
supported to find alternative Day Service opportunities.

Poverty

Public Impact
Neutral

Page 56



Decision Rationale

Some concerns were raised about proposals in the consultation that a change in
location of a care facility could result in an increase in cost of travel related to
longer distances.

Another concern raised was that there was less local choice and more reliance on
the private sector. Some care home residents were concerned about how the
proposals might impact them financially.

Mitigation/Actions

The County Council has begun conversations with individuals, their families and
carers to explore options that would work best for them to ensure that individual
concerns are handled. Queries regarding finances will also be supported by
specialist in-house advisors.

Residents of the homes and users of the Day Service are protected by law on
care charging, the County Council will continue to carry financial assessments to
work out how much, if anything, individuals will need to pay towards the cost of
their care. The amount that an individual will need to contribute towards the cost
of their care will not change, regardless of them being moved to a potentially more
expensive care home in the private sector or a more expensive Day Service.

Rurality
Public Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Bishops Waltham House and Green Meadows are in more rural areas, however it
is recognised that residents and visiting relatives and friends in any of the
identified homes could be impacted by potentially longer travel times for traveling
to an alternative care facility.

This was reflected in concerns raised in the consultation responses which
included the need to travel further because of relocation of care provision, lack of
access to public transport especially in rural areas and if family and friends do not
have use of a car.

Mitigation/Actions
The County Council has begun conversations with individuals, their families and
carers to explore options that would work best for them to limit the impact of any
proposed moves.

A full care assessment would be undertaken with support of family members and
carers to ensure consideration is given to a choice of care homes to identify care
provision that best suits the individual’s care and support needs alongside the
support of care management such as distance from family and friends. In addition,
the proposed location of all sites within Hampshire has been carefully considered
to ensure an improved geographical split/coverage, which would mean that
residents should continue to have choice over location, allowing them to be easily

Page 57



visited by relatives and friends. Public transport accessibility will also be factored
into decision making to ensure affordable and sustainable travel.

It is noted that the two most rural homes are proposed to be closed within 6-12
months, however the planned new and redeveloped homes have been carefully
planned to ensure a good geographical spread across the county.

Staff Equalities Impact Assessment
Equality Considerations

A 10-week HR consultation process ran concurrently with the public consultation
(4 September to 12 November 2023) with staff at Bishops Waltham House, Green
Meadows, Solent Mead (including Solent Mead Day Service), Cranleigh Paddock,
Copper Beeches and the Trade Unions.

One-to-one meetings took place with a representative from HCC Care Services’
senior management team and senior HR colleagues to ensure all staff had an
opportunity to talk about the proposals in the Cabinet report and the potential
impact of a decision to close any or all the homes. A total of 153 staff (97%) had
at least one meeting, in some cases more than one, to discuss their personal
circumstances in detail. Staff unavailable because they were on long term sick
leave or maternity leave received a phone call, as well as the letters and the
consultation slides.

Age
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that 39% of staff who work for
Hampshire County Council are aged between 25 and 44, 51% between 45 and 64
and 5% are aged 65 or over. Within HCC Care the age profile of the workforce is
typically older with 33% aged between 25 and 44, 58% between 45 and 64 and
4% aged 65 and over.

The proposals should not have a negative impact. HCC’s redundancy policy
potentially provides early access to pension benefits if employees are aged 55
and over and an active member of the LGPS. This means that the scheme
provides those staff with additional benefits to mitigate the impact of any job
losses.

Disability
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that 8% of the Hampshire County
Council (HCC) workforce are recorded as having (or previously had) a disability
and 92% are recorded as not informed/unknown. The profile in HCC Care

Page 58



Services — Older Persons indicates that the numbers of staff who are recorded
has having (or had) a disability is 3%, so significantly lower than the HCC

figure. Therefore, the percentage recorded as not informed or unknown is higher,
97%.

This suggests that HCC Care staff with a disability are less likely to be impacted
when compared to the HCC workforce, however, this is more likely to reflect an
under-reporting issue. The Directorate has sent several reminders to staff about
the importance of updating their personal information on the HR system. Further
targeted reminders will be sent to the staff in HCC Care Services specifically.

The proposals should not have a negative impact. Staff reductions would be
achieved voluntarily and would take account of an individual's health and
wellbeing including the need to make reasonable adjustments.

Gender Re-assignment
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale
Staff - assessed as Neutral as relevant data is unavailable at this current time and
there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.

Pregnancy and Maternity
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - There was regular communication with staff who were not at work to
ensure they were fully involved in the staff consultation process. No colleagues
who are pregnant or on maternity leave would be selected for redundancy
because of their pregnancy or maternity/adoption leave,

The impact is assessed as neutral because the current legislative framework
ensures that staff who are pregnant and/or are on maternity leave have additional
protection from an employment law perspective, specifically the Protection from
Redundancy (Pregnancy and Family Leave) Act 2023. All employees have been
made aware of their rights and additional contact would be made to allay
concerns/answer questions.

Race

Staff Impact

Negative / Medium

Decision Rationale

Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that 10% of staff who work for
Hampshire County Council (HCC) identify as being from ethnic minority
communities, 86% white and 3% prefer not to say. Staff in HCC Care Services
Older Persons account for 4% of the overall 10% of HCC staff, so represent a
significant proportion of the ethnic minority workforce across the Council. Within

Page 59



HCC Care itself, 43% of the HCC Care — Older Persons workforce identify
themselves as BME, 54% White and 2% prefer not to say.

Mitigations/Actions

Staff - Any staff reductions would be achieved voluntarily and given the profile of
the BME workforce any decisions to support voluntary redundancy would be
assessed in the context of this profile to ensure there is no unintended negative or
disproportionate impact on staff from ethnic minority communities.

Religion or Belief
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that within Hampshire County Council
29% of staff are Christians, 1% Buddhist, 1% Hindu, 1% Muslim, 3% prefer not to
say, 2% are recorded as “other religion” and 64% have no religion or belief
recorded. Within HCC Care Services - Older Persons 37% of the workforce are
Christians, 3% are Buddhist, 3% are Hindu, 2% are Muslim, 1% are recorded as
“other religion” and 53% have no religion or belief recorded. The impact is
assessed as neutral because there is no expectation that the proposals, their
impact and the mitigations proposed would negatively impact this profile.

Sex
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that 76% of the Hampshire County
Council workforce are recorded as female and 24% as male. The workforce
profile in HCC Care Services — Older Persons is broadly similar with 79% female
and 21% male. The impact is assessed as neutral because there is no
expectation that the proposals, their impact and the mitigations proposed would
negatively impact this profile.

Sexual Orientation
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - assessed as Neutral as relevant data is unavailable at this current time and
there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.
Marriage and Civil Partnership

Staff Impact

Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - assessed as Neutral as relevant data is unavailable at this current time and
there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.

Page 60



Poverty
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff — the impact is assessed as neutral because the relevant data is unavailable
at the current time and there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this
protected characteristic. Salaries in HCC are at or above the National Living
Wage and any potential job changes would not affect salary levels. In the unlikely
event that an employee was redeployed to a lower graded post the employee
would be protected given HCC’s pay protection policy. Specifically, they would
either remain on their previous salary for a period of 2 year’s or a grade above the
redeployed role if there is a difference of more than one grade. Those leaving
on redundancy terms would only do so voluntarily.

Rurality
Staff Impact
Neutral

Decision Rationale

Staff - assessed as neutral because although the location of some of the homes
is within rural communities not all the staff live in the area. If travel to another
location is required, this has been considered in the 1:1 HR consultation meetings
to ensure individual circumstances are considered when determining the outcome
of the voluntary redundancy or redeployment process. If staff are required to
travel, additional mileage would be reimbursed in accordance with HCC’s
relocation mileage policy.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Hampshire County Council Care service proposals

Public Consultation 4 Sept — 12 Nov 2023

Insight Report

January 2024

‘g’ Hampshire
> County Council hants.gov.uk



Background

This report summarises the responses to Hampshire County Council's (HCC’s) Care service consultation, encompassing a number of
key changes to existing Older Adults care provision, currently provided by HCC Care (the County Council’s in-house service provider).

Proposals relating to ten services were included within the consultation, namely

» The proposed permanent closure of two homes which have been temporarily closed since November 2021 for operational
reasons - Copper Beeches in Andover and Cranleigh Paddock in Lyndhurst.

» The proposed closures of Bishops Waltham House in Bishops Waltham, Green Meadows in Denmead and Solent Mead in
Lymington — and in the latter case, the proposed closure of the Solent Mead Day Service which is delivered from the Solent
Mead site that is proposed for closure.

9 abed

* Proposed site modernisations and expansions of Emsworth House in Emsworth, Oakridge House in Basingstoke and
Ticehurst in Aldershot.

« The proposed closure and relocation (to proposed new build sites in close proximity) of Malmesbury Lawn in Leigh Park,
Havant, and Westholme in Winchester

Each proposal is unique in terms of the challenges and opportunities presented. This analysis provides insight into the support and the
disagreement for the proposals, the impacts and the strength of feelings to inform on-going engagement and decisions.

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Methodology

* InJuly 2023, the County Council’s Cabinet considered an investment strategy and agreed a public consultation on a range of proposals for
Hampshire County Council Care services. The public consultation took place between 4 September 2023 and 12 November 2023.

» The consultation was widely promoted via a range of online and offline channels. Letters were sent to care home residents, their relatives and
representatives, along with stakeholders such as partner organisations in the NHS and local councils. Several engagement events were held in
all the homes affected (except Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock which are temporarily closed).

» This enabled those who may be directly impacted, and their families, to learn more about the proposals and to discuss the proposed changes
_Uin more detail with HCC Care staff, Social Workers and Registered Managers of the homes and the Day Service. Advocacy support was
g provided to all residents and Day Service users to help them participate in the consultation. MicrosoftTeams and telephone appointments were

® also offered to people who preferred that form of engagement.
(o))

' An Information Pack containing details of the proposals, and a consultation Response Form were developed in standard and Easy Read
formats. These were published on-line and made available in paper format, with other languages and formats available on request.

* 724 responses were received via the consultation Response Form.
» Afurther 44 responses were also received directly as ‘unstructured responses’ through letters and email correspondence.

* A summary of redacted notes from the supported conversations with 50 residents and Day Service users was also provided by the Adults
Health and Care Service. These conversations were from a combination of phone appointments or individual or group discussions held at the
service locations in Bishops Waltham, Green Meadows, Solent Mead, Emsworth House, Oakridge House, Ticehust and Malmesbury Lawn.

¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




About the response

Who completed the consultation response form?

» 724 people responded using the Response Form. 675 of these were from individuals, 13 responded in an official capacity on behalf of an organisation, group or
business, and 16 responded as Democratically Elected Representative of a constituency. 20 didn’t indicate their status

+ 32% of respondents were current or former residents or service users or their family/ friends. 24% of respondents were people whose stated primary interest was that
they lived close to a service potentially affected by the proposals. 13% were current or former staff/ volunteers with the services.

. ;98% were from organisations, democratically elected representatives (DERS) or other interested individuals (including those describing themselves as: older residents,
Qesidents with disabilities, carers, residents with an interest/ involvement in their local communities and the needs of older residents, family of older people with likely
uture care requirements, taxpayers/ residents, other current or former staff or professionals in the health or social care sector, some of whom may have had an
onvolvement with the facilities potentially affected by the proposals, former elected representatives and people who work or have worked for Hampshire County
Council).

Main areas of interest

» 88% of the respondents who expressed a view on one or more of the proposals did so in relation to the proposed permanent closures of services. The most popular
responses related to Bishops Waltham House (47%), Solent Mead Home (32%), Solent Mead Day Service (29%) and Green Meadows (23%). 17% expressed a view
on one or more of the proposals for modification and expansion of services and 18% expressed a view on proposals for the closure and relocations of services.

» Current or former staff/ volunteers were slightly less likely than the other groups to answer the question on closures. These respondents and other interested
individuals, organisations, or democratically elected representatives were more likely than other respondents to answer on proposals incorporating relocations.

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Headline responses to the proposals

Responses to proposals in the consultation response form

» For 7 out of the 10 proposals presented, the number of people agreeing with the proposals, or accepting them but with some concerns, was greater than the
number that disagreed. Where there was disagreement, this ranged from 6%-39% across the 7 different proposals..

+ For the proposals for permanent closure of currently operational homes, Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows and Solent Mead (including the Day Service
at Solent Mead) a significant number of responses disagreed - 78% for Bishops Waltham, 58% for Green Meadows, 67% for Solent Mead (and 73% for the
associated Solent Mead Day Service). Between 13% and 23% agreed with these proposals.

» For those homes which are temporarily closed (Copper Beaches and Cranleigh Paddock), the response was lower compared with the other proposed closures.
56% of respondents for Copper Beeches agreed with the proposal or accepted it with some concerns, and 37% disagreed. 57% of respondents for Copper
Beeches agreed with the proposal or accepted it with some concerns, and 39% disagreed.

/9 abed

» For homes with proposed modification and extension (Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst), between 63% and 69% of respondents agreed with the
proposals, with between 83% and 88% of respondents either agreeing or accepting the proposal but with some concerns.

» For homes with proposals for closure and relocation (Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme) 50% agreed with the proposals. 24% and 26% respectively disagreed.

» Current or former residents/ service users or their family/ friends were highly likely to voice disagreements to the closures, while current and former staff/
volunteers were more likely to agree to them - and were very supportive of the extension/ modification proposals. Those living close to services were particularly
opposed to the proposed closures of Bishops Waltham House and Solent Mead. Other individuals, organisations and Democratically Elected Representatives,
were more divided in opinion.

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Range of comments received

Across the public consultation responses, engagement sessions and other
correspondence received, a range of views, questions, impacts and concerns were
expressed.

On the public consultation response form specifically:

* 90% of respondents chose to include comments on the response form
For each proposal, respondents were invited to provide comments on their
reasons for their response and to identify impacts - they were also invited to
provide any additional comments or suggested alternative approaches.

» There were 778 comments where respondents explained their response to
proposals and highlighted impacts — Most were specific to individual proposals
but 6% were general comments (where people chose to comment once to
cover several proposals they had responded on.

99 abed

» There were 342 further comments in the question on “other comments and
suggested alternative approaches”.

Of all the written comments received, most of them related to the proposals on home
closures (Bishops Waltham House 67%, Solent Mead Home 59%, Day Service 59%
and Green Meadows 45%).

Set out on the right-hand side is the spectrum of themes which arose from the
comments overall.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Comments supportive of the proposals:

» Opportunities for better facilities and better care for the future

» Provides improved accommodation in modern buildings

* A clear strategy to position HCC care more strongly within the market

» A clear aim to better meet the increasing complex needs of older persons

» Existing HCC care services are highly regarded and valued

* Animproved environment that will better attract and provide opportunities for staff

Concerns and impacts:
* Uncertainty
* What is going to happen to me, when, what are my care choices?
* Where will my home be? What will it be like? What will change?
» How will the process be managed and what support will | receive?
* How might this affect me financially?
» Loss of treasured home, routine, lifestyle and relationships with residents/ staff
» Less regular contact with visitors, losing contact with my community
» Access for visitors especially in rural areas and for low incomes/ non car users
» Process of change can be unsettling/ traumatic
* Loss of local employment
» Development and land use resulting from sales

hants.gov.uk




Key considerations emerging from the Response Form comments

A range of issues for consideration for HCC Care were drawn from the comments and suggestions received:

» Can new provision be available prior to homes being closed?

* Why can’'t some existing sites based in communities be redeveloped to achieve the same goal?

» Have we explored all options to refurbish existing facilities?

+ If they cannot be refurbished or the land used for new facilities, can they be retained for other health and social care purposes?
Are 80+ bed homes too big? Can quality of care and the creation of a “homely” atmosphere be achieved to match what many existing HCC already have?
» Can we overcome recruitment challenges to run large homes?

» Are we including provision for day services in new facilities, and could we do more to promote this service?

+ Transitions between homes needs to be managed in a way that ensures a full understanding of residents’ needs are transferred.
* |s this value for money for an extra 100 beds?

* Is there a risk of becoming overdependent on the private care market?

» Should we be more ambitious on the numbers we will aim to support directly given future demographics?

* Is this being done for financial savings or, conversely, is it too expensive?

69 abed

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Contributions via direct correspondence, and engagement sessions

The unstructured responses received via email and letter provided a range of comments relating to the proposals.

50% of these representations related to specific proposals for closure of Bishops Waltham House, Solent Mead Services or Green
Meadows.

The majority of direct correspondence disagreed with the proposals but there were also comments and questions on specific schemes,
challenges to the basis of the consultation, some letters of support for the proposals subject to reassurances on the approach along with
suggestions and offers for working alongside other service providers.

0/ obed

The engagement sessions and conversations held with residents and their representatives and families revealed considerable uncertainty
around the impact of service closures and alternative options for the future both for residential and day service provision.

Existing services were highly valued. For those services with proposed expansion and modifications, there was support for the programme
of improvement but with some concern around the disruption of the work.

*See next slide for base number of responses per proposal

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Responses submitted via the Response Form

o
jab)
«Q
D
N
=

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk



¢/ obed

10

Of all the people who responded to the consultation, most chose to respond regarding the closures, in particular Bishops
Waltham House.

% responding to any of the agreement/disagreement questions on any proposed site

ANY PROPOSED CLOSURE
Copper Beeches
Cranleigh Paddock [ 13%

Bishops Waltham House [N
Green Meadows, Denmead || NG 23
Solent Mead (home) |G 32
Solent Mead (day service) | EIEGNzgGGE 22

ANY PROPOSED MODIFICATION OR EXPANSION I 17
Emsworth House [ 11%
Oakridge House | 11%

Ticehurst | 11%

ANY CLOSURE AND RELOCATION I 15

Malmsbury Lawn | 13%
Westholme [ 14%

m Total responses (Base=712)

Graph based on those who gave any response to any
of the questions on overall agreement / disagreement
with the proposals



11

Level of agreement with proposals (summary all proposals)

W | agree m | accept the Unsure or  m| disagree

Base

PROPOSED CLOSURES
Copper Beeches [IIIIENEEENVOYNNNFGo0N 7% 92
Cranleigh Paddock S s 5% I 7 96
Bishops Waltham House  I80a s Y -7 . 334
Green Meadows, Denmead 28054064 o I 7 166
Solent Mead (home) IS A0 I -7 231
Solent Mead (Day Service) A0 IEENEGEGE <7 204

S

< PROPOSED MODIFICATION / EXTENSION
~ Emsworth House G 5% e 81
w Oakridge House G225 6% 77
Ticehurst [N o 9% 77

PROPOSED CLOSURE AND RELOCATION
Malmesbury Lawn  NS0eoem - 8% 92
Westholme  INEENGOSo0 9% 103

with the proposal proposal but

| have some concerns

have no view  with the proposal (NB: Many of the 724
respondents shared their views

on more than one proposal.

»>¥ Hampshire

)

¥ County Council hants.gov.uk




12

Individual proposals findings — key groupings for analysis

When analysing the responses on the reasons and impacts of the proposals, responses are grouped into four key areas based on the respondents’ stated main interests
in the proposals. NB: 18 out of 724 respondents did not indicate their interest in the proposals; these are included within the overall analysis.

GROUP 1: GROUP 2: GROUP 3: GROUP 4:
Current or former service users Current or former staff/ People who live close to the | Any other individuals, organisations
and their family/ friends volunteer at a Care facility sites and democratically elected
representatives
Somebody who lives close to one of the homes 174
Somebody else with an interest * 174
Relative of a resident (or former resident) 113
U Friend or someone otherwise connected to a resident (or former resident) 80
g Somebody who has worked or volunteered in one of the homes 57
(0] Somebody who works in another HCC home that is not affected 33
~ Resident 30
= User of Solent Mead Day Service 6
Relative of a user (or former user) of Solent Mead Day Service 5
Somebody who has worked or volunteered at Solent Mead Day Service 3
Friend or someone otherwise connected to a user (or former user) of Solent Mead
Day Service 1
Somebody who works in another HCC Day Service that is not affected by these
proposals 1
Responses on behalf of an organisation 13
Responses from democratically elected representatives 16
Not specified (18)
TOTAL (724) 235 94 174 203

*

Somebody else with an interest” includes those describing themselves as: older residents, residents with disabilities, carers, residents with an interest/ involvement in their local communities and
the needs of older residents, family of older people with likely future care requirements, taxpayers/ residents, other current or former staff or professionals in the health or social care sector, some of
whom may have had an involvement with the facilities potentially affected by the proposals, former elected representatives and people who work or have worked for Hampshire County Council.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




13

Group 1 was highly likely to voice disagreements to the closures, while Group 2 was more likely to agree to them and were
very supportive of non-closure proposals. Group 3 were particularly opposed to certain closures (Bishops Waltham
House, Solent Mead), and Group 4 were more divided in opinion.

Overall agreement / disagreement question (by interest group)

Group 1: Group 2: Group 3: Group 4:
Current or former service Current or former staff/volunteers People who live Any other individuals,
users or their family/friends at an HCC care home close to the sites organisations and DERs

PROPOSED CLOSURES

Copper Beeches IETM:~NETNNN -  WENCTNNDED «  [EOE "
Cranleigh Paddock s Al T
Bishops Waltham House
Green Meadows, Denmead [ TSN T e e o I
Solent Mead (home)  ZZ7SNRED "
Solent Mead (Day Service) T - T

13

94%

G) abed

PROPOSED MODIFICATION / EXTENSION

Emsworth House 50% 33% | 17% RS 71% 24% IS 67% 33% B 62% 22% 0%
Oakridge House 40% 50% 1090 85% e * 67% 3% [y 65% 18% 15
Ticehurst 67% ey 82% 12033 100% * 62% T 2%

PROPOSED CLOSURE AND RELOCATION

Vamesbury Lavn IESTENNETINN -+ G - NN - -
Westholme | ) 70% * 81% 14% 33 50% 40% 10 43%  ASFER  31% |

>*

* Caution - low base (under 30):
care needed when interpreting results



14

Individual proposals

T
jab)
Q
®
\l
o

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




15

COpper BeeCheS aﬂd Cran|e|gh PaddOCk (proposed permanent closure of temporarily closed home)

Headline findings — Copper Beeches

92 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Copper
Beaches. 40% agreed with the proposal and 37% disagreed. 16% accepted the
proposal but with some concern.

65% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals,
organisations or elected representatives” 37% of these agreed and 38% of them
disagreed with the proposal.

S%Ef respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 57% of this
gr@%o disagreed with the proposal.

1692‘[)1‘ respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 67% of this group agreed
with the proposal.

9% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close
to the home, 63% of whom disagreed with the proposal.

The main concerns were:

 future use of the site

» proposed size of new homes is too large

* inadequate capacity of appropriate services for future needs

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Headline findings — Cranleigh Paddock

96 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Cranleigh
Paddock. 43% agreed with the proposal and 39% disagreed. 14% accepted the
proposal but with some concern.

66% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals,
organisations or elected representatives” 37% of these agreed and 44% disagreed
with the proposal.

8% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 75% of this
group disagreed with the proposal.

21% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 70% of this group agreed
with the proposal.

4% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close
to the home, 50% of whom disagreed with the proposal and 25% agreed.

The main concerns were:

* inadequate capacity of appropriate services to meet local needs
* less care choice and dependency on private sector alternatives

hants.gov.uk




16

Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock

Level of agreement with proposals overall and by interest group

Copper Beeches Base Cranleigh Paddock Pase

Group 1: Current or former service users or their family/friends 14% 7
LY
Q
Gramp 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home 67% ) 13% mRll 15
\l
(00]
Group 3: People who live close to the sites [P0 22 63% 8

Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs** 37% 20% - e0 -. 63

*

*

*

u| agree u | accept the Unsure or m | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns % Caution - low base:
*DER = democratically elected Member care needed when interpreting results

Py :
~ Hampshire

¥ County Council hants.gov.uk




Copper Beeches - reasons and Impacts provided by interest group

Gp3 Gp4 Numberof comments Base
In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 0 Group1l:  p *
roposal . . . Current or former service users
prop Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose _ 3 or their family/friends
___________________________________________________________________________________ Group 2: 3 *
— Quallity of service is high Current or former HCC care
Abogt existing uality of staff is high I - home staff/ivolunteers
services o Quality s g Il : Group3: 5 *
Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents Il : People who live close
Existing facilities are well located I : to the sites
—————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————— Group 4: 10 *
. . . Any other individuals,
Concerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community I : organisations and DERs

to .chagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further _ 4 .
: . Unspecified 1
Q Proposed size of new homes is too large 2 B Total respondents = 21*
((% Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives 2 - 2
~ Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition 0
(o) Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs 1 2 3 _ 6

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost 1 1
Other impacts on staff
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations 1
Invest in existing estate and facilities
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

o OIO o o
N

=

Other challenges to sirategy S F
Other Key considerations for new accommodation 0
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community 3 1 1 . _
* Caution - low base:

Other land / buildings / development comments

=

care needed when interpreting results



Copper Beeches - ilustrative comments

18

Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

“The closest placement would be Westholme. for someone who does not drive and
finds it hard to access public transport - how is this person centred for the client
not being in close proximity to their family?”

Impacts on staff

“The whole consultation experience for staff has been quite traumatic leaving
some staff with low moods and wellbeing throughout, feeling uncared for by senior
staff throughout HCC. We now have to worry about our job security and our
fWture.”

(@)

lcc%nd / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local

&@mmunity

“I would be happy if the land was utilised for caring of elderly people or homes
strictly for elderly people. If flats are built then this area will just go downhill, we
already have flats nearby and they are a nuisance”.

Loss of established highly valued service within local community

“I have no doubt this is for monetary gain as seen with the closure of Cherry
Orchard. So again, where do the people of Andover go? Disgracetul, it is all about
money and nothing to do with local services for local people.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs
"With the current cost of living crisis they [carers] cannot afford to pay for private
care either in the home or in a private care home or to visit relatives who are
placed in a home many miles from Andover.”

Proposed size of new homes is too large
‘Are we returning to the ‘old days' of large (80 plus residents) institutions to be cost
effective?”

“You propose to make a bigger home, clients with dementia get lost in these
buildings”

Other challenges to strategy

“It was closed temporarily because of staffing recruitment problems - a problem for
both the public and private sector in this area. Care Homes are considering
closure.” “Perhaps it would be more beneficial to look at staffing rather than
buildings”

“My concern relates to the provision of short-term care for those discharged from
hospital but in need of convalescent support.”

hants.gov.uk




19

Copper Beeches - ilustrative comments

Current accommodation needs updating to Challenges to strategy

be fit for purpose
“Who owns Copper Beeches and if sold will the money be invested in Andover services for the elderly?”

“The building is too small to offer a modern up to date
service. The bedrooms & corridors are too small. “Will a replacement capital facility and additional staffing be provided to cope with increasing needs for

There is little scope to improve the space within the elderly physical high dependency and dementia care in the area?”

building or within the grounds.”
“Do you propose to build another care home or sell the land?”

‘Just think it's a shame as location and having a Day Service next to the home and walking distance into
town would be ideal for learning disability unit for young adults”

T8 abed

“It could be modernised and used as temporary accommodation for families and/or children that are
homeless.... The lack of facilities for homing families could make this facility a viable alternative for HCC.
It could also be used as children’'s home, negating the need for the county to contract at extortionate
rates for temporary accommodation for children awaiting fostering”.

About existing services

“m, they all had such a good rapport and care for the
residents. Having visited other homes - this type of
care has not been seen anywhere else”.

“Copper Beeches was a dementia only home which
worked really well”.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




20

Cranleigh Paddock - reasons and iImpacts provided by interest group

Gpl Gp2 Gp3 Gp4 Numberofcomments Base
In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 1 N Group1l: ¢
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose 2 1 Current Or;?;?;,r ]cs;m;,e}#jféz
___________________________________________________________________________________ Group 2: 6 *
About exiting Qualy of service s High * I - ot e
services Quality of staff is high Group 3 .
Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents 2 1 : People who live close !
Existing facilities are well located to the sites
———————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————— Group 4: 6 *
Correrns/ reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community 1 B orﬁﬂgﬁﬁg;‘g‘,’:g‘%“gﬂf;
to(glsagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further . Total respondents =13+
I Proposed size of new homes is too large 1 - 1
o0 Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives 1 1 _ 2
N Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs 1 1 _ 2
Loss of established highly valued service within local community** 1 1 **(includes basic pleas not to close the facility)
Potential loss of high calibre staff
Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities 1 - 1
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed
Other challenges to strategy 1 I
Other Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community * Caution - low base:
Other land / buildings / development comments 1 1 care needed when interpreting results




Cranleigh Paddock - ilustrative comments

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

“the loss in services users that pass away due to being moved with
dementia”.

Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local
needs

"My mother has just been discharged from hospital after 79 days
-g-Lyndhurst would have been an ideal choice The council has a
@pons/b///ty to the older generation who have all worked and paid their

w(esn
0]

W : :
[ess local care choice and dependency on local private sector
alternatives

“There is a lack of council provided care homes in this area it is too far to
travel for friends and relatives.”

Proposed size of new homes is too large

“Smaller homes are more friendly”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

“l appreciate the building is old and does not meet size requirement and that need has also

changed”

“Neither homes are fit for purpose anymore- they pose huge restrictions to being able to
deliver care in the most dignified way. The current structure of both buildings means that if
a resident’s needs do increase, they have to move on sooner than they potentially would

need to for their care needs to be met”.

About existing services

“Cranleigh Paddock is a specialist
home supporting people living with
dementia and complex needs.”

“Cranleigh Paddock was an amazing
facility, when you walked in you
instantly immersed into the service,

with residents all doing activities in the
main lounge by the entrance. The home
was practical as it was single story, with
lots of access to the lovely gardens.”

Other land / buildings / development
comments

“NFDC would welcome discussions directly
with Hampshire County Council regarding any
proposal to sell the building and associated
land, before it does so with any other party,
reflecting a public sector partnership approach
to the best use of public sector owned land.
NFDC is committed to providing affordable
housing across the district and would be keen
fo assess the viability of additional affordable
housing on this site.”

21

hants.gov.uk



22

BiShOpS Waltham House (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)

Headline findings

334 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Bishops Waltham House. 78% disagreed with the proposal and 13% agreed. 7%
accepted the proposal but with some concern.

28% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 96% of this group disagreed with the proposal.
10% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 39% of this group agreed with the proposal and 33% disagreed.

34% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 94% of whom disagreed with the proposal.

8 abed

28% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives.” 27% of these agreed and 57% of them
disagreed with the proposal.

The most frequently mentioned concerns were:

* loss of established highly valued service within local community
 unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

+ adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

* inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




23

Bishops Waltham House

Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

33

Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home _-6%
Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs - 92

W | agree W | accept the Unsure or m | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns

Gg abed

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




24

BiShOpS Waltham House - reasons and Impacts provided by interest group

In support of

proposal Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

Corqrerns/reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

to(gisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
@ Proposed size of new homes is too large
g Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives

Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs
Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Challenges
to strategy

Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations

Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gp 2

Gp3

29
44

11

15
57

Gp 4

Base
Number of comments
Group 1. 78
Current or former service users
- 8 or their family/friends
Group 2: 17 *
Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers
Group 3.  gp
People who live close
to the sites
Group 4. 31

Any other individuals,
organisations and DERs

Unspecified 1
Total respondents 223

** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results



o

Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

‘As a retired medical practitioner, | have seen the very negative effects of
having to move out of a care home through no choice of your own and when in
a very vulnerable state - whatever “mitigations” are made a number of residents
are likely to die shortly after any such “forced” move”.

“l work in a care home myself. It isn’t just a care home! it's a family, it's a
community, if my care home got shut down, the bonds of the residents would be
lost! It's all well and good saying “we can find new care homes for the residents”

Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

“Bishops Waltham does not have a train Station it now has a limited bus service,
if this home is closed and residents are moved away also future residents then
family and friends who don’t have their own vehicles are going to really struggle
to visit them, especially if their mobility isn’t good or have bad health, at the
moment most people can walk to see their relatives or friends, they can bring
them out into the village if well enough amongst the commuters they remember,
please don'’t take this home away from us, it will rip apart the hearts of many”.

“Lack of public transport in rural areas mean that travelling further afield to visit

@« they don’t want new ones - they want this one!
@ residents is not viable. People don’t want to relocate away from their
R “For the elderly residents living there will be too much of a change. They family/friends/ community.”

absolutely love it at Bishop’s Waltham House, as it’s small, with incredible staff
and it would be too much of an upheaval to move them”.

Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector
alternatives

“Where else in the area are people who just need care not nursing supposed to
go? The private care homes are beyond most people’s means”.

“It’s difficult for people to travel to the other areas proposed which would mean
severe loneliness and depression for the patient and affect their general
wellbeing.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




26

BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

Loss of established highly valued service within local community

“It would rip the heart out of our town if this were taken away.”

“It would be a shame to lose this home especially as it has been such an
integral part of the community for years, | myself volunteered there as a young
teenager and can see the quality of care that is given there, there is no such
Q thing as residents and staff, as cliched as it is you are truly family there
L% whether staff, resident, friend or loved one.”

00)
Q0 “/ want to be in Bishops Waltham, the place I call home”.

“The facility provides care within the same community in which residents have
lived and in which they still have friends and relatives. The huge population
expansion of Bishop Waltham makes this even more likely. It is a comfort to
people to know that they can stay in their locality and be near their friends and
family”.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“It's an integral part of the community, nothing else like it in Bishops Waltham -
will be a big blow to many families.”

“My grandmother spent her final years in Bishops Waltham house after living in
the village her whole life, the matter of moving into a care home was made all
the more comforting for her knowing she remained local to her roots, Bishops
Waltham has many residents who have lived locally for their entire lives!”

“This is a much needed provision to our town. Bishops Waltham house
provides a living home for many people in the surrounding areas. Our young
children in the village also actively take part in activities with people in the
home”

“These people have lived an brought up their children in this beautiful village
they deserve more”.

hants.gov.uk




27

BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local Proposed size of new homes is too large

needs
“Being a smaller unit, the staff get to know the residents this wouldn’t in a

larger home. “Moving to a 80+ resident care home is far too big, My father

"HCC are very naive to think that there is suitable availability for the residents , :
would be very confused with that number of residents.”

should they need to be moved. As a relative | can assure you that we've
looked, and nothing compares to BW house. Please do not close this wonderful

home it is crucial to us and the local people.” “The CQC do not like large care homes as they become institutions.”

“Due to it being a smaller setting staff know their residents, they know very
quickly if something is out of character and spot early signs of illnesses such as
urine infections. | worry in a larger 100 bed place this level of care could not be
achieved””

Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector
alternatives

“

68 abed

This is the only public owned care home. Residents and their families are
pleased with the care there. Public money should be spent in public owned

, / A “l disagree that a large home of 80+ beds would provide better care for
care not private owned, for-profit organisations.

Dementia sufferers, this is not evidenced in the Cabinet report dated 18th July

2023.”
“I do not agree that residential care should be reliant purely on independent

charitable sector and with the aging population and demographics it is
important that anyone requiring residential care has affordable choices and not
two-tier system based on ability to pay. Government proposal on changes to
thresholds of savings will also mean that more people will need LA financial
support so better to be able to provide direct provision rather than reliant on
other sectors where objectives not necessarily about the quality of care.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

Impacts on staff
“Many of the staff in the home have been there for a long time, so the closure will affect these staff hugely. Transferring them
to new homes in the New Forest or Havant is just not feasible due to the distance.”

“The staff working at Bishops Waltham House are local people , who fit their shifts in around childcare and so on in the village.
They were told that they would not lose their jobs. How is this possible?”

T
any staff live in the town this supplying much needed employment. The fact that staff are local helps with work rotas as they

@e nearby. Local staff means less cars on the road.”
(@)

o . .
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
“l would be most concerned should property development on the site become a reality.

“Bishops Waltham does not require yet more housing, but it does need this home.”

“l have no idea what the proposed planning for the site will b, but more housing is a total no. We are overwhelmed with
development and traffic has become intolerable.”

“This town has had building on every available plot of land and does not need yet another open corner to be covered in houses
or apartments. We have taken our share of new houses for Hampshire. Any more needs to go elsewhere ...our schools and
doctors surgery are at peak capacity and yet still you cut the bus services here.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Current accommodation needs
updating to be fit for purpose

“The site is very dated and doesn't for
fill requlations or basic standard of living
requirements. Whilst | understand the
upset it may cause residents and their
families, in the long term the standard
of care and facilities, quality of life
holistically will be improved.”

“The building is old and requires
updating to provide each resident with
their own personal bathroom. These
changes would provide residents with
independence and dignity”.

“The service is fantastic but does need
bigger rooms to continue to support
people's needs in the future.”

28

hants.gov.uk



29

BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

About existing services

“This care home helped my late grandmother tremendously. The care
provided was unmatched.”

“In all those [15] years | have never had any reason to complain and never
had a cross word with anyone. It is a well-run home where all the staff really
care about the people they look after.”

-u ‘The care she has received has been exceptional and is loving life there.”

Q

% ‘As soon as grandma moved in... it was life changing and gave her some

o independence again. At first we were worried that she didn’t have an ensuite

= but soon realised grandma did not worry and it actually provides much
needed exercise each day to walk the short distance across the hall. She
had only been able to wash down previously but now enjoys a bath each
week and “can’t believe her luck” with the amazing facilities that allow this
for her. “

“It is a very happy place. | have a large bedroom and there is a range of
equipment and hoists to help the staff. | do not need an ensuite bathroom
and there are specialist bathrooms here.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“I feel that this home has done very well for me. It is modern, it's
comfortable, the room sizes are adequate, and the staff are excellent.”

“Bishops Waltham House provides excellent care for my Mother who has
advanced dementia. Her needs are being met fully by wonderful HCC care
staff. She has a large bedroom and has access to the latest equipment,
including hoists, adapted wheelchair, specialist baths etc but most
importantly, it is the care that she receives that sets Bishops Waltham House
apart from other local residential homes.”

“My mother-in-law has been extremely happy and very well cared for. The
staff are mainly local and quite often know the residents and their family.
The home is well maintained and very clean, the food is excellent.”

“I've heard a big part of the reason to close it is due to the building not being
fit for purpose, as a builder myself I’'m Struggling to see much that can’t be
easily fixed.”

“The home is currently rated as "Good" with the CQC including Dementia

care, not just standard residential care as incorrectly stated in the Cabinet
Decision Report.”

hants.gov.uk




30

BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

Invest in existing estate and facilities

“If you do nothing else allow us the 5 years the others have in the proposal
don’t shut ours immediately, even if we consider how we could fundraise to
help fund costs of improving the building in 5 years we could make a lot and |
would be happy to do this.”

-y '/t is a large site and grounds with plenty of scope for expansion of the care
QD facilities and modernisation, should Hampshire County Council prioritise this.
® Finding a new greenfield site for adult social care services within the Bishops
© Waltham parish, and building a brand-new facility would be much more

N expensive.”

“There is lots of land around Bishops Waltham House. Building an extension
would seem to be a better solution.”

“I would recommend the Council to renovate the entire building and let it
function as an elderly home since the funding is available. What would be the
benefit of closing this home and building another one? Renovating the current
one and providing it with new facilities and upgrades would be much
appreciated. Closing it would affect the entire area and would also affect the
face of this lovely area.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“Why can’t the money be put towards updating the care home? The claim is
the building is unfit for purpose as we do not have en-suites but EVERY
resident is happy and when people move into the home, they are aware of the
building and facilities and are happy to move in so it all feels like an excuse.”

“There is significant land around BW House with potential for extra care
development through not-for-profit investment and a more detailed analysis of
the potential interior improvement to meet standards of provision is required.
The range of options for the building and the site requires further assessment
and should form part of any closure report to members.”

“You currently offer 900 beds across Hampshire in your care homes. The
proposal is to increase the number of beds to 1,000 at a cost of £173m — that
is £1.7m per bed! This is utterly ridiculous. If you were to modernise
Bishop’s Waltham House, convert some rooms into rooms with ensuites
(there are several rooms that this could be accommodated) for the few
residents who need this, fit hoists into other rooms for residents who need
them, this would cost a fraction of the proposed figure.”

hants.gov.uk




31

BiShOpS Waltham House - illustrative comments

Challenges to strategy

“You want to close perfectly suitable homes and build huge 100 bed homes,
which the costs of running will be astronomical. Has a thorough modelling
exercise of the running costs of these proposed homes been undertaken? The
new 100 bed homes will have 100 ensuites — that's 100 bathrooms that need
cleaning every day, 100 bathrooms that will need to be refurbished, etc. Have
the Council considered these additional costs in their future budgets, both the
daily cleaning costs in the revenue budget and the refurbishment costs in the
capital budget?”

“Why is BW not fit for purpose?’ It has been in existence for 40+ years — many
properties in the village are 100s of years old and are still standing. | have
heard that the rooms are not suitable for hoists because the joists in the
building cannot support them — why? Can they not be strengthened? Can a
frame not be built and the hoist operate from that? The proposal also states
the rooms do not meet the required standards of 14mZ2 — this may be the case
for some of the rooms, but many of them are large, or double rooms, giving
residents almost their own space like a lounge, as well as a bedroom”.

o6 abed

“If you need 100 more beds, why have you not considered building one or two
new homes in the County? This again, would be a fraction of the cost of your
proposal.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“Many of the other homes in the vicinity that the proposal mentions will also
not meet the required standards, as they are very old buildings that have been
adapted into care homes. Has the Council looked at any of these homes in
the vicinity and checked the size of their bedrooms?  Your proposal states
your engineers have completed a desktop review — what does this mean?
Why have they not completed a full review? Have they visited site?”

“Can you explain why this home is not being given the 5 years that the other
homes are given? As a member of Bishops Waltham/ Swanmore all my life
and being on a low wage where will people like myself go in the future. 173
million for 100 extra beds?? Good value for money?”

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

“The proposal wants to close the homes starting from 2024 — the new homes
will not be built until at least 2027, probably more like 2028. Where do you
propose the residents will live in the meantime? There are NO spaces at
other care homes locally. It is absolutely ridiculous to close the homes
BEFORE the new ones are built”.

hants.gov.uk




32

Green Meadows (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)

Headline findings

166 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Green Meadows. 58% disagreed with the proposal and 23% agreed. 14% accepted
the proposal but with some concern.

44% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 85% of this group disagreed with the proposal.
12% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 60% of this group agreed with the proposal.

3% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 40% of whom disagreed with the proposal and 40% agreed.

v6 abed

40% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 32% of these agreed and 45% of them
disagreed with the proposal.

The main concerns were:
* loss of established highly valued service within local community
* unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

+ adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




33

Green Meadows
Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

Group 1: Current or former service users and their family/friends Il4°/

73
§ Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home _5% 20 *
@
O
o1
5 *

Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs _ 66

W | agree W | accept the Unsure or W | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns * Caution - low base:

care needed when interpreting results

»>¥ Hampshire

)

¥ County Council hants.gov.uk




Green Meadows - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

Gp1l Number of comments

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 1 H: Group 1:

proposal C t dati d dating to be fit f Current or former service users

urrent accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose I or their family/friends

___________________________________________________________________________________ Group 2:

ot Quality of service is high 14 I Current or former HCC care

About existing ) . 4 home staff/volunteers

; Quality of staff is high 16

services o _ 7 Group 3:

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents 5 - 5 People who live close

Existing facilities are well located . 2 to the sites
““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““ Group 4: 9 *

. . . Any other individuals,

Coxrerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community 23 1 s s orga?]iysgtioirs";r:nguéRss

to(gisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further 22 _ 29
Proposed size of new homes is too large 3 . B Total respondents =74

Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community** 32 2 5
Potential loss of high calibre staff

96 ©
HE

39
** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel 1 I:
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff 2 1 1 - 4
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations 1 :
Invest in existing estate and facilities 3 1 3 - 7
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed 3 B -
Other challenges to strategy 2 1 B
Other Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community . _
* Caution - low base:
Other land / buildings / development comments 1 l 1 care needed when interpreting results



35

GGreen Meadows- illustrative comments

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

“By closing Green Meadows and Bishops Waltham House, you are stripping “The upheaval at [xx] years Q/d would be abso/yte/y devastating for her. The
out any council run care homes in the vicinity and as this is a rural area the move to another care home is completely unfair and not ?af‘f for her at this
travel times to alternatives will add pressure on the relatives who may even point in her life and will put her health and happiness at risk.

struggle to get to visit given the lack of public transport.” , , , - ,
“People with dementia do not cope with change it is very confusing for them.

“My mother loves it there. She will be very distressed to be moved to a new The people that /{'ve in Green Meadows are well cared for and think of Green
place. She does not want to be put in an ostensibly medical environment Meadows as their permanent home.

Q with a hoist that she simply does not need, in a large anonymous institution.” _ - _

L% “Her emotional wellbeing is already suffering as a result of the proposed

o "My elderly friend has built up a rapport with the staff and carers and to changes, and we are very concerned that she has been advised to identify

~ have to do all this again somewhere else at the age she is would be where she wants to live before the consultation process has ended and
incredibly difficult. Alternative homes are a long way away from all she decisions taken.”

knows and would make visiting her much harder.” , -
“l would end up in tears. This is my home. | moved here to be close to my

“It will be more difficult for friends and family to visit if residents are placed family. | was in a care home previously, but this home is better. Staff are very
elsewhere and this will be unsettling to the residents and can increase health hice-.
issues.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




GGreen Meadows - illustrative comments

36

Loss of valued service in the local community

“This home is and has been part of the community for many years. It is well
respected in the village. The staff make it for them . We moved our mum from
Plymouth so she can be near to us as we have lived in the village for 32
years.”

“Green Meadows is an integral part of the local community and has always
been a natural progression point of care for people born and bred in the local
villages. It has good bus routes locally and allows for continuation of
friendships which are vital to the well-being of residents.”

96 obed

“Its location is ideal for us living locally and there are no other council run
premises close by.”

“The home is ideally situated in the centre of an existing community, many of
our family members live within a 4 mile radius and therefore visiting, whilst
Juggling childcare/school runs and other family commitments is easy.”

Hampshire

County Council

‘A great loss to the community with no obvious solution for those who use it.”

“Green Meadows is a well established care home which has caring and
dedicated staff serving the needs of a vulnerable population. It is
conveniently located for local residents in Denmead which has a expanded
population with recent multiple housing developments and a growing elderly
cohort with it.”

“Green Meadows is a huge part of the local community and since covid the
connections and interactions have become stronger. The local school and
nursery are reqular visitors and the residents and children benefit immensely
from this. Green meadows has a positve impact on the village and church
community and would be a great loss.”

“It is important to maintain care facilities close to the communities served.
Upgrading and redevelopment would be better a solution and maintain a
cohesive community.”

hants.gov.uk




37

GGreen Meadows - illustrative comments

Main Impacts and concerns Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
“Of particular concern regarding the proposal, is the number of HCC care homes remaining open
!‘mpaCtS on staff o versus those that are closing, and the transition period of those being refurbished or relocated. In
It will affect my commute as | live in Denmead therefore particular response to Green Meadows, the next closest HCC care homes would be Havant (as
spenaing time ana money exra to get to work. When / applied a new build, and not ready until 2027 at the earliest), and Gosport (which is short-term care
for the role, I wasn't told anything about this (last November) | only). With the alternative being privately-run CQC homes, cost associated with this option would
feel like it’s a new job if | transfer to another home which be expected to rise significantly.”
potentially could be exciting, but | am not very good with
changes and have been very happy in green meadows and like “My view is that there continues to be a need for council residential care for older people who
p My colleagues and residents very much so to split us all up is need care due to infirmity but do not require dementia care. There are many older people who do
S verysad not have family support and advocacy to manage the financial details and demands of private
® . _ and commercial care. | feel that the needs and wishes of these Hampshire residents should have
8 Proposed size of new homes is too large a safe place within non-profit seeking residential services.”
“I disagree 80 beds is beneficial to a patient. It will likely stand to “Bishops Waltham and Denmead are both small communities , that need a HCC care home to
be less personal, may negatively impact the already outstanding provide affordable care for local residents.”

caring status held by Green Meadows.”

“80 resident homes seem to be huge and not conducive to the Reasons in support of proposals
family feel achieved at Green Meadows.”

, , “Investment is required and modernising this location is not a good use of limited resources.”
‘A 'super care home' will lose that personal and community

touch which is so important for the wellbeing of the residents.” “It is an old building and no longer practical to operate services from there.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




GGreen Meadows - illustrative comments

38

About existing services

“l think this home is outstanding, my father is very happy here, up until now the
home has been fit for purpose.”

“This is my mother's home. She is settled, has flourished at this wonderfully run

personal home where she trusts everyone who attends to her day in day out,
roughout the night and she feels SAFE and CONTENT. The staff here are

écept/ona/! They care, they love, they attend, they communicate in such a way
at they make every resident feel safe and happy. My mum and her friends that

l@e has made at Green Meadows deserve their voices to be heard and to keep

@eir home maintained, supported and functioning as the wonderful support that
does. Do NOT even consider closing it!”

“Green Meadows not only offers us close personal links, but it also has excellent
staff, services and is in lovely grounds which helps the residents wellbeing no
end. In fact before choosing Green Meadows, we looked at several affordable
options in the area for my father and Green Meadows was easily the best.”

“Green Meadows is a fantastic home from home where residents are treated with
the upmost care & compassion.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“My mother has blossomed and is so happy with the care. They are like one big
family. Please do not shorten her life by closing it down.”

“In Green Meadows there's a "family feel” and the staff there are wonderful. The
facilities are perfectly adequate.”

“The gardens and spaces available to the residents at Green Meadows provides
a healthy independence that other homes doesn't seem to offer.”

“This is home to my grandmother who thrives here. She feels safe and secure
and is amongst friends she grew up with which is a special thing. The care staff
are absolutely wonderful- they all care!! They know the residents which is
important in understanding their needs and make them feel settled and loved!
Additionally, they learn the family of the residents and make efforts to welcome
everyone at all times. | have seen first-hand the lengths they go to to support not
only my grandmother but her peers and the staff there are outstanding in what
they do. They operate as a team, and you can sense and witness the depth of
trust there. THIS IS REALLY IMPORTANT.”

hants.gov.uk




GGreen Meadows - illustrative comments

39

Challenges to strategy

“The arguments are spurious and flawed. Just because a few residents
may need hoists does not mean ALL residents need hoists! The same
goes for ensuite bathrooms.”

“It would be good for residents of affected care homes and their relatives
to be given a clearer picture of the level of help in finding alternative
accommodation, as well as the timing of these moves.”

“The vast majority of residents have to be taken to the bathroom by
carers, and others are just as able to visit the communal bathrooms —
there has never been an issue to our knowledge for this to be a retro-fitted
requirement but appears as more of a specious justification for closure.
The same is true for hoists and spacing for carers in the bedrooms. It
would be good practice to consult the staff on their opinion before making
the proposals, and for their response to be reported in the proposals for
the purpose of transparency. Otherwise, again this appears to be a
questionable justification for closure.”

TOT obed

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Invest in existing estate and facilities

“The grounds of Green Meadows extend well beyond the footprint of the
existing buildings, and there is substantial room for extending or even
replacing.”

“Green Meadows would only need improvement to the facilities and two
more permanent staff per shift. The grounds are very engaging, well-kept
and secure. Parking is excellent. This proposed closure, is against the
wishes of the vast majority of the staff, residents, family and friends of
Green Meadows. With family needing to travel approximately an extra 8
miles or more per visit, the environment impact is also unacceptable. With
the long leasehold, and the council's poor appetite to sell property - this
site would likely stand empty becoming an eyesore for residents of
Denmead. There are very few positives in this proposal in our view.”

hants.gov.uk




40

GGreen Meadows - illustrative comments

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed Other land / buildings / development comments
“It wouldn't be so bad if the care home stayed open until the new one was built, “It would be helpful to know for Green Meadows, and potentially
and then the residents and staff could move straight across to the new home . | other sites proposed for closure, what HCC intends to do with the
understand that the home isn't fit for purpose, but it would make the closer a bit vacant sites. Denmead village and the surrounding area has seen
easier for staff and residents to know that they would be only moving once and significant residential building in the last few decades, and building
with their friends and the staff they know.” land has significant value. | believe that transparency helps to avoid
accusations of profiteering and the misunderstanding that financial
“It has been made clear that Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme care homes will concerns trump care needs.”

not be closed until the new care homes Oak Park and Kingsworthy are available
for occupancy. This has been flagged at until at least the beginning of 2027. |
understand that this is to minimise the disruption of the existing residents of
Malmesbury Lawn and Kingsworthy and would concur that this is an excellent
idea and demonstrates genuine concern for residents under HCC's care. | would
like to know if the same provisional timescale is being extended to Green
Meadows and other care homes slated for closure? And if not, why not? What
would make the urgency of the closure of the other homes necessary. | do not
know about the other care homes, but | do know that Green Meadows has a very
good CQC rating and there are no reported shortcomings that would endanger
residents or require early closure.”

20T abed

¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




41

Solent Mead (Home) (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)

Headline findings

231 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Solent Mead Home. Many of these also commented on the attached Day Service
proposal. 67% disagreed with the proposal and 18% agreed. 14% accepted the proposal but with some concern.

23% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 79% of this group disagreed with the proposal.
12% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 50% of this group agreed with the proposal and 25% disagreed.

16% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 95% of whom disagreed with the proposal.

€0T obed

47% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 62% of these disagreed with the proposal.

The main concerns were:

* loss of established highly valued service within local community

* less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
+ Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

» Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




42

Solent Mead (Home)

Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home _‘V
Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs - 109

v0T abed

W | agree W | accept the Unsure or m | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns * Caution - low base:

care needed when interpreting results

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

43

In support of

Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quiality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

Concerns /reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

to .(;Hsagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
Q Proposed size of new homes is too large
% Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
- Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
8 Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations

Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Challenges
to strategy

Key considerations for new accommaodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gp1l

10
10

11

27

11
10

16

| =
c
w w3
o
1)
=
o
=h
(@)
o
3
3
(¢}
>
—
(7]

]
N
o
iR
o
N
[

N
~

bI
N
©

—
'_‘|

|
N

] -
N
al
oo o)
= =
o o
=
[N
= o

e

i —
N

Group 1:
Current or former service users
or their family/friends

Group 2:
Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers

Group 3:
People who live close
to the sites

Group 4:
Any other individuals,
organisations and DERs

Unspecified

Base

33

45

2

Total respondents =136

85

** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results



Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

44

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

“What is happening at the moment is to put fear and uncertainty to all the
residents.”

“It is widely accepted by the medical profession that change, particularly major
change such as this, can have a catastrophic impact on the elderly, particularly
ose with any form of dementia. Their emotional and physical well-being is
arlosely linked to the security that comes from familiar routines, environment and
%are staff. My own mother has been in the incredible care of the staff at Solent
Mead for 4 years. She is non-verbal and is therefore unable to express emotions
uch as pain or discomfort. The continuity of the care staff has been vital to
ensure her continued well-being. Her own unique gestures are recognised and
acted upon and she is visibly comforted by the familiar faces of the carers
around her. | can say without any doubt whatsoever that she would find a major
change such as that suggested in these proposals, highly distressing. | am sure
that these exact concerns are shared by the families and loved ones of so many
of the residents of Solent Mead.

“From my point of view people need care, patience, and time, they don't care
about having en-suite facilities. They just want to be treated well and with
dignity, turfing them out of their home is appalling”.

Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

This proposal will reduce the ability of friends and families to maintain links with
people in care. It was incredibly difficult. For my sons to visit their dying father
when he was placed in a Ringwood care home. There is little viable transport to
get from New Milton to Ringwood and the same problem applies all over the
forest if more of these services are centralised. You are cutting people off from
support at the end of their lives. We have all seen that centralising services
=reduction in services, promised home support has never met the needs and
this is probably another service reduction.”

Proposed size of new homes is too large

“If this home closes | believe the proposals for much larger facilities will be
detrimental to the care of the elderly and cannot provide what is required for a
good quality of life.”

“I think it is nicer for older people to be in homes that contain up to 40 residents
rather than much larger homes.”

“Building big (80-100 bed) homes will be impersonal, the residents won't build
up relationships with staff and it won't have that homely feel.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

45

Loss of valued service in the local community

“Solent Mead provides a valuable local service for the vulnerable and elderly
residents of Lymington and Pennington, as well as being an important local
employer.”

“Solent Mead Care Home and the Solent Mead Day Service are valuable
resources in Lymington for elderly people.”

Whe Solent Mead "community" of residents, attendees and care workers can
«@ever be replicated. Their wealth of knowledge, care and especially gooawill will
® lost forever.”

o

“Solent Mead provides an invaluable service for elderly residents of Lymington
who otherwise might be isolated and lonely. It's location in the town means it's
accessible especially as there is a dearth of public transport and taxis are costly.”

“The concept of a care home with a linked day service care and the closeness of
both to the centre of Lymington for Lymington residents is a great service. To do
away with both with no plan to add services of this sort near Lymington centre is

a backwards step.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Impacts on staff

“There is currently no alternative land designated for the replacement home in the
New Forest. The nearest existing home is Ringwood. Many staff members live in
Lymington or Pennington and walk into work. They would not be able to transfer
to a new home so would be made redundant. In a cost of living crisis when
people are struggling to pay the bills, that would be a disgraceful thing for the
County Council to do to people who have served for such a long time”.

“Neither homes are fit for purpose anymore- they pose huge restrictions to being
able to deliver care in the most dignified way (rooms allowing space for
equipment and communal areas not providing adequate space either as an
example). Dependency levels in residential care has progressed and neither
home lends itself to be able to 100% adequately support these anymore. The
current structure of both buildings also means that if a residents needs do
increase, they have to move on sooner than what they potentially need to, so that
their care needs can be met”.

hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

46

Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives

“We need this facility in Lymington. Over the years we have gradually sold off
all our council care home facilities to the private sector. This one has to be
retained for the ever-increasing older sector who cannot afford private care,
also for the ease of relatives visiting.”

“Disgusting decision by the council to consider closing a long standing and
much sought after care home and day service. With an aging population in
;? Lymington, how can closing care facilities in the local community be the

% answer.”

'5 “l do appreciate the need to adapt and respond to the changing needs of Adult

Q0 Social care but the fact that no site has yet been even identified for the New

Forest, let alone commissioned, would mean that the area would have no
residential or day care facilities for many years to come, to service what is
already an aging population. If we consider the number of retirement/ later
living homes currently under construction alone, this demographic is only likely
to increase. Whilst | accept that there is an active private sector serving the
area, the average cost of £1500 per week is beyond the financial means of
many local residents.”

“We have a lot of private residential care facilities in Lymington but little or no
other facilities for those who cannot afford to pay for these type of facilities and
would like to stay in their own home town or local”.

“We need this facility in Lymington. Over the years we have gradually sold off
all our council care home facilities to the private sector. This one has to be
retained for the ever-increasing older sector who cannot afford private care,
also for the ease of relatives visiting”.

“Can you not see that reducing the local capacity for elderly people in council
care homes will increase the need for these elderly people to be relocated to
private homes and these private homes will then increase their costs to the
council negating any possible savings and causing distress to the elderly
residents. This is much needed by local residents in Lymington. You have
already closed The Infirmary and Linden house in New Street.”

“Older people in Lymington have no choice if they cannot afford the extremely
expensive care homes in the private sector. We desperately need affordable
homes in this area. We cannot be cut off from our families and friends, this will
seriously affect our mental and physical health.”

“There is a huge need in Lymington for care for the elderly, this is borne out by
the large number of planning applications for elderly residents, ie Churchill
Homes. However, not everyone in Lymington can afford to buy sheltered
accommodation or can afford care at home. Their needs are met by family and
spouses, usually an elderly spouse, who can also need support by way of
respite for the patient.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

a7

Investment in the existing site and facilities

“Plenty of space on site to expand and modernise. It is an ideal facility with
local workforce. Use our money wisely by staying local and maintaining,
modernising and expanding on site. The land was gifted to the town of
Lymington for community use in the 70's**. It is not County Council land to
selll”

“Given the size of the site, it should be possible to build the new 'Super
Home' on site in 2 stages which would enable the residents and staff to all
remain in situ.”

“If upgrade of the existing buildings cannot meet HCC'’s notional
requirement of bedrooms (ref Care Home Viability model), then the large
area available in the Solent Mead grounds could be used to extend existing
capacity. The site could be developed to host an increased number of
bedrooms, and 80 need not be a limiting number. This would be a both a
logical & humane approach. HCC's current proposal is based on a
“desktop review by structural engineers”, implying that no site visit was
used in judging the suitability of existing Solent Mead buildings for future
development. This itself gives cause for concern.”

60T abed

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“The consultation states that there will be investment in a new New Forest
Care Home at a site to be decided. | believe serious consideration should
be given to using the Solent Mead Site for this purpose for the following
reasons: i) it is a large and extremely under-used site which, after the
demolition of existing SM buildings (excluding the NFDC flats adjacent to
the care home) would provide ample room for a new New Forest Care
Home; ii) there is room for car parking; iii) it is close to High Street and
other amenities + transport facilities; iv) it is close to the extremely well
equipped Lymington New Forest Hospital and v) offers the potential to
provide room for nursing and other staff accommodation.”

“Solent Mead's location just off of Lymington High Street is of huge benefit
to families of the residents, many of whom rely on public transport to visit
their loved ones. Solent Mead provides service for many service users
that require the council to fund their provision of social care, in Lymington
and the surrounding area many of the homes have high costs and as a
result funds deplete quickly and can no longer remain where they are.
Solent Mead has great working relationships with the health professionals
near by and benefits from the GP surgery in the same grounds. Solent
Mead has the potential to support the local hospital with further discharge
to assess beds with Lymington Hospital close by.”

hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

48

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

“No proposed site has yet to be agreed for HCC 80 bedrooms in the New Forest.
HCC Solent Mead currently provides care to vulnerable and low-income
individuals... Solent Mead should remain open until HCC role has refocused
finding, and then building its proposed new New Forest premises.”

“Proposals for closure should not be given until the 'NEW'" accommodation has
DBen built and ready to receive residents. It will take years for planning, building
gc. to be done, most of the existing residents will have passed away by then.”
@D

ﬁnew site in the New Forest area should be purchased before closure is
ensidered.”. “While we appreciate that the Solent Mead building has issues, we
consider that it is completely unacceptable that the Care Home and Day Centre
should be closed before any plan is in place for the re-housing of residents or
relocation of the Day Centre in Lymington. We strongly suggest that Hampshire
County Council work with New Forest District Council to develop a plan which
provides alternative residential and day care facilities in Lymington, which can be
inspected and assessed before considering the closure of the facilities at Solent
Mead.”

“The demand for this is growing exponentially as the population ages,
compounded by the large number of retirement flats being constructed in
Lymington. The site is obviously very valuable given its location, and if Solent
Mead is to close then this must be SUBSEQUENT to a suitable replacement being
available IN LYMINGTON or PENNINGTON using the money which would be made
available from the sale of the site. We have lost the Infirmary and are to lose
Milford Hospital. Why is there no proper planning for the looming age-related
crisis?”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

49

Challenges to strategy

“HCC record in delivering new facilities is very poor. | can only imagine how many
years it will take for you to find a site close to Lymington, build it (on budget!) that
would be big enough for 80 beds. By closing so many centres and just building 3
new ones you are forcing people to live further away from their home and be
further away from family and friends. People in these homes should be able to
stay within their local communities and not gathered en-mass to stay in places
far from home.”

‘WYe believe that closing Solent Mead will make it harder for elderly people in

mington and Pennington who can'’t afford the kind of luxury 24-hour care
Bovided by private care homes in the town to access such care. We do not
E//eve any new site, should it come forward in the next decade, will be close
EMough to our town to make up for the loss of Solent Mead. With an ageing
population in Lymington and Pennington, it doesn’t make sense. Furthermore, we
are concerned that if the County Council does sell the land to a developer, it will
lead to yet another luxury retirement development being built. Lymington and
Pennington already has enough luxury retirement developments being built. We
don’t need anymore. We strongly object to these proposals and oppose any plans
to sell off the land to a developer.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

“The financial case for closure cannot be made until it is possible to include
replacement costs in the assessment. As no location has been given for the
proposed replacement, there is a considerable risk that any replacement
eventually chosen will not be placed optimally to suit the Lymington catchment
area. As no cost-benefit case has yet been presented, it must be supposed that
private sector provision has not been ruled out, in spite of the acknowledged
deficiencies in the care and treatment of dementia cases in that sector.”

hants.gov.uk




50

Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments

About existing services

“Solent Mead is and always has been a centre of excellence for the elderly. Solent
Mead is also the last council care home in Lymington and must not close.”

“I have worked at Solent Mead for nearly 20 years and such lovely friendly home
the residents are well looked after with excellent standard care.”

“Solent Mead care home is conveniently appointed for the town centre and the
surgery. Facilities are exceptional for dementia patients as well as those who are
mobile. Activities kept residents occupied and motivated whilst staff were
considerate of needs. We were able to visit anytime and consult with staff on
matters of concern to my partially sighted father-in-law. The security offered and
the cheerfulness of residents enabled us to feel at ease.”

21T abed

“I cared for patients in Solent Mead for many years as a GR The standard of care is
exceptional.”

“Since my grandmother has been a resident at Solent Mead, we have taken great
comfort in the knowledge that she is receiving the best care from an incredible
community who genuinely love and care for her..... We as a family are eternally
grateful for what Solent Mead have managed to do for my grandmother, please
don’t take all she deserves away from her.”

Hampshire

County Council hants.gov.uk




51

Solent Mead (Day Service) (proposed closure)

Headline findings

204 who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Solent Mead Day Service. 73% disagreed with the proposal and 14% agreed. 10%
accepted the proposal but with some concern.

18% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 81% of this group disagreed with the proposal.
10% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 43% of this group agreed with the proposal and 24% disagreed.
28% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 90% of whom disagreed with the proposal.

51% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” of whom 72& disagreed with the
proposal.

¢TT obed

The main concerns were:

» Loss of established highly valued service within local community
» Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further

* unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

* The strategy being driven primarily by financial considerations

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




52

Solent Mead (Day Service)

Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

Group 1: Current or former service users and their family/friends .
Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home _ 10% 21 *
Group 3: People who live close to the sites

Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs -l 105

yTT abed

36

m | agree W | accept the Unsure or W | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns * Caution - low base:

care needed when interpreting results

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




53

Solent Mead (Day Service) — reasons and impacts provided by interest group

In support of

Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

Concerns /reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

to .(;Hsagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
Q Proposed size of new homes is too large
% Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
- Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
a Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations

Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Challenges
to strategy

Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gpl

Gp2 Gp3
1

1 2

1

2 1

1

4

1 3

1 1

2 3

2

3 26
1

1

1 9

2

2 2
1
1

1 1

Gp 4

Z
c
3
o
@
@
o
=3
(@}
o
3
3
®
=)
~—
»

Group 1:
Current or former service users
or their family/friends

[

-—
w

Group 2: 9 *

- 14 Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers
- ! Group 3: 32
_ 16 People who live close
- 5 to the sites
Group 4. 5p

Any other individuals,
organisations and DERs

[N
~

=
©

Unspecified 2

[ |
N

Total respondents = 120

N
o

‘m

84
** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

|
N

. w
a o1 B o>
-
-
@
NS
[

N

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results

] b
N

w



54

Solent Mead (Day Service) - illustrative comments

Loss of established highly valued service within local
community

“There are no plans to replace either of these facilities for obvious
budgetary considerations and it is very sad that a valuable community
asset such as this will be lost for ever Only the rapacious property
developers will benefit, as it's unlikely ever to be used for affordable
housing, or for anything that could benefit the community as a whole.”

“The Day centre is also a well-loved facility used by dementia groups. It is
a strange strategy to claim you are focusing on specialist dementia care
and then close a facility which provides it. If you close Solent Mead, then
you must build a replacement in Lymington - not elsewhere in the Forest.”

9TT abed

“The Day Centre is a town centre haven for older folk.”

“When it comes to the Day Centre, there is a wealth of evidence about
the importance of socialising and physical activity as we get older, and
these activities are essential for mental, emotional and physical health.
Lymington has a higher than average number of older people, so to take
away the only Day Centre in the town is absolutely unacceptable and very
short-sighted.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

“The impact on the mental health of the users will be severe in losing their
significant social infrastructure. This is not appreciated or taken into
account when assessing the proposition.”

“My Brother goes to the day centre, and it has been a lifeline for him and
myself. He is from Lymington and is very happy to go twice a week. The
staff are amazing, and we would be devastated if it closes.”

“The main reason he attends is companionship and the warm welcome he
receives. Solent Mead residential care home and Day Centre have been
a great service to Lymington. | hope finance will not come before
customer care.”

“I'm a bit worried about going to a different place with different staff.
Coming to a day centre gets me out of the home. | spend a lot of time
alone - I've got a couple of sisters who help me usually, but | like to see
different people I'd like to keep everything as it as for as the people are
concerned. | don't want to travel too far.”

hants.gov.uk




55

Solent Mead (Day Service) - illustrative comments

Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further Strategy is primarily driven by financial considerations

“The closure of the day centre which have a huge effect on “Removing the day care facility from Lymington is short-sighted and unnecessary and
the families and service users that make use of this for respite appears to be driven predominantly by short-term financial considerations.”

purposes whereby the service user does not require 24 hour

care. What other services that are not extortionately priced “Numbers of people attending have declined but | wonder if more people were aware of
are they meant to use! With an aging population we should be the facility they would increase. We must try to keep a Day Centre in Lymington with all
building more not closing these places!” the elderly people in the area if it was recommended by social services, | am sure

numbers will increase.”
“The Day Centre ...must be given some priority in retaining

such a facility within the boundaries of Lymington and “What work has been done to promote the services at the Day Centre e,g, for day respite
Penn/ngton. Travel to an outside faCIllty would debar many of care for peop/e Current/y //\//ng in the Commun/'['y?”

those for which it is now provided and reduce any respite time

for carers considerably. | speak from experience where my

wife attended on a regular basis and talking to other users of

the facility. Please do NOT take this decision lightly; the effect

on many people both users and carers will be significant.”

/TT obed

Solent Mead day care my wife was offered a space prior to
residency. It was an invaluable service which likely saved my
life when no other day centre would accept her. She loved
going there.”

¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




56

Emsworth House (proposed site modernisation and expansion)

Headline findings

81 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Emsworth House. 63% agreed with the proposal and 7% disagreed. 25% accepted the
proposal but with some concern.

7% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 50% of this group agreed with the proposal and 17% disagreed.
21% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 71% of this group agreed with the proposal.

7 of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 67% of whom agreed with the proposal.

8TT obed

62% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 62% of these agreed and 10% of them
disagreed with the proposal.

The majority of comments received related to
* Reasons to support the proposal
» Challenges/ suggestions for the strategy

» Considerations for new accommodation

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

» Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




57
Emsworth House
Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home _-6% 17 *
Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs _-6% S0

W | agree m | accept the
with the proposal proposal but

| have some concerns

6TT obed

Unsure or

m | disagree
have no view

with the proposal

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results

»~ Hampshire
S County Councll

hants.gov.uk



58

Emsworth House - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

Gpl Gp2 Gp3 Gp4 Numberofcomments Base
In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 2 1 1 I - Groupl:  p *
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose 1 2 1 1 Current Or;?mq;rr fsfmf,ﬁr:fféz
___________________________________________________________________________________ Group 2: 3 *
About existing Qualiy of senice is igh : . e e e
services Quality of staff is high 1 - 1 Group 3 .
Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents 1 - 1 People who live close 4
Existing facilities are well located 0 to the sites
““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““““ Group 4: 7 *
chcerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community 1 I Orgggégigirs'gﬂg'guéss'
tdQisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further 0
2 Proposed size of new homes is too large 1 B : Unspecified 1
N Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives 1 - 1 Total respondents =17+
o Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition 0
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs 1 1 _ 2
Loss of established highly valued service within local community 0
Potential loss of high calibre staff 0
Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel 0
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost 0
Other impacts on staff 1 - 1
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services 0
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations 0
Invest in existing estate and facilities 0
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed 0
Other challenges to strategy 1 3 R -
Other Key considerations for new accommodation 1

OI
N

Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community . _
- * Caution - low base:
Other land / buildings / development comments 0 care needed when interpreting results



59

Emsworth House - ilustrative comments

Reasons in support of proposals

“The residential side of Emsworth is too small with long corridors leading to
too small lounges. It is difficult to improve the space within the existing

footprint.”

“Any work HCC can do to ease the journey into old age and meet the
requirements of the ageing population for the residents of East Hants is to be

applauded.”
“I think it can make a great difference in the quality of care with modern

"Residential rooms do need upgrading though and connexion to both side of
facilities .*

the buildings too.”

“I recognise that the accommodation is not appropriate for the needs of

U “/ do understand that you now want to provide places for people with very
residents, particularly the lack of en-suite facilities.”

8 complex dementia needs, because when my relative was at this stage in her
@ jliness there were very few places available or suitable to meet her needs.”
|_\

N
= “I think it's a very ambitious proposal which demonstrate that Hampshire are
serious about providing a high standard of care for their clients.”

¥~ Hampshire
hants.gov.uk

@ County Council




2cT abed

Emsworth House - ilustrative comments

60

Service design suggestions

“Suggestions for the new build based on my experience as a carer & following previous rebuild -
. Ensure corridors small communal sittings areas with a window, where clients can sit & be
stimulated whilst looking out the windows. These areas will also help maintain their mobility by
offering an area to rest whilst walking long distances. Ensuring there is a large communal area
for activities and social events with large windows looking out on community activity.”

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

“Concerns for the management of transferring the clients from the residential to the nursing side
whilst the new build takes place - concern for the clients to be able to maintain the familiarity of
staff & the knowledge as them as individuals.”

“My relative had six weeks recuperation at Emsworth House and we had nothing but praise for
the staff and accommodation and if this has not changed then the residents, and their relatives,
who will have to leave will find the move very upsetting.”

Challenges/ suggestions to strategy

“You say that care residents will have to move out
during construction. Could you time this so that it
occurs after Oak Park is complete, so that residents
can move to another HCC care home that is local?”

“Very large site already, more beds may make
running of the site more complicated.”

“Currently this home requires improvement in 3
areas if the latest CQC Inspection Report is to be
believed. Previous reports over the last 4-5 years
have been similar. This is concerning that the
proposal is to significantly increase bed numbers. |t
is fairly obvious that there are already staffing issues
and management issues therefore without
addressing these problems will mean that more
vulnerable people will be put at risk with the
increased beds”.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




61

Emsworth House - ilustrative comments

Inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

“I'm concerned that Hampshire is proposing to cease their residential care offer. I'm worried about where my relative will be placed so their care needs
will be met.”

“Whilst as a local GP Practice we welcome the development of well-run specialist homes to cater to the needs of Elderly Mentally Infirm (EMI) service users, we are
very concerned about this proposal. The reason for our concerns centre around the proposed GP cover for such a large EMI home. Currently EMP provides cover
to the current Residential and Nursing Homes on the site. This is on a normal patient registration basis on a General Medical Service Contract (GMS) meaning that
the service users are provided with the same level of access to GP services as the other 15,000 registered patients. That said, EMP aims to provide both homes
with a ward round once a week to deal with any problems and has done so for many years. The costs of providing this extra medical cover is borne by the Practice
as Hampshire County Council have never offered any specific contract to the Practice despite assurances at the outset that this would be the case when the nursing
home was developed. Over this time the complexity of the patients has increased as the nursing home side has evolved into a step-down facility for the acute
services provided at Queen Alexandra Hospital. As a result, demands on the Practice have grown and this has had a significant negative impact on our access for
our other patients. | would argue the current situation is unsustainable. A care home the size of Emsworth House needs its own contracted daily medical cover.

This need cannot be provided via GMS contract indefinitely. So please be aware, that when planning the new EMI home, Emsworth Medical Practice will not be able
to provide medical cover on a GMS basis. We would ask that the Practice is involved in any future discussions regarding medical cover.”

c2T obed

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




62

Oakridge House (proposed site modernisation and expansion)

Headline findings

77 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Oakridge House. 65% agreed with the proposal and 6% disagreed. 22% accepted the
proposal but with some concern.

13 % of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. % of this group disagreed with the proposal.
17% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 85% of this group agreed with the proposal and 10% disagreed.

4% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 67% of whom agreed with the proposal.

v2T abed

64% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 65% of these agreed and 8% of them
disagreed with the proposal.

The majority of comments received related to

* Reasons to support the proposal

» Considerations / suggestions for new accommodation

+ Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

* Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Oakridge House

Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base

Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home

< 8%

GeT obed

Group 3: People who live close to the sites

Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs

65% 18% 8% 49

u | agree m | accept the Unsure or m | disagree
with the proposal proposal but

have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns

* Caution - low base:

care needed when interpreting results
»~ Hampshire
S County Councll

hants.gov.uk



Oa kridge House - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

64

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

chcerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
tdQisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
® Proposed size of new homes is too large
Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community

Potential loss of high calibre staff

9¢T

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Other Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gp 2
1

Gp3 Gp4
1 6
1
1
1
1
1
1

Number of comments

I 0

Base

Group 1: 7 *
Current or former service users
or their family/friends

Group 2: 2 *
Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers

Group 3: 2 *
People who live close
to the sites

Group 4: 11 *
Any other individuals,
organisations and DERs

Unspecified 1

Total respondents = 23+

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results



Oakridge House - illustrative comments

65

Reasons in support of proposals

“l think the proposed expansion would provide a much needed increase in
capacity for the area.”

“Oakridge House has been providing care for many years. It is located in and
around a community that is ageing and provides a much needed service. The
modification and expansion should help to provide that service efficiently going
forward.”

o

8 “l do think that modernisation is required at Oakridge house and ensuite

@ facilities in each room will make day to day living and management easier for

t residents and staff.”

\l
| agree with the overall proposals which will update existing provision to
present day standards and provide more specialist nursing care.”

“There is a local need for more places for people with complex medical
conditions and/or dementia.”

“This will improve services.”

“The residential side of Oakridge is too small, bedrooms to small to

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

accommodate all of the equipment required to care for the residents fully.
Being set within a residential area, staffing shouldn't be a concern, also offers
an opportunity to become more immersed into the community.”

“The residential side is in dire need of renovations.”

“l welcome the planned investment in Oakridge House as the residential care
environment is clearly in need of modernisation to enhance the experience of
residents, and to allow the excellent care team to continue to provide support
to people with increasing levels of frailty.”

“The corridors of the upstairs of the home are very narrow and there isn't many
spaces for my wife to move around in - she is very active and always on the
move. There is a sense of being 'trapped' in the home so expansion and
improvements are welcomed.”

hants.gov.uk




Oakridge House - illustrative comments

66

Inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

“With an aging population, an expansion of 100 extra beds is Hampshire is ridiculous. Maybe
7000 in this consultation and 10,000 over 10 years would better reflect the need and end
hospital bed blocking.”

“I note that the proposal appears to reduce the number of beds available at the home, as a
relative of a full-time resident this is concerning.”

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

82T abed

“l am concerned on the impact of moving my relative and other relatives to alternative
accommodation. My relative has built up good friendship and support structures with the
current residents and staff and will be unsettled by a change in where they are living.”

“If older people move out this would definitely be detrimental to their mental & physical health.”

“Relocation of some residents could be unsettling and lead to deterioration of their health and
wellbeing.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Suggestions for new accommodation

“I hope that with extension and improvements to
Oakridge House that the lift will also be replaced and
possibly another one included, so that it is easier for
me to access upstairs.”

“Oakridge house is next to Oakridge tower which is a
success high rise retirement home. Therefore, any
expansion could be a matching high-rise block and fit
on site and be in keeping with the area and provide
hundreds of much needed beds.”

hants.gov.uk




67

Oakridge House - illustrative comments

Other comments

“Oakridge house is next to Oakridge tower which is a success high rise retirement home. Therefore any expansion could be a matching high rise block and fit on site
and be in keeping with the area and provide hundreds of much needed beds.”

“I note that the proposal appears to reduce the number of beds available at the home, as a relative of a full time resident this is concerning.”

“The parish of East Woodhay is sited in North Hampshire close to the Newbury border. It is mainly a rural community, dependant on private transport as the provision of
public transport in the area is poor. Although most of the shopping services are provided by Newbury due to its proximity. However, most public services are provided by
U Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council. Therefore, the community has a focus on Basingstoke rather than other nearby Hampshire towns. The parish has poor

g provision for care homes and is reliant on two private homes. Therefore, the community would support the expansion of care in Basingstoke if it is proposed to support
® the North Hampshire community as well as Basingstoke.”

6C1

¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

hants.gov.uk



68

Ticehurst (proposed site modernisation and expansion)

Headline findings

77 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Ticehurst. 69% agreed with the proposal. 14% accepted the proposal but with some
concerns and 8% disagreed.

8% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 67% of this group agreed with the proposal. And 33% disagreed.
22% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 82% of this group agreed with the proposal.

4% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, All of them agreed with the proposal.

0¢T abed

65% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 62% of these agreed with the proposal.

Most of the comments related to:
» Support for the proposal
» Other suggestions/ challenges to the strategy

* Impacts on staff

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




69

Ticehurst
Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group

Base
[0) (0]
Group 1: Current or former service users and their family/friends 6 *
g-? Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home 17 *
«Q
o)
|_\
w . . *
= Group 3: People who live close to the sites 3

Group 4: Any other individuals, organisations and DERs _- 12% 50

W | agree | | accept the Unsure or m | disagree

with the proposal proposal but... have no view with the proposal * Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Ticehurst- reasons and Impacts provided by interest group

70

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

chcerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
tdQisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
® Proposed size of new homes is too large
Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

cel

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Other Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gpl Gp2z2
2

Gp3 Gp4

2

5

Number of comments

[

Base

Group 1: 1 *
Current or former service users
or their family/friends

Group 2: 5 *
Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers

Group 3: 2 *
People who live close
to the sites

Group 4: 11 *
Any other individuals,
organisations and DERs

Total respondents =19+

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results



71

Ticehurst -iilustrative comments

Reasons in support of the proposal

“Very large site already, Kitchen needs completely refurbishing and
relocation. Residential side needs upgrading?” “The modification and expansions at Ticehurst will allow residents to have

quality of life as well as the staff will have good working environment.”

th

‘As an employee of Ticehurst, | can see that Ticehurst is desperately in need

of modernisation. This will only benefit the residents living in the home and “The residential side is too small, although the design of a square is ideal for
those coming in the future as they will have facilities that are fit for purpose. It dementia, rather that long rambling corridors.”

will also make it easier for staff to carry out their work.”

g-? “More places are needed in the local area so that families are not separated
Q “/ think the proposed expansion would provide a much needed increase in from elderly relatives living in homes far away that they cant afford / are

(:\ capacity for the area.” unable to travel to.”

w

w

“Great to have an older provision/building in the area upgraded to suit current
need.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




72

Ticehurst -iilustrative comments

Impacts on staff

“Staffing is a big concern due to its location on the Surrey boarder - and insufficient pay rates in line with Surrey for ancillary services including catering?”

“I believe the home struggles to recruit in this area, so staffing may be costly?”

“Ticehurst is on the Surrey boarder and staffing is very difficult, both in terms of numbers of people looking for work but also the pay rates being lower in HCC.
Several key positions are difficult to recruit too, even with pay enhancements. If the home was even larger how would this be addressed if staff could not be sought.”

yeT abed

Suggestions/ challenges to strategy

“In order to minimize transport impact to families and the environment the council (Rushmoor BC) would like to be assured that additional places being created
should be prioritized to demand arising from the local Rushmoor. We would also expect to see that the building works will be tendered to locally based companies.”

¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




73

Ticehurst - ilustrative comments

Suggestions/ challenges to strategy ctd

“The NHS partners of the Frimley Integrated Care System collectively recognise the significant investment in services to ensure they are fit for the future and
appropriate for the patients within our population and we welcome the integrated approach taken with this consultation. On discussion with our system partners
there have been some points that we feel should be considered in this process and they are documented below.

1. Effect on existing health systems It is proven that residents of care homes require more reqular contact from health services due to their frailty, multimorbidity and
complexity. This would include their registered GP practice and community services. It could also impact on local mental health services.  The current resilience
and status of these services should therefore be taken into consideration when developing a strategy for long-term and short-term standard residential and/or
nursing services for Older Adults. All agencies will need to work closely together to provide the high-quality care that our patients need and deserve. We at
Frimley ICB would welcome the opportunity to develop a collaborative approach between the three main commissioners of services when planning future bed
provision e.g. HIOW and Frimley ICBs and HCC.

‘Standard’ residential care We recognise that this consultation indicates a shift from providing a combination of standard residential, dementia and nursing care,

particularly at Ticehurst to full Nursing and Dementia care only and we appreciate the dialogue during this consultation around the reasoning behind this. It has

been made clear that there is sufficient private residential beds and that this would be a more cost effective use of council resource. We do, however, think it is
important to understand whether there will be a net reduction in residential home beds locally in North-East Hampshire and would welcome data to support this.

3. Ticehurst redevelopment It is clear that the development of Ticehurst would be a positive impact for our population and we have been given assurances that this
will not affect the short-term services (STS) beds that we currently collaboratively commission at Ticehurst. We would welcome the opportunity to be closely
involved in this redevelopment with particular reference to how the STS beds may be configured in the future.

4. Staffing We recognise that the developments proposed in this consultation will require additional staffing due to the complexity of patients. With a national
shortage of healthcare staff we feel that it is important that the staffing models are worked on in partnership and we would welcome the opportunity to develop
any such plans together. Our position at Frimley ICB is that we support the proposals in the consultation as it is however it is important that the models of care for
patients are factored into future plans. We are committed to being a proactive partner with Hampshire County Council to ensure the best possible outcome for
our residents and welcome being fully involved in the next steps of this process.”

GeT abed
N>

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




74

Westholme (proposed closure and relocation to nearby new build sites)

Headline findings

103 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Westholme. 50% agreed with the proposal. 15% accepted the proposal but with some
concerns and 26% disagreed.

10% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 70% of this group disagreed with this proposal and 30% agreed.

20% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 81% of this group agreed with the proposal.

g 10% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 50% of whom agreed with the proposal and 10% disagreed.
()

= 60% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 43% of these agreed and 31% of them
0 disagreed with the proposal.
o

The most comments related to:

» Support for the proposal

» Other suggestions and challenges to strategy

* Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives

* Land/ building/ development

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




75

Malmesbu ry Lawn (proposed closure and relocation to nearby new build sites)

Headline findings

92 people who submitted a Response Form responded to the proposal for Westholme. 50% agreed with the proposal. 18% accepted the proposal but with some
concerns and 24% disagreed.

7% of respondents were residents/ former residents or family/ friends. 70% of this group disagreed with this proposal and 30% agreed. 15% accepted the proposal
with some concerns.

20% of respondents were in the “staff/ former staff” group. 81% of this group agreed with the proposal.

o
g 4% of respondents were people whose stated interest was as someone living close to the home, 50% of whom agreed with the proposal and 10% disagreed.

0]
= 66% of respondents were people in the Group “other interested individuals, organisations or elected representatives” 43% of these agreed and 31% of them

~J disagreed with the proposal.
The most comments related to:
» Support for the proposal
» Other suggestions and challenges to strategy
» Considerations for new accommodation
* Loss of established highly valued service within local community

¥ Hampshire

® cou ntprounciI hants.gov.uk




76

Westholme and Malmesbury Lawn
Level of agreement with proposals overall and by interest group

Westholme Base Malmesbury Lawn Base

Group 1: Current or former service users and their family/friends 6 *
o
Q
3

Group 2: Current or former staff/volunteers at an HCC care home % 21 * 9% '11%% 19 *
w
(00]

4 *

Group 3: People who live close to the sites 40% 10% [

u | agree m | accept the Unsure or m | disagree
with the proposal proposal but have no view with the proposal
| have some concerns * Caution - low base:

care needed when interpreting results

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




77

Westholme - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

Gpl Gp2 Gp3 Gp4 Numberof comments Base

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 1 1 N - Group1l: g *
proposal C dati d dati be fit f Current or former service users
urrent accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose 3 2 L or their family/friends

———————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————— Group 2: 5 *
Quality of service is high Current or former HCC care

About existing
services

Quality of staff is high home staff/volunteers
Group 3: 6 *

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents People who live close

Existing facilities are well located 2 1 _ 3 to the sites

Group 4: *
Any other individuals, 6

Concerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community organisations and DERs

to .(;Hsagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
Q Proposed size of new homes is too large
Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives 1 1
Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition 1 1l
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs
Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

Total respondents = 20*

6ST o6

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed 1 1 e

Other challenges to strategy 2 1 1 _ 4

Other Key considerations for new accommodation 1 H:
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments 2 1

* Caution - low base:
3 care needed when interpreting results




78

Westholme -illustrative comments

Reasons in support of the proposal

‘Age of the building , facilities , space for person's needs , legal requirements

building regulations , specialist support.” “l think the proposals are great and take into account the increasing

prevalence of dementia in the UK. A new, purpose-built facility with proper
equipment in every room for residents will promote independence and quality

‘I have, in the past, visited friends at Westholme - and could see that it does £l
of life.

not easily look as though it could be brought up to the standard now

required.”
g “The relocation to Kingsworthy should ensure that the home can be reached

“I think the redevelopment of the Cornerways site in Kings Worthy is an easily by public transport. This is important to visitors and stafr.”

excellent idea, especially if it provides more up to date accommodation. It is
currently a wasted asset. Also given its proximity to the current site, |
consider that both residents' relatives & home staff would not suffer
significant disruption.”

ot T abed

“The residential side of Westholme is too small with small corridors and small
bedrooms. The relocation to a larger site will improve the service as more
space within the building can be provided, to accommodate larger specialist
equipment and larger community space for residents to enjoy.”

“Pleased that the residents won’t move until new facility opens.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




T T obed

Westholme -illustrative comments

Less local care choice and dependency on private sector
alternatives

“It all depends if the new home will be in Winchester. When my mother was in
Westholme it was fairly easy for me to visit but if it was located outside
Winchester it would have been difficult without any transport. There already
seems to be a shortage of care homes for the elderly in Winchester and to
move residents away from their loved ones is very cruel.”

“This will reduce local provision for care. Whilst newer facilities are necessary

and temporary arrangements might be necessary during any upgrades, unless
new care is provided closer to the city centre where bus services have not yet
been axed, it remains unclear what benefit this closure has.”

“Winchester does not have enough care facilities and this home is one of the
best one to support local residents”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Land/ buildings/ developments

“It would be helpful to know what the Council then intends to do with the land.
Presumably it will be sold off to developers who will be allowed to build a high
number of houses on it adding to the danger that is the Harestock Road and
the increased congestion in Winchester?”

There are two homes on the Cornerways site. Are they both being rebuilt.

Suggestions/ challenges to strategy

“It s a shame you spent money on an extension to it more recently in 2014 not
Just in 2005 and mention of this is rather disingenuously not made in your
consultation pack.”

“l am concerned as so much funding went into building nursing side and d2a
side and into renovation after flooding. It's a pity!”

“Does closing it lead to a reduction in capacity?”

79

hants.gov.uk




80

I\/Ialmesbury L awn - reasons and impacts provided by interest group

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

About existin
g Quality of staff is high

services o N .
Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located
chcerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

td%isagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
Proposed size of new homes is too large

'E Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
N Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**

Potential loss of high calibre staff

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost

Other impacts on staff

Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Other Key considerations for new accommodation

Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gp3 Gp4 Numberof comments Base
U I - P
Current or former service users
0 or their family/friends
________________ Group 2: g8 *
1 Current or former HCC care
1 - - home staff/volunteers
I - Group3: g *
1 - 1 People who live close
to the sites
““““““““ Group 4: 4 *
Any other individuals,
- 1 organisations and DERs
0
Unspecified 1
0
0 Total respondents =17+
0
0
I -
- 1 ** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)
0
H
0
0
0
0
0
1 I -
1 I -
0 * Caution - low base:
1 1 care needed when interpreting results




81

I\/Ialmesbury Lawn - illustrative comments

Reasons in support of the proposal

A new home would allow us to see the resident through all
stages, at Malmesbury Lawn once their needs become too high
for our staff to effectively manage, we refer onto nursing, meaning
we lose that relationship and the person is forced to trust new
people, in the new building we would be able to see them through
onto nursing and not lose those relationships and continuity which
is so important for successful dementia care.”

Mgalmesbury Lawn care home has an amazing staffing group and

os around Dementia Care. We are restricted by the
gpvironment on how much further we can progress with in this
@rvironment. the level of need within Malmesbury lawn is the
@hest it has ever been, the living at home longer has impacted
care homes and forced a change to happen.”

“I believe this is something that is long overdue and HCC are
finally looking to the future for the care of the elderly, Malmesbury
Lawn is a lovely home but as with most of the homes it does need
more up to date facilities so to build a larger and more modern
home to meet the current and future needs of the older
community is a massive commitment by HCC and | am proud to
be able to be here to see this happen. | look forward to being able
to see and maybe even work in the new home.”

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

Loss of established highly valued service within local community

“Very much part of the community which you would lose if moved. Local people work there, and a lot
of the residents are local.”

Considerations for future accommodation

“Will you build in facilities for day care as well at Oak Park? The traditional model is to take people
during the day that gives carers respite and/or allows them to work. The newer model is to also
accommodate groups of people with dementia, with a leader, who create community for themselves.
In addition there are a number of dementia oriented activities that you could offer to the community, eg
memory cafe, carers groups, NHS older peoples mental health training for carers and people with
dementia. This would establish you as the local centre of excellence and provide an informal
pipleline/referral service into your residential and nursing care. For many people, the best option is to
keep people with dementia at home for as long as possible. Building support for this into your
residential homes makes sense as you already have a centre of expertise there.”

“I would like to see that a replacement home is low key, appears to be on a domestic scale and style.
My mother had dementia and is now deceased. She had short stay care at Malmesbury Lawn which
took place alongside residential care. This home is based in the community and staffed by local
people. It felt owned by the staff team who showed understanding of the needs of my mother, and no
doubt many others, for domestic routines, such as tidying and washing up (on a very small scale).
There was direct access to a safe garden area, and the building was low key with relatively normal
room sizes. These features are important to help older people to feel comfortable and not intimidated
by large rooms and confusing designs.”

hants.gov.uk




82

Reasons and impact responses made across
multiple proposals

v T abed

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk



83

Reasons and impact responses made across multiple proposals

Respondents who expressed their views on more than one proposal were offered the option to provide reasons and describe impacts in relation to each individual
proposal separately or to make general comments across their responses. \Where comments were made against a specific proposal, these were coded to the relevant
proposals and feature in those sections. Where the comments were more general in nature, these have been analysed separately. 95 respondents chose to submit a
general comment and their responses are presented on the next slide.

Many of the same key themes appear from this analysis as per individual proposals but it is worth noting that over 70% of these responses are from the responder
Group 4: “Any other interested individuals, organisations or democratically Elected Representatives”, who tended to be more positive in their comments.
(Groups 1 and 3 by their nature were more focused on local and specific proposals.)

—u People answering reasons and impacts across multiple proposals most commonly gave reasons relating to
Q

@ * Support for the proposals

* unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

adverse impacts on relatives including the need to travel further

inadequacy of overall provision to meet local needs

* less local care choice and dependency on private sector alternatives

[HEN
N
ol

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Reasons and impact responses made across multiple proposals (by interest group)

Number of comments

84

Gpl Gp2 Gp3 Gp4 Base
In supportof  Etficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs 5 1 . Group1l: g *
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose 1 7 18 L ouen Or;?;?e?rr bl
] ylfriends
___________________________________________________________________________________ Group 2: 12 *
About existing Qualty ofservics i Hih 2 0 e S
services Quality of staff is high 0 Group 3. .
Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents 1 16 People who live close >
Existing facilities are well located 9 to the sites
———————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————— Group 4: 69
. . . Any other individuals,
Eoncems / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community 2 1 1 1 organisations and DERs
@ disagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further 1 10
@ Proposed size of new homes is too large 2 unspecified 1
'E Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives 1 17 Total respondents =95
o Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition 1 N E
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs 2 3 20
Loss of established highly valued service within local community** 1 1 2 1B - »* (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)
Potential loss of high calibre staff 1 1 N s
Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel 1 1 2 1 -
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost . 5
Other impacts on staff 2 s N -
Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services 1 3 B>
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations 1 6 - 5
Invest in existing estate and facilities 7 - 4
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed 1 2 1N
Other challenges to strategy 4 TN
Other Key considerations for new accommodation 1 1 3

Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

* Caution - low base:
care needed when interpreting results

]
-
0



85

Reasons and impact relating to multiple proposals - ilustrative comments

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose
“These services are wonderful homes, but occupancy has been low over
the past few years, with people choosing to move to private provisions at a
greater cost to HCC. The buildings are no longer fit for purpose to care for
the individuals that require our care and services. The residential sites are
unable to accommodate people who do not qualify for a nursing bed
leaving many people without a HCC care bed and requiring the private
sector. If we are clear and transparent with the possible closures people
can begin to make plans or we are able to stop admissions reducing the
impact to people in our care and their families. Providing new buildings
with our existing nursing homes creates one standard and a much nicer
and safer environment to live and work in.”

/T obed

Adverse impacts on relatives including the need to travel

further

“Closure and relocation means that the services can not be accessed by
people who can not or should not drive. It reduces the ability for residents
to access amenities close to friends and relatives, often residing in
communities for many years. Closing these facilities also means that often
they are forced to move a long way from home and or family. Studies show
that engaged residents are healthier, both physically and emotionally. This
reduces the overall care costs and strain on the NHS and families.”

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
“Elderly residents currently residing across each of these care homes
deserve their right to stay in the place they know as "home" in peace
during the final years of their lives, where they always feel welcome and
looked after by trained, qualified, experienced care home staff members
who know these elderly people like family. To be clear, closing down these
care homes will not only disrupt these elderly residents’ lives but also
deprive future generations of access to these vital services within their own
community, where such facilities need to remain accessible in light of this
country's ageing population so that their needs are catered for - without
them, these same people are left abandoned despite requiring specialised
care close to their loved ones; here's where proximity to family has been
proven by numerous studies to improve the mental health and overall well-
being of elderly individuals in long-term care settings.”

Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on

higher needs

“The proposals are borne out of a commitment to provide modern,
effective care concentrating on those areas which are most needed, and
not necessarily served as well by the wider care market. The impact will
ultimately be positive for Hampshire residents and those working in the
sector.”

hants.gov.uk




86

Reasons and impact relating to multiple proposals - ilustrative comments

Inadequacy of overall provision to meet local needs
“The closure of all of these dramatically impacts on the
availability of local care facilities. The extension, improvement
or replacement of facilities in Aldershot, Leigh Park and
Winchester do not provide new or replace local care facilities.
There may well be an argument for replacing or extending
local care services within the private sector, but this MUST be
done alongside and preferably ahead of any reduction in
existing facilities.”

-
Q
Q
(9]
H
N
oo

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

less local care choice and dependency on private sector

alternatives

“The closure of Bishops Waltham House is unnecessary and will cause
severe disruption to vulnerable residents, and will remove a much-needed
facility in the area (which has evidently had its number of residents run-
down over recent years, artificially portraying a lower level of
demand/need). The suggestion that there are 75 homes and 15 nursing
homes within ten miles of Bishops Waltham House is entirely misleading,
particularly regarding those homes' willingness to take publicly-funded
residents, and indeed the availability of spaces. The financial case has not
been proven or evidenced, included in the July 2023 Cabinet Decision
Report. Current staff are excellent and their contribution towards the HCC
care sector will be decimated if the home is closed. lts adaptation to meet
current higher standards is not necessary as the care needs of residents
are being met, as evidenced by the October 2023 CQC "Good" Rating.”

hants.gov.uk




87

Other comments and suggested alternative approaches

The Response Form provided a final question to provide the opportunity for any further comments, impacts or alternative suggested approaches

342 respondents provided further comments or suggested alternative approaches. Many of the responses reinforce comments on the reasons for answers regarding
agreement or disagreement with the proposals.

The most common themes for the comments in the “other comments and suggested alternative approaches” question related to:

» Loss of established highly valued service within local community
» Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
 Invest in existing estate and facilities

» Other challenges to strategy

-
Q
Q
D
|_\
N
©

»>¥ Hampshire

The responses have been coded and the frequency of comments in each theme broken down by category of interest can be seen on the following table.

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




Any other comments or suggested alternative approaches

In support of Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

Ctgcerns / reasons Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
tdQisagree Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
® Proposed size of new homes is too large
Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternatives
Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition
Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs

Loss of established highly valued service within local community**
Potential loss of high calibre staff

0GT

Impacts on staff Staff will have further / too far to travel
Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost
Other impacts on staff

Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations
Invest in existing estate and facilities

Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed

Other challenges to strategy

Other Key considerations for new accommodation
Land / buildings should be used to meet care needs of local community
Other land / buildings / development comments

Gp 2

Gp3 Gp4

1 8

7

1

4

10 15

10 7
4

5 11

19 10
1
2

1

1 3

16 14

1 4

9 26

Number of comments Base

Group 1: 115
Current or former service users
or their family/friends

Group 2. 3g
Current or former HCC care
home staff/volunteers

Group 3: 73
People who live close
to the sites

Group 4. 111
Any other individuals,
61 organisations and DERs

Unspecified 5

Total respondents =342

62

. 4 ** (includes basic pleas not to close the facility)

88



89

Other comments and suggested alternative approaches - illustrative examples

Loss of established highly valued service within local community

“Bishops Waltham as a village/town provides a loving stable community life to many,
Why not build/provide a bigger much needed development within the local area!l.”

“Don't let this remarkable facility be lost to the large community of ageing retirees.”

-
& Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community

9 “There is clear evidence that moving people with extreme frailty is likely to significantly

O1shorten their life expectations. HCC have in the past been criticised by coroners for
moving people where these capital has depleted, so this is a foreseeable risk. My
father would not tolerate a move to a new home, particularly if this was cut of
Basingstoke reducing family access to visit. He was placed in Oakridge House with
very careful multiagency support as he has previously become very agitated and
distressed during a respite period. The staff in both residential and nursing services at
Oakridge know my father, have his trust and confidence and have ensured that the
transition to long term care has been as good an experience as possible. To move him
away from the people he knows and responds so positively with, would effectively be
responsible for ending his life.”

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

* Invest in existing estate and facilities

‘As a retired builder i do not see why the appropriate
improvements can not be made to the Solent Mead building.
There is ample land surroundings the building which |
understand to have been donated to NFDC for the purposes of
care. Surely this means that the building and land can only be
used for social care purposes.”

Other challenges to strategy

“Why is there no joined up thinking? The NHS is at breaking
point due to bed blocking. G ward in NHCH Basingstoke
hospital is like a retirement home with elderly people living there
for months waiting for a nursing home. Thousands of affordable
retirement home and nursing home beds are needed urgently.
100 would not even clear the backlog of bed blocking.”

hants.gov.uk




90

Identified equalities impacts

When respondents expressed their level of agreement/ disagreement with each proposal, if they provided a reason or impact, they were asked a further question:

Please indicate below if you wish to highlight any characteristics which are particularly relevant to the impacts you have described (NB: These include specific
characteristics that the County Council is responsible for considering under the Equality Act 2010). (Please select all that apply

The chart on the following slide indicates the % of respondents to each proposal who identified impacts on protected characteristics. This illustrates that for every
proposal, the highest impacts were identified for older people and disabilities.

o
Q The highest percentage of respondents commenting on their response to proposals who highlighted these two impacts were those responding and commenting on
% proposals for Green Meadows, Solent Mead (Home and Day Service) and Bishops Waltham.

H
% Other significant impacts identified were on those relating to rurality and environmental impacts, featuring particularly strongly in a higher percentage of respondents

on the proposal for Bishops Waltham House. These issues featured in the responses in terms of concerns around public transport in rural areas for access to services
and visiting, with a potential increased dependency on car travel.

The other significant higher impact area is on poverty, which tends to feature in comments relating to uncertainties around the availability and cost of alternative local
provision in the private sector, and to the potential added costs of transport for visiting alternative homes or accessing day services.

The data on this response will help support the service to undertake the equalities impact assessment of proposals required as part of decision recommendations.

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk




Identified equalities impacts

% of respondents to each proposal who identified impacts on protected characteristics

80% B Copper Beeches (Andover) - proposed closure

B Bishops Waltham House (Bishops Waltham) - proposed closure
70% B Solent Mead (Lymington) - proposed closure of home
B Emsworth House (Emsworth) - proposed modification and expansion
60% B Ticehurst (Aldershot) - proposed modification and expansion

B Westholme (Winchester) - proposed closure and relocation
50%

0%

€GT aped

0%

20%

10%

0%

\ .

A o N S c® \\ et
ps® 0\50“\ é\g‘\«\ 6{\(@6 26 Q2 o o & a8

< \ N\ \
aet (& 12 R
e & o °
& 3
&oF e

wmmm““¢dwhhmﬂ

B Cranleigh Paddock (Lyndhurst) - proposed closure
Green Meadows, Denmead (Havant) - proposed closure
B Solent Mead (Lymington) - proposed closure of Day Service
B Oakridge House (Basingstoke) - proposed modification and expansion

B Malmesbury Lawn (Leigh Park, Havant) - proposed closure and relocation

S S o e
?o“?f\ X o 0\\6\93 \\“5\ x’\“e%
o o 009
(’/N\‘O(\«\ N

Base total all responses 586

91



92

Engagement sessions and conversations

vGT abed

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk



93

Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and
their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)

50 conversations with individual residents, service users or groups or relatives/ representatives were held during the consultation period. These sessions were
through pre-booked appointments conducted by HCC Care senior managers and social workers to provide information, answer questions and assess peoples
understanding of the proposals and their implications. This provided an opportunity to provide specific feedback within the consultation period which is summarised
below on the following three slides. It may also have led to the completion of survey response forms in some cases. Everyday conversations and queries with
residents or their representatives which take place have not been captured as a matter of course for the purpose of the consultation.

Bishops Waltham House — 8 individual conversations with residents

» This had provided an opportunity to understand options, preferences and requirements for the future and to talk through the process. For some this was accepted
but there was some apprehension about the potential loss of companionship.

» The staff were highly valued and of real importance was proximity to family in the local community.
There was apprehension following previous experience of being relocated.

* Resident didn’t want to leave a wonderful home close to family.

GGT obed

Green Meadows — 7 conversations with representatives of residents

» The quality of care was highly regarded, and residents really get along so well with staff.

» Relatives were very concerned about the proposed closure. It was important that they were close by and in the local community.
» There is an awareness that some facilities are dated but they are adequate, and the processes work well.

» Everyone appears happy at the home, there is a happy community and residents don’t want to leave.

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




9GT abed

94

Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and
their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)

Solent Mead Care Home — 16 conversations with representatives of residents

» Preferences for re-locations were discussed, some in Lymington, others in Winchester. The Day Service and its staff were highly valued as was friendship/
companionship with other residents. Coping with change is a key challenge and it would be helpful to avoid this for as long as possible.

« Some anxiety about closure and the prospect of not having choice to remain close to the town and having to move into a private facility and the costs/affordability .

* Questions raised about closing one place to open another and if it was possible to build on the existing site. What would happen if Solent Mead closed before a
new home was opened? It was seen as important that a new facility was operational and staffed.

» There was experience of moving having unsettled residents in the past and there was anxiety that this would happen again.

* Questions were raised about whether current resident would be eligible for the care provided by HCC Care and some anxiety over financial planning for
diminishing resources and how they might be supported/ assisted by the County Council.

» There was high praise for the staff but also some concerns regarding the experience of Forest Court which had many agency staff. This was a problem for
dementia residents who benefited from familiar carers. There was some fear over the loss of a friendly vibe and high-quality care at Solent Mead which a bigger
establishment may not replicate.

» Relatives living in Lymington had concerns regarding travel to anywhere further afield and wanted loved ones to be close to them and their community.

» There was apprehension at the prospect of multiple moves and the detrimental impact and disappointment that a new HCC Care facility wasn’t being established
before considering closing existing ones. It felt as though there was no real plan in place and residents and their families felt vulnerable without affordable
alternatives locally.

+ Modifications on an existing site were considered appropriate and cheaper than new facilities.

Hampshire

County Council hants.gov.uk




95

Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and
their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)

Solent Mead Day Service - 5 individual conversations with representatives of residents and a group conversation led by
the County Council's commissioned advocacy provider with 4 service users.

» There was general disappointment over the proposed closure of the day centre.

» The group enjoyed being together as a regular team and supporting each other, they wanted to continue to do this along with the current support staff. They
were more concerned about staying together and less concerned about a venue. There was anxiety, sadness and apprehensions regarding the proposed
closure and finding somewhere in Lymington to continue to meet as a group. They were hopeful to have a couple of new members of the group and hoped
that if this was the case, the County Council would continue to support a day service facility at another venue in Lymington if Solent Mead closed. They
recognised that some in the room could benefit from a modern approach to residential care.

» The individual conversations revealed concerns about the impact of loss of valued companionship established in the centre and the difficulty in dealing with
change. Establishing a routine of attendance had proved highly valuable but change may be difficult to handle. This was the only day centre in Lymington.
Service users' goals included maintaining independence and social interaction. Service users weren't fully independent and would need transport to any
other facility, but an alternative would really need to be in the town. There was a sense that the decision had already been taken.

/GT abed

» The closure of the site was questioned, it seemed cruel starting this process before a new facility was offered. The arrangements and responsibility for a
replacement day service were questioned whilst the closure and opening of new facility was taking place. Would the County Council be funding and offering
a replacement day service, or would there be one attached to the new facility.

»¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




96

Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and
their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)

Emsworth House— group conversation with residents and their relatives

» Relatives wanted disruption of relocation minimised and one preferred this to be sooner rather than later.

Oakridge House — 5 individual conversations with representatives of residents
+ Relatives and residents happy with standard of care
* Programme of improvements is understood

» Concerned about disruption and potential move and cost of private provision

8GT abed

Ticehurst — 3 conversations with representatives of residents

» Relatives and residents very happy with quality of care received and supportive of programme of improvements.

Malmesbury Lawn — conversation with a representative of one resident

* Resident had a traumatic experience of a private sector home. Hoping there will be a plan B if proposals are declined.

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




97

Unstructured Responses

T
Q
«Q
@
=
0]
(@)

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk



Summary of themes from unstructured responses

98

44 contributions to the consultation were received
as emails or letters. The points expressed in these
contributions have been coded to the same themes
as those received through the consultation
response form. The following table illustrates the
number of comments coded to each theme.

The most common themes are:

* Unsettling/ traumatic to leave current home and

o
Q
Q
() .
= community
(®))

(@)

» Leads to inadequate capacity of services for local
needs

 Other land/ building/ development comments

* Impact on relatives inc. need to travel furth

» Other suggestions and challenges to the strategy

These contributions were received by the service
Department and have been available for review by
the service.

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

In support of

Efficient resource use for future population needs / focus on higher needs
proposal

Current accommodation needs updating to be fit for purpose

Quality of service is high

Quality of staff is high

Existing facilities already meet needs of some residents
Existing facilities are well located

About existing
services

Unsettling or traumatic to leave current home and community
Adverse impact on relatives including need to travel further
Proposed size of new homes is too large

Less local care choice and dependency on local private sector alternafives

Concerns [ reasons
to disagree

Loss in continuity / consistency of care for individuals during transition ..

Leads to inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs
Loss of established highly valued service within local community™

Potential loss of high calibre staff ..

Staff will have further / too far to travel

Local employment / employment opportunities may be lost ..

Other impacts on staff

Challenges Closing day care short sighted - creates demand for more expensive services
to strategy Strategy primarily driven by financial considerations .
Invest in existing estate and facilities
Adequate new services should be open before old ones closed .|
Other challenges to strategy
Other Key considerations for new accommodation

Land / buildings should be used fo meet care needs of local community ..

Other land / buildings / development comments

hants.gov.uk




99

Unstructured comments - most commonly mentioned themes

Unsettling/ traumatic to leave current home and community Other land/ building/ development comments
“The residents and users of Solent Mead have reached the stage in their lives . There is no information on how the land at Marmsbury Lawn will
when they expect and need more certainty about their future, including where be used if the care home is provided on another site. Will that site stand
they will live, their accommodation and who will look after them. Your proposals empty for years too? The Oak Park scheme was approved at a cost of
provide none of these, and indeed the uncertainty of their future which your £25 million. What has happened to that funding? Will procurement on
proposals invoke is at best insensitive and at worst cruel!” the Oak Park site be any better than previous attempts? Because of
previous delays will the care home development on Oak Park be given
Impact on relatives including the need to travel further priority?”

“Solent Mead has provided many people with security, living in the town they love
and being near enough for visitors traveling by public transport. A friend recently
had the experience of his wife having to go to a care home over 10 miles away
with no public transport anywhere near. They were both well into their 80s. It was
devastating for them”

Other suggestions and challenges to the strategy

T9T abed

‘Appalled that you are considering any closures before you have the

Leads to inadequate capacity of services for local needs full range of Home Assistance available. Saying that you are going to
do so — future tense- does not help those desperate for assistance now
“In the statement published on your web site, you propose “to withdraw, over a — present tense.”

period of me, from the direct provision of standard residential care”. It is
understood that there are growing numbers of elderly with dementia and other
illnesses: but there is also a growing number of elderly who do not need
specialist nursing care, so the withdrawal of these services is going to leave a
gap in provision for such people.”

Happily, not personally involved at the moment but have close friends
where the patient aged 90 has been in and out of hospital numerous
times in the last 2 months but has to be nursed by his wife — aged 94 —
when he is sent home with no help or cover provided.

Before you close any homes put the assistance needed now in place.”

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




100

Methodology and demographics

29T abed

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council hants.gov.uk



101 101
About this report

This report summarises the main findings from Hampshire County Council’s 2023 HCC Care Consultation.

As this was an open consultation, the respondents do not provide a representative sample of the Hampshire population. All
consultation questions were optional, and the analyses only take into account actual responses — where ‘no response’ was
provided to a question, this was not included in the analysis. As such, the totals for each question may add up to less than the
total number of respondents who replied via the consultation Response Form.

Hll of the comments and unstructured responses received through the consultation have been shared directly with services for
%ull review, to inform the ongoing development of the proposals, and associated Equality Impact Assessments.

ﬁdditionally, consultation codeframes were created using an inductive approach” from a random sample of replies from each
open-ended question received across the course of the consultation, in order to understand key themes arising.

The number of people working on each codeframe was kept to a minimum to ensure a consistency of approach for each, and all
coding was cross checked.

*This means that the themes were developed from the responses themselves, not pre-determined based on expectations, to avoid any bias in the analysis of these responses.

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




102
Communications and Promotion

102

Source (where respondents heard about the consultation)

On social media _ 30%
Via an email or letter sent to _ 279%
you
By word of mouth - 14%

Through my employer - 9%

Hampshire County Council
website - 6%

9T abed

In a resident's newsletter . 4%
Reported in the news . 3%

On a poster or leaflet | 0.6%

Other - 7%

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

The consultation was widely promoted via a range of online and
offline channels. Letters were sent to care home residents, their
relatives and representatives, along with stakeholders such as
partner organisations in the NHS and local councils. Several
engagement events were held in all the homes affected (except
Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock which are temporarily
closed). This was to enable those who may be directly impacted,
and their families, to learn more about the proposals and to discuss
the proposed changes in more detail with HCC Care staff, social
workers and Registered Managers of the homes and Day Service .
Advocacy support was offered to residents and Day Service users to
help them participate in the consultation. MSTeams and telephone
appointments were also offered to people who preferred that form of
engagement.

hants.gov.uk



103

List of responding organisations, groups and businesses

St.Michael's Church of England New Forest District Council
University Hospital Southampton NHS FT Bishop's Waltham Parish Council

Chawton House Surgery .

Hampshire UNISON
Rushmoor Borough Council

Andover & District Older People's Forum
Emsworth Medical Practice

GoT abed

Frimley ICB
Lymington and Pennington Town Council

Bluezone Care Ltd
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board on behalf of
all NHS partners within the HIOW Integrated Care System Silverlinks

Patient Participation Group (PPG) of Chawton House Surgery

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




104

List of responding democratically Elected Representatives’ constituencies

Bishops Waltham Parish Council
Mayor of Lymington and Pennington

Titchfield Common Ward and Fareham, Titchfield and Fareham County Division

Upham Parish Council

99T abed

Durley Parish Council
North East Havant

Lymington & Boldre

Boldre Parish Council

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Council

East Woodhay Parish Council

Odiham, Hook and the Western Parishes
New Forest West

Hayling Island

Worthys Ward, WCC

Candovers Oakley and Overton Division
Lymington and Pennington Town Council

Aldershot South Division

hants.gov.uk




105

Respondent age and disability profiles

Under 16
16 to 24
2510 34
351044
45 to 54
55 to 64
65to 74
7510 84

/9T abed

85 or over

Prefer not to

*~ Hamp

Age profile

l 2
Il
I G
I
L JNF
g
I, (S
I
I o

I 2

shire

@ County Council

Physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting or expected
to last 12 months or more

Prefer not to say . 43

Yes, and they reduce my day-to-day activities a . 48
lot

Yes, and they reduce my day-to-day activities a - 64
little

Yes, but they do not reduce my day-to-day - 68
activities

Vo I

hants.gov.uk




106

Respondent gender, ethnicity and income profiles

Gender
Female | /-
Male [N 164
Prefer to self-describe | 4
Prefer not to sa 19

- N |
Q
Q
D
= : :
o Ethnic group Household income

Up to £10,000 = 12
£10,001 to £20,000 = 57
£20,001 to £30,000 m—— 2
whie [ - £30.001 t0 £40,000 memmm 44
£40,001 to £50,000 =m 46
£50,001 to £60,000 mmm 35
£60,001 to £70,000 = 15
£70,001 to £80,000 mm 17

Other ethnic group | 7

Mixed or multiple ethnic groups | 5

Black, African, Caribbean or Black...| 4 £80,001 to £90,000 mm 18
£90,001 to £100,000 = 6
. . " £100,001 or over mmm 2
Asian or Asian British | 12 Don't know mm 205

Prefer not to say E —  —— ) [ D

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




107

Respondent location profile in relation to care home locations

A4
Hampshire postcodes of survey respondents (428 supplied) o .
(an additional 84 postcodes x-Hampshire were supplied) -
O
O Copper Beaches SP10 2QU . -
‘ Cranleigh Paddock SO43 7AT — ch
q Bishops Waltham House SO32 1NP —
@ Green Meadows PO7 6LW "
é Solent Mead S0O41 3RB
6 Emsworth House PO10 7RJ
QO Oakridge House RG21 5QS
QO Ticehurst GU11 3RX ]
@ Westholme S022 BNT e
o Malmesbury Lawn PO9 4JY o

¥~ Hampshire

@ County Council

hants.gov.uk




108

Appendix

1. detailed breakdown of main interests provided by respondents
Number of people by stated main interest in the proposals (individual category)

2. areas of interest by interest group
(% of people responding at all to the overall agreement/disagreement question on any proposed site)

3. interest composition of respondents to each proposal
(% of people responding at all to the overall agreement/disagreement question on any proposed site)

0.T abed

»¥ Hampshire
@ Countprouncil

hants.gov.uk



109

Consultation Response Form

A total of 724 responses were received to the online, easy read and paper response forms

Number of respondents by stated main interest in the proposals (single category selection)

Somebody who lives close to one of the homes — 174
Somebody else with an interest * | 17e
Relative of a resident (or former resident) _ 113
Friend or someone otherwise connected to a resident (or former resident) _ 80
Somebody who has worked or volunteered in one of the homes _ 57
Somebody who works in another HCC home that is not affected _ 33

Resident

w
o

User of Solent Mead Day Service

SN

Relative of a user (or former user) of Solent Mead Day Service

T/ T obed

Somebody who has worked or volunteered at Solent Mead Day Service

Friend or someone otherwise connected to a user (or former user) of Solent Mead Day Service

B
|
|

IR N

Somebody who works in another HCC Day Service that is not affected by these proposals

Responses on behalf of an organisation

I_\
. W
- O
oo

Responses from democratically elected representatives

Not specified

*

Somebody else with an interest” includes those describing themselves as: older residents, residents with disabilities, carers, residents with an interest/ involvement in their local communities and the
needs of older residents, family of older people with likely future care requirements, taxpayers/ residents, other current or former staff or professionals in the health or social care sector, some of whom
may have had an involvement with the facilities potentially affected by the proposals, former elected representatives and people who work or have worked for Hampshire County Council.

74% of responses were submitted via the standard online form, 20% via the online Easy Read form and 7% via a paper form

»>¥ Hampshire

@ County Councll hants.gov.uk




110

Group 2 were slightly less likely than the other groups to answer the question on closures.
Groups 2 and 4 were more likely than other respondents to answer on proposals incorporating relocations.

% of people responding at all to the overall agreement/disagreement question on any proposed site

ANY PROPOSED CLOSURE  [EEIN oq00 [N 69% I o1 N 87

Copper Beeches || 3% I 1% B 5% B 0%
Cranleigh Paddock [ 3% L 21w | 2% B 3%
Bishops Waltham House [ 41% b 3% P 4% B 46%
T Green Meadows, Denmead [ 31% 2w | 3% B k3%
% Solent Mead (home) [ 23% L 3% B 21w B 54%
- Solent Mead (day service) [ 16% T 229 B 21% B 52%
N
ANY PROPOSED MODIFICATION / EXPANSION [ 6% L omw B 5% B 34%
Emsworth House || 3% L 18% | 3% B 25%
Oakridge House [ 4% U 14% | 2% B 24%
Ticehurst | 3% L 18w | 2% B 25%
ANY PROPOSED CLOSURE AND RELOCATION J 5% b 2% B 7% B 6%
Malmsbury Lawn || 3% L 20% | 2% B k0%
Westholme [ 4% b 22% B s% B 0%
Graph based on those who gave any -Gp_é: Currenr: or former ] prfZ/: Clurrent or former ] Qp 3: People who = Gp 4: Other individuals,
response to any of the questions on ;aer?;ilsr/]t;i;nt dSeIr Zttaanvg ggtiz:se Home g‘iizsd(%saeséozT%) organisations and DERs
overall agreement / disagreement with (Base=232) (Base=94) (Base=201)

the proposals



Feedback from current or former residents and their families / friends (Group 1) tended to make up a higher proportion of
responses for Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows and Solent Mead.

Proportion of responses to overall agreement / disagreement question for each site from each respondent group

Base: 712 624 92 96 334 166 231 204
100%

120 81 77 77 128 92 103

75%

50%

o
Q 25%
«Q
D
|:l‘ 0%
w
g
O
X
QQ~
K\
S
v

m Gp 1: Current or former = Gp 2: Current or former m Gp 3: People who m Gp 4: Other individuals,
residents and their staff/volunteers live close to the organisations and
family/friends at an HCC care home sites DERs

Graph based on those who gave any response to any of the questions on overall
agreement / disagreement with the proposals

111



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Draft Executive Decision Record

Decision Maker: Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health Decision Day

Date of Decision: 8 February 2024

Decision Title: Appointments to Outside Bodies, Statutory Joint Committees,
Panels and Partnership Boards

Report From: Director of People and Organisation
Contact name: David Seabrooke
Email: members.services@hants.gov.uk

1. The Decision:

a) In accordance with Part 1: Chapter 12 of the Constitution, that the Executive Lead
Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health Decision Day be requested to make
an appointment to the Council of Governors detailed below. The term of office until
County Council elections in May 2025:

Description Previous Appointment(s)
Name of Body until May 2025
Surrey & To work y\{ith pepple ar]d Iead. Adam
Borders communities in improving their mental Jackman

. and physical health and wellbeing for a
Partnership better life through delivering excellent
NHS FT and responsive prevention, diagnosis,
early intervention, treatment and care

2. Reason for the decision:
2.1. To maintain County Council representation on bodies within the community.
3. Other options considered and rejected:

3.1. Not to make appointments, which would cease County Council representation
and leave a vacancy on the Council of Governors.

4. Conflicts of interest:
4.1. Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None

4.2. Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted:

Page 175


mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk

5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel: none.
6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: not applicable.

7. Statement from the Decision Maker:

Approved by:

Date: 8 February
2024

Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health

Page 176




	Agenda
	1 HCC Care Older Adults Portfolio - Proposed Service Changes
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health for the recommendations relating to HCC Care service changes to the Older Adults residential and nursing homes portfolio as set out in paragraph 13 (a-l) of this report.
	2.	At their July 2023 meeting, Cabinet approved in principle a significant investment programme (estimated at £173m – 4th quarter 2022 cost base) for HCC Care’s Older Adults service portfolio. The proposed programme included 3 new homes and major refurbishments, and expansions to 3 existing homes. This was in support of a change in direction for the Older Adults service so that it can better meet the future needs of a growing elderly population with increasing needs including complex dementia and nursing care.
	3.	The proposed investment programme also included 7 proposed home closures. 2 of the proposed closures being homes that are already temporarily closed and 2 being homes that would remain open until early 2027 prior to being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new homes.
	4.	The proposed investment programme to support the new service direction, followed a review of the existing portfolio which highlighted several of the current homes, especially those providing standard residential services, are operating from buildings and layouts that are increasingly not fit for purpose and are challenging for staff to work in. The review confirmed that the homes proposed for closure, were not fully occupied, are proving increasingly unattractive to potential service users and their families, and that the work required to adapt the existing buildings so that they are fit for the future was either not possible or not viable.
	5.	Cabinet approved a formal public consultation specifically in relation to the proposed home closures and the proposed existing home modifications and expansions outlined in the proposed capital investment programme. Cabinet approved the public consultation requesting the outcomes to be scrutinised by the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee (HASC), prior to any formal decisions being taken by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health not before February 2024.
	6.	The formal public consultation commenced on 4th September 2023 and concluded on 12th November 2023. It covered 10 different HCC Care homes across 4 separate proposal categories. The public consultation was overseen by a cross-party HASC Member Working Group and their work, and their support for the closure proposals was covered in a report of the Working Group that was presented to HASC at their 16th January 2024 meeting.  HASC approved the report and its recommendations in full.
	7.	In summary, 724 official consultation responses were received alongside 44 unstructured written contributions. Consultation responses came from residents/their families/their representatives, from staff, from people who live close to the homes that were being consulted on, from organisations (including the NHS) and from democratically elected representatives. For 3 of the 4 proposal categories consulted on (covering 7 of the 10 homes) there was more support for the proposals than there was disagreement.
	8.	There was strong public disagreement for the proposed closure of 3 existing residential homes (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead – including the cessation of the associated Day Service) and the consultation responses in this regard were also added to in the form of submitted petitions against the individual closures. At the HASC meeting of 16th January 2024 a Deputation from 2 family members who have relatives at Bishops Waltham House was delivered.
	9.	This report covers the main issues raised from the consultation responses and in particular the issues raised in opposition to the closures at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead that (at the time of producing this report) were supporting 77 residents in total. The report also provides information on a separate formal staff consultation that took place during the public consultation and outlines how residents/their families have been engaged with since the proposals were first published back in July 2023.
	10.	Having robustly reviewed the formal public consultation responses, considered the mitigations to the main issues raised and taken all that has been analysed and evidenced into account, the report recommends that the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health should support each of the proposals that were publicly consulted on, including the cessation of residential services at the 3 homes highlighted above.
	11.	The County Council has highly experienced staff that work across the different HCC Care sites and in our Care Management (Social Workers) service. These staff work with residents and clients across any number of settings daily, and consistently deliver high quality, sensitive care, and support. This includes regularly reassessing clients as their needs change and carefully organising and supporting the transition to new onward care arrangements as required, taking a person-centred approach.
	12.	The way in which the temporary closures of Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock were managed in late 2021 that resulted in alternative care arrangements being organised for 39 residents, and the outstanding support given to residents who were affected in June 2023 at Westholme following a flooding incident that required 20 residents to be moved to alternative care settings with no notice, demonstrate that those residents (and their families) impacted by the recommended changes that were consulted on, would be supported in a careful, sensitive and highly professional manner if the closure proposals are approved.
	Recommendations
	13.	That the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health approves the following recommendations:
	a)	that Copper Beeches residential care home in Andover should be permanently closed with immediate effect.
	b)	that Cranleigh Paddock residential care home in Lyndhurst should be permanently closed with immediate effect.
	c)	that Bishop’s Waltham House residential care home in Bishop’s Waltham should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	d)	that Green Meadows residential care home in Denmead should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	e)	that Solent Mead residential care home in Lymington should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	f)	subject to recommendation 13e (above) being approved, that the Solent Mead Day Centre, attached to the Solent Mead residential care home, in Lymington should be closed by, or at the same time as the residential care home is closed.
	g)	that at Emsworth House residential and nursing care home in Emsworth the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	h)	that at Oakridge House residential and nursing care home in Basingstoke the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	i)	that at Ticehurst residential and nursing care home in Aldershot the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	j)	that Malmesbury Lawn residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant) should be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set out in this report.
	k)	that Westholme residential and nursing care home in Winchester should be closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy near Winchester) opens, as set out in this report.
	l)	that in relation to the recommended closures of the residential services at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, Solent Mead, Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst, that no further residential admissions to these homes are to be agreed if the closure decisions are made.
	Contextual information
	14.	The County Council aims to protect the independence, resilience, and wellbeing of older people. Wherever possible, people want to be supported to stay in their own home and strong Reablement and Domiciliary Care services enable this to happen in most cases for people aged 65 and above.
	15.	When this is not possible and more unplanned care and support is required, Extra Care housing provides an option for people to live independently in a flat within a development which has 24-hour care and support available if needed. The County Council currently commissions care in 20 Extra Care schemes (900 apartments) across Hampshire and has further schemes close to finalisation, or in development.
	16.	If an older person’s needs require more significant support, then most will likely be supported in a residential or a nursing care setting. The County Council placed close to 2,000 Older Adults into residential and nursing care services in 2022/23 with 86% of clients being supported by care homes in the independent sector. In total, there are just under 300 care homes registered by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in Hampshire to support Older Adults.
	17.	Some 3,500 Older Adults, who are the responsibility of the County Council, are currently being cared for in residential or nursing homes across Hampshire settings. The County Council’s in-house HCC Care service currently supports just over 600 of these across its range of residential and nursing care homes. In total, the HCC Care service provides circa 900 beds across 15 operational sites, 3 of which focus entirely or mostly on short-term care and supporting people who are unable to go home at the point of discharge from hospital. In addition, HCC Care also has 2 other Older Adults homes (Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock) that have been temporarily closed for operational reasons since the end of 2021.
	18.	A review of the HCC Care Older Adults portfolio concluded last year alongside a service strategy review which looked at both current and future service demand levels and support requirements. The latter highlighted the growing challenges for the HCC Care service in terms of increasing resident dependency and complexity and pointed to a forecast increase in the over 65 population of more than 50,000 over the next 6 years. Additionally, it confirmed (based on data from the Hampshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/jsna and the profile of Older Adults living in HCC Care) that Dementia cases in Older Adults is predicted to increase by a concerning 45% by 2040, meaning at least a further 6,000 cases of Dementia for Hampshire’s older population.
	19.	The review of the HCC Care portfolio highlighted some significant concerns about the condition of several of the homes, especially the older residential units, that have been under-invested in over past decades. Property assessments and improvement options showed that redevelopment of the sites to suitable levels and current CQC standards was either not possible or was unviable. The review demonstrated how unfit for purpose some of the buildings were and how challenging the conditions were for staff to work in.
	20.	The review highlighted cramped conditions and poor personal space with many of the rooms requiring commodes in the absence of a toilet. Other limitations included narrow/tight corridors, poor lighting in certain homes, staff having to move furniture to perform their duties and not easily being able to support residents who require moving or assistance with personal care needs. Equipment such as hoists was limited, medicine cabinets were centralised rather than being personalised in each room and most of the homes lacked suitable storage space. Many conclusions were drawn from the review and what was very clear for the homes most in question and ultimately at the centre of the public consultation is their inability to cater for people with complex needs and how their layouts would not enable people with growing levels of dementia to be properly supported.
	21.	The outcomes of the portfolio review and the service strategy work, combined to enable a £173m HCC Care investment proposal (4th quarter 2022 cost base) to be put forward for Cabinet in July 2023 for consideration. This was on the basis that the County Council wished to remain as a key service provider in the residential and nursing care market and was supported by a financial business case that demonstrated that HCC Care, backed by the proposed investment and able to operate from fit for the future care home environments, is able to deliver nursing and complex dementia services cheaper than the cost of care in the external market. With rising volumes of people requiring complex care support into the future, this was also a very important consideration.
	22.	The investment proposals included the proposed building of 3 new 80-100 bed care homes and major refurbishments and expansions of 3 existing homes (Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst) that would also see the cessation of standard residential services from the end of 2025 and would result in 80-100 bed, fit for the future homes ultimately being delivered. In all cases, the new or modernised homes would be designed to cater for Older Adults with complex needs with the capacity being used flexibly to support both nursing needs and complex dementia needs.
	23.	The new and modernised home designs would recognise the environmental needs of people with increasing stages of dementia. Building design and interior design are especially important for people with dementia. Improving the care environment for this group of people has a direct link to improved care standards, service delivery, improved experiences for nursing home residents, better staff experience and retention and enhanced reputation.
	24.	Individual rooms would be designed to meet current Building Regulations in terms of size. Bedrooms would have ensuite bathroom facilities. The new and/or modernised homes would be designed to accommodate overhead track hoists in all bedrooms, to assist with moving people who have mobility issues. In terms of communal facilities, groups of 10 residents would have shared access to lounge and dining facilities. The homes would be designed to feel homely and domestic in nature, whilst at the same time meeting appropriate guidance and regulations for complex dementia care and nursing care. In addition to the ensuite bathrooms, assisted bathrooms and shower rooms would be provided within the homes on a 1:10 resident ratio.
	25.	The service strategy to be able to better cater for people with complex care needs including complex dementia, was supported by Cabinet. The associated investment programme to improve and add to the HCC Care Older Adults portfolio, taking it to nearer 1,000 beds was agreed to in principle, but given that it included 7 proposed home closures and major changes to 3 existing homes the agreement in principle was subject to a formal public consultation. Cabinet also requested that the outcomes of the consultation should be publicly scrutinised by HASC and that the individual proposals that were to be consulted on (see below) should be subject to a set of decisions to be taken by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health not before February 2024:
		The proposed permanent closure of two homes currently temporarily closed for operational reasons: Copper Beeches in Andover and Cranleigh Paddock in Lyndhurst.
		The proposed closures of Bishops Waltham House in Bishops Waltham, Green Meadows in Denmead, and Solent Mead in Lymington.
	NB: Linked to the proposed closure of the Solent Mead care home, but specifically consulted on, the proposed closure of the Solent Mead Day Service in Lymington.
		The proposed refurbishment and expansion of Emsworth House in Emsworth, Oakridge House in Basingstoke and Ticehurst in Aldershot, to include the cessation of standard residential services at the 3 homes.
		The proposed closure and relocation (to proposed new build sites located near to) of Malmesbury Lawn in Leigh Park, Havant, and Westholme in Winchester.

	Pre-Consultation Engagement and the Consultation Approach
	26.	Further to the July 2023 Cabinet meeting, the formal public consultation on the HCC Care closure proposals was planned for and took place between 4 September 2023 and 12 November 2023. It was widely promoted ahead of its commencement and throughout its 10-week period. This included a range of online and offline channels, and letters to (and meetings with) care home residents, their relatives, and representatives, and letters to stakeholders such as partner organisations in the NHS and local Councils.
	27.	An information pack containing details of the proposals, and a consultation response form were developed in standard and EasyRead formats. These were published on-line and made available in paper format, with other languages and formats available on request. The information pack contained important information about each of the 10 homes and the Day Service which were being consulted on. Part of the information included in the information pack has been repeated in the separate page by page summaries of the background to the proposals, alternative provision and other considerations and confirmation of the recommended closures – see Appendix 1.
	28.	Engagement events were held in the homes affected (except for Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock that are temporarily closed). These sessions included pre-consultation events (from the day of publication of the Cabinet report – 10 July 2023) and individual and group meetings during the formal consultation period. This enabled those who may be directly impacted, their families and staff (see staff consultation section later in the report), to learn more about the proposals and to discuss the proposed changes in more detail with HCC Care senior management, with Registered Managers of the homes and the Day Service and with Care Management/Social Worker staff.
	29.	Take up of engagement sessions with senior HCC Care staff and Care Management staff by residents and their families was particularly strong for the 3 residential homes (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead – including Day Service users) that are most at threat of imminent closure. The sessions proved invaluable, helping concerns and issues to be openly expressed and enabling the already strong understanding of resident and family needs, to be strengthened further.
	30.	Officers also worked with and supported the cross party HASC Working Group that was established at the end of July, on request from Cabinet, to oversee and scrutinise the consultation process. This included advising the Working Group of the approach being taken to the consultation, regularly informing them of progress, organising visits to different forms of HCC Care homes to help bring to life the drivers behind the overall proposals and to demonstrate the high quality of care that HCC Care provides. Members were also informed and assured by the regular promotion of the consultation throughout the 10-week period.
	31.	A key element of the consultation approach was to ensure that Advocacy support was also provided and regularly offered to residents and Day Service users throughout the consultation period to help them to participate in the consultation. MS Teams and telephone appointments were also offered (and accepted) to people who preferred that form of engagement.
	The Consultation Response
	32.	The formal consultation responses including multiple comments from those who responded, were captured, and summarised by the Corporate Insight and Engagement service and their report has been included with today’s agenda pack. The report confirms 724 separate responses were received via the official response form with respondents on average commenting on more than 2 of the closure proposals. Of the official responses received, 675 were from individuals, 13 officially on behalf of an organisation, group, or business, and 16 responded as Democratically Elected Representatives. The remaining 20 respondents did not indicate their status.
	33.	From the above information, approximately 98% of the consultation responses fell into the following respondent groups:
		residents, their families, others with a connection (32%),
		staff (or volunteers), either working at the homes covered by the consultation, or who work, or have worked for the Directorate (13%),
		people who live near to the homes covered by the consultation (24%),
		people and/or organisations, such as the NHS, with an interest in the proposals (28%).

	34.	In addition to the official responses, a further 44 ‘unstructured responses’ were received through letters and email correspondence and informal feedback was also captured by HCC Care senior staff from meetings they held with 50 residents from a range of homes and Day Service users. This engagement was in addition to private meetings with residents/their families, and meetings they had with staff, which were separate to the formal staff consultation meetings recorded by Human Resources. The information gathered from the unofficial sources complemented the issues raised and generated from the official routes.
	35.	The headline themes from the consultation responses including a range of supportive comments in support of the proposals, concerns and impacts and other key considerations/points raised are shown in Appendix 2 and are covered off in the consultation mitigations section of the report from paragraph 57. The headline results from the consultation responses, which positively demonstrate greater support than disagreement for 3 of the 4 proposal categories consulted on, are shown in the table below.
	NB: Many of the 724 respondents shared their views on more than one proposal.

	The 4 Consultation Proposal Categories
	36.	The public consultation was formed based on the different proposals being broken down into the 4 main category areas listed in paragraph 25. The summary position for each of these category areas is commented on in the following paragraphs.
	CATEGORY 1 - The proposed permanent closure of two residential homes currently temporarily closed for operational reasons: Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock.
	37.	Positively, nearly 60% of respondents (56% and 57%) respectively for Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock agreed with the closure proposals or accepted the proposals, albeit with some concerns. Disagreement with the proposals was recorded at 37% and 39% respectively and in total, just under 100 of the 724 respondents commented specifically on the 2 closure proposals.
	38.	2/3rds of those who responded were from the group of ‘other interest individuals’ which included organisations and democratically elected representatives. Former staff who worked at the homes strongly supported the closure proposals.
	39.	These two sites have been closed for operational reasons since the end of 2021. In the lead up to the temporary closures, 39 residents were supported to move either to alternative HCC Care provision, or to care homes in the independent sector.
	40.	The main concerns that were raised were about the future use of the sites, that the size of the proposed new homes is too large and that there is inadequate capacity or appropriate capacity for future needs and worries about an over reliance on the independent sector. A small range of comments were also received, these included references to the future use of the sites and in the case of the Cranleigh Paddock site, New Forest District Council openly stated a desire to work with the County Council on the options for its future use.
	41.	The points above were not unique to this proposal category as evidenced in the updates provided below for the other category areas. The key points raised here and below, are addressed in the next section of this report.
	CATEGORY 2 - The proposed closure of three residential homes at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows and Solent Mead (including the Day Service), within 6-12 months of the closure decision, if made (timings to be confirmed) for service and financial reasons.

	42.	This consultation category secured the highest level of interest which was not a surprise given that 3 existing residential homes were being proposed for closure.  If the proposed closures of the 3 homes within this category are agreed to by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health, then the closures would take place within 6-12 months of today’s formal decision.
	43.	Some 78% of respondents in respect of Bishops Waltham House disagreed with the proposed closure. The Bishops Waltham House proposal also attracted the highest number of responses with 334 of the 724 respondents submitting a response in relation to the home. Opposition to the proposals was especially high from residents/their families (96%) and from people who live near to the home (94%). On the flip side 60% of current and/or former staff or volunteers who have worked at the home and responded, agreed with the closure proposal, or accepted it, but with some concerns. The level of response from this group was around 1/3rd of the level for the other 2 respondent areas.
	44.	The most frequently mentioned concerns included the loss of a highly valued community service, the inadequate capacity of appropriate services for local needs, that closure would be unsettling or traumatic for residents who would have to leave the home and the adverse impact on relatives including the need to travel further. A significant number of individual comments were also made including from those who strongly value having a community facility in their village and from those who expressed concerns about the HCC Care service strategy and the size of the proposed new and/or modernised homes that are part of the proposed investment programme plans.
	45.	In respect of Green Meadows, 58% of the 166 respondents disagreed with the proposed closure. Interestingly, of the 4 different groups of respondents listed in paragraph 33, the level of agreement or acceptance with some concerns was higher than the level of disagreement in terms of the responses from staff, from people living close to the home and from other interested parties. That said, 85% of the 73 residents/their families that responded, disagreed with the closure proposal.
	46.	In line with the responses received in respect of Bishops Waltham House, the most frequently mentioned concerns included the loss of a highly valued community service, that closure would be unsettling or traumatic for residents who would have to leave the home and the adverse impact on relatives including the need to travel further. A range of individual comments were also received, including from those who strongly value having a community facility and from those who questioned the service strategy and the size of the proposed new and/or modernised homes.
	47.	In respect of Solent Mead, 67% of the 231 respondents disagreed with the proposed closure. Like the Bishops Waltham response, there was strong disagreement from those living close to the home (95% of 37 respondents) whilst 71% of current or former staff (or volunteers) agreed with the closure proposal or accepted it but with some concerns.
	48.	Again, very much in line with the responses received in respect of Bishops Waltham House and Green Meadows, the most frequently mentioned concerns included the loss of a highly valued community service, less local care choice and an over reliance on the independent sector, that closure would be unsettling or traumatic for residents who would have to leave the home and the adverse impact on relatives including the need to travel further.
	49.	A range of individual comments were also received, including many from those who strongly value having a community facility and who want the proposed new build for the yet unidentified New Forest location, to be focused on Lymington. Some respondents questioned the service strategy and the size of the proposed new and/or modernised homes.
	50.	Lastly in this section is the responses received in relation to the proposed closure of the Solent Mead Day Service. It needs stating that despite the strong disagreement for the cessation of the service (73% of the 204 responses), if the Solent Mead residential service is agreed to be closed, then the Day Service would not be able to continue.
	51.	Again, there were different views expressed with agreement from current and/or former staff and Day Service volunteers but strong disagreement from service users/their relatives and from people living close to the service or those with an interest in the closure proposal - 105 of the overall 204 respondents. Similar issues were raised when the comments were analysed but concerns were also expressed about the strategy being driven primarily by financial considerations.
	CATEGORY 3 - The proposed cessation of residential services at Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst (not before the end of 2025) as part of extensive modifications and expansions of the homes.
	52.	Positively, there was strong support for the major refurbishments and expansions of Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst with those agreeing with the proposals at 63%, 65% and 69% and when added to those who accepted the proposals but did have some concerns these percentages increased to 88% (of 81 responses), 87% (of 77 responses) and 83% (of 77 responses). From any perspective, the responses received demonstrate overwhelming support for the refurbishment and expansion proposals.
	53.	A range of comments were received with the response submissions, and these praised the ambition of the proposals, including the planned efforts to ease the journey into old age and to proactively provide fit for the future facilities to support those with complex dementia needs. Some concerns consistent with those highlighted above were also registered as was the worry about the ability to access suitable alternative provision if the standard residential services are ceased.
	CATEGORY 4 - The proposed closure and relocation of the residential service at Malmesbury Lawn and the residential and nursing service at Westholme, mainly for service proximity and workforce reasons, at the time both proposed new-build facilities (at Oak Park and Cornerways), become operational (not until 2027 at the earliest).

	54.	Like with the previous consultation category area, strong support was expressed via the formal consultation responses for the Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme closure proposals on the basis that the 2 homes would remain open until being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new build sites at Oak Park and at Cornerways.
	55.	For Malmesbury Lawn 92 responses were received with 68% in agreement or accepting of the proposal (with some concerns) and just 24% of respondents disagreeing with the proposal. In the case of Westholme, 103 responses were received, with 65% in agreement or accepting of the proposal (with some concerns) and just 26% disagreeing with the proposal. For both homes, nearly 80% of the submissions received from current or former staff (or volunteers) agreed with the replacement proposals.
	56.	A range of comments were made about the proposals, again mainly positive and amongst them was a point made about how the new build facilities would enable residents to be supported throughout their care journey in the same home once they are admitted. This is something that isn’t currently the case in many of the homes being proposed for closure. Indeed, at the point of finalising this report, 6 nursing assessments were completed in the first week back, in January 2024, for residential residents at Green Meadows who have regressed in the past months. All 6 will now be supported to transition to alternative nursing care provision at different homes. This is something that we will be able to avoid if the proposed investment plans for the 3 new builds and the 3 refurbishments and expansions are delivered on.
	The Main Issues Raised by the Consultation and the Mitigations
	57.	As outlined in the previous 2 sections of this report, a range of issues and concerns were raised from the consultation respondents, most notably from those responding in relation to the proposed closures of Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead, as well as the Solent Mead Day Service. The 3 homes currently host/support 77 residents in total, whilst there are 13 individuals who use the Solent Mead Day Service. Appendix 2 summarises the concerns raised and lists other key considerations that emerged from the consultation process.
	58.	Not surprisingly, the main concern centred around uncertainty for residents and their families if the closure proposals are approved. This included concerns about “what is going to happen to me”, ‘what the alternative care choices will consist of and where’, “will I still be visited” and “how might this affect me financially”. In addition, other concerns were raised about the level of support residents and their families would receive and how the change process would work, and about the loss of relationships with other residents and with staff and loss of routine.
	59.	It is fully accepted that the process of moving to an alternative care home can be very unsettling and potentially traumatic and it is accepted that 1 of the current residents at Solent Mead was transferred from Cranleigh Paddock at the end of 2021 and would thus be subject to a 2nd home move within a 3-year period if the closure proposals are approved.
	60.	Prior to and during the consultation, HCC Care staff and Social Workers started to sensitively engage with residents and their families. Support was offered to understand individual and family needs and concerns. Full Social Work support would continue to be offered to each resident should the closure proposals be approved as recommended. Adults Health and Care (through HCC Care and Care Management staff) have significant experience in supporting older people to transition to new settings. It is work that is practiced daily, especially as existing resident needs are constantly changing and, in many instances, this leads to a different care setting being required.
	61.	Where appropriate an individual’s family would be involved in the transfer process to help support the affected resident. Factors such as proximity to family and other regular visitors, a person’s links with community groups such as churches or lunch groups would also be considered. If someone expressed a desire to move to the same home as a friend or other family member, currently living in the same residential home, this would be explored. The process would be managed in a sensitive and person-centred way by highly experienced, professionally astute, and caring staff.
	62.	Information regarding alternative provision for the 3 homes referenced in paragraph 57 and for Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst (the other 3 homes where it is proposed that standard residential care is ceased) is shown in Appendix 3. This shows a plentiful supply of CQC rated good or above alternative provision existing within 10 miles of the homes or services that are recommended to close. The information in Appendix 3 shows details of how many of the alternative homes HCC has current long-term placements with (49 residential homes in the case of Bishops Waltham House) and shows the number of other homes that HCC has worked with in the recent past.
	63.	The information gathered provides strong assurance that not only is there is vibrant independent sector operating close to the homes in question, but also that they are rated good or better and are businesses (care homes) that work with and are happy to support local authority clients. The recent approval of a new Care Home framework by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health is intended to further strengthen the relationship the Adults’ Health and Care Directorate has with the independent sector.
	64.	HCC Care holds a good volume of high-quality information about each of the 77 residents it hosts/supports at Bishops Waltham House at Green Meadows and at Solent Mead and this has been strengthened through the sessions held with residents and their families over the past 6 months or so. It demonstrates the desire to have deep knowledge about each resident and an unrelenting commitment to keep learning and to ensure that resident and/or family concerns or issues are constantly understood.
	65.	This extends to information regarding the number of self-funders (9 of the current 77 residents and none at Solent Mead) and from the information shown in Appendix 3 and from recent external commissioning activity, there is a confidence that alternative provision can be secured at competitive prices. It is also the case that for those residents who make a partial contribution to their weekly care costs, they will be financially unaffected by a move to alternative provision within the independent sector.
	66.	In terms of the concerns about whether residents would still be visited if they are required to move to an alternative home, and issues of accessibility for family and friends, information is held by each of the potentially affected homes in this regard. Of the 77 residents that were being hosted as we entered the Christmas period, 15 of them are never visited and a further 7 are visited very infrequently – every 2-3 months at best. Of the 55 residents who are visited regularly, or more frequently, at least 49 are visited by family and/or friends who drive to Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, or Solent Mead. From this information, visits, and access to alternative provision, should be very much in line with what currently occurs.
	67.	As already referenced, the HCC Care Older Adults service area is a very dynamic environment. At the time the Cabinet report was published back in July 2023, Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead had a combined occupancy of 95 residents and as stated numerous times in this report, the occupancy as we headed into Christmas had reduced to 77. Part of the reduction will be explained by a drop off in admissions since the Cabinet report was published, but what the table below highlights is that 18 of the 95 residents who were at the homes in July, are no longer there or have moved on. This will be for different reasons including a change in needs, family choice, or regrettably end of life.
	68.	The above table helps to highlight the under-occupancy (87%) that has been a feature of service performance at the 3 homes over the recent past, and this was part of the consideration in the development of the portfolio proposals. It shows occupancy levels reducing to just above 70% over the past 5 months and it should be noted that 2 of the 26 residents at Bishops Waltham House have been admitted in this recent period as temporary, short-term admissions, pending their long-term care needs being established and organised.
	69.	Continuing the ‘dynamic nature of care provision’ theme, some 31 of the existing 77 residents at the 3 homes, are due to be reassessed by the end of this quarter mainly due to deterioration/increased needs that will likely result in most needing to move on to more appropriate care settings. This includes the 6 residents at Green Meadows who were referenced in paragraph 56 as having confirmed nursing needs following reassessments in the first week of 2024. The remaining reassessments will confirm in several cases, necessary moves to nursing homes and in a smaller number of cases, moves to homes that are better able to support people with complex dementia needs, The nature of long-term care provision is that some of the remaining 46 residents are also likely to regress during 2024 and they too will be reassessed as appropriate in a timely manner.
	70.	Accepting that if the decision is taken to close the Solent Mead care home, that this would mean the cessation of the Solent Mead Day Service, the public consultation, as highlighted earlier, also specifically sought views for this service area. Whilst there was strong public opposition to the closure of the Day Service, the operational facts are that the service currently operates just 3 days of the week, and in total, supports 13 service users.
	71.	Positively, alternative Day Service provision exists in New Milton and in Dibden. Age Concern run Day Services in the two locations and have spare places at both sites. Additionally, HCC Care operates a Younger Adults Day Service in New Milton, and this has the flexibility and the space to support a minimum of 3 Older Adults. HCC Care operates a Day Service in Andover that supports both Younger and Older Adults and thus has experience of delivering services that cater for the different needs of adults of all ages.
	72.	The above paragraphs respond to the main ‘uncertainty’ concerns that emerged from consultation responses from residents and their families and friends/representatives. Further, they help to demonstrate the mitigations and the dynamic nature of residential and nursing care provision. They also provide assurance and evidence that for both HCC Care senior management and Care Management (Social Workers), not only do they possess the necessary skills, professionalism, caring qualities, and experience to sensitively plan and execute moves to alternative care home provision, but their knowledge of the residents that will be most affected by the proposed closures if they are approved, is thorough.
	73.	Aside from the fact that re-assessments and moves are tasks that are carried out daily in response to the regular changing needs of residents and/or delivering on family requests for moves, HCC Care staff and Care Management staff successfully and sensitively transitioned 39 residents from Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock over a 3-month period, when the 2 homes were closed for operational resilience reasons in November 2021.
	74.	More recently, staff from HCC Care presided over the safe temporary moves of 20 residents from Westholme who needed to be evacuated urgently following a sprinkler incident that led to the flooding of rooms across 2 floors. Whilst different in nature and temporary, the moves were expertly handled and, in some cases, those who were moved, requested to stay permanently in their new (temporary) accommodation.
	Other Issues/Key Considerations Arising from the Consultation
	75.	Amongst other concerns that regularly featured, especially from those living near to the homes covered by the consultation, was the worry about the loss of well-respected/treasured community assets, a desire for the sites to continue to provide forms of public service, whether alternative ownership could carry on providing care services and comments from respondents who did not want to see the sites sold for private housing or flats.
	76.	In response to these points, possible future alternative uses have not yet been considered. The internal (officer) focus has been on promoting the consultation, understanding it, and preparing for the HASC scrutiny and then the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health decision day. To be considering future use of the sites ahead of the proposal decisions being taken would be seen by some, as pre-empting the decision and has rightly been avoided.
	77.	It is also the case that the business case for the investment programme is NOT reliant on the selling of the sites proposed for closure. This means ‘the door would be open’ for meaningful future engagement with all interested parties, including New Forest District Council in the case of both Cranleigh Paddock and Solent Mead, should the closure proposals be approved. This could also include third party interest in some form of continued care home operation albeit it would not be possible for a new site owner to secure re-registration with CQC, without extensive modification and investment.
	78.	Concerns were voiced from residents/their families, from people living close to the sites, and from other interested parties regarding the loss of Solent Mead and the impact this would have on Lymington. Arguments were made for the yet to be identified new site to be prioritised for the Lymington area. At this stage, all options remain open in regard the future location of the (3rd) new home in the New Forest area and the site search will be included as part of the planned engagement with New Forest District Council.
	79.	In terms of the responses received from ‘others with an interest in the proposals’ concerns were raised about the ability of HCC Care to attract the additional professional staff that would be required to support a bigger operation that is more geared to higher need clients. In the challenging recruitment and retention environment in respect of Health and Social Care, the concerns raised are very topical and relevant.
	80.	Pleasingly, HCC Care has had its best recruitment and retention year in 2023 despite the well-versed workforce challenges. Permanent staffing levels are at an all-time high and the gains made in the past year are equivalent to reducing vacant hours by more than 150 full time equivalent staff. A range of initiatives, including internally led nurse conversion arrangements have led to the success that has been achieved. With the first of the investment projects not set to be completed until the first half of 2027, there is high confidence (not adversely impacted by the recent changes announced by Government in respect of the Legal Migration Rules for Family and Work Visa) that staffing levels will be where they need to be, especially as HCC Care will be seeking to recruit staff to modern, fit for the future homes.
	81.	Another common issue that emerged from the consultation responses was in the form of respondents challenging the service strategy and in particular raising concerns that future care homes of 80 or more beds will be too big and result in people being cared for in institutions and that ‘homely atmosphere’s’ will be lost.
	82.	The response to this point is two-fold. Firstly, and as touched on in paragraph 24 within the ‘context section’, the investment proposals are based on developing homes for the future that enable residents to benefit from their own facilities and their own staff groups and very much feel like they are part of a home within a home. In a typical 80 bed home, the layout would be over two floors with each floor being split into 2 areas of 20 residents each that would each be supported by a visible nursing station. Lounges, eating areas and communal spaces would be dedicated to smaller groups of residents as would assisted bathrooms and shower rooms (separate to individual ensuites that will be a feature of resident rooms) and will be provided on a 1:10 ratio.
	83.	The other factor behind the minimum 80 bed care home proposal, is the efficiency but also the resilience of the staff operating model. 80 bed homes will enable economies of scale to be secured in terms of overall staffing costs and ratios, as well as enabling specialist staffing positions to be more secured and thus consistently available to the home on a 24/7 basis. In turn, this will ensure that residents will be cared for in an optimum fashion at all times.
	84.	Questions were raised about why some sites are planned to close ahead of the proposed investment sites being developed. The fact remains that the 3 homes proposed for closure (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead) are not viable to remain operating and would require significant repair and maintenance expenditure over the coming years to ensure the homes are safe to operate in. Such expenditure cannot be justified given that it would run to many millions of pounds and would not address the attractiveness of the home or increase the bed numbers to improve viability. It is also the case that the proposed new or substantially upgraded homes are planned to cater for people with complex care needs including nursing or complex dementia.
	85.	Amongst other comments received through the consultation were questions about the value for money of the investment proposal, whether the proposals should be more ambitious given the forecast volumes of older people who will require help and support into the future, whether the proposals will result in an over-reliance on the independent sector and whether the proposals are being driven by the desire to secure financial savings.
	86.	The investment programme is backed by a robust and complex financial business case that includes several variables and compares the proposed investment with a withdrawal of the HCC Care service and a future reliance on the independent sector. The cost of the proposed investment is indeed eye-watering, but it should be born in mind that without investing in new facilities and/or refurbishing and modernising existing facilities, the current 900 beds that the service operates from would reduce annually. So, in short, the proposed investment not only helps to avoid this situation, but it also adds at least 10% more service capacity than HCC Care currently operates to.
	87.	The business case suggests that if the proposed investments are delivered, then the costs that the Directorate will be exposed to in the future will be less than they would be if the Council looked to rely solely on independent sector provision. This is better regarded as future cost avoidance as opposed to planning to secure financial savings and is especially welcome as the excess costs being incurred year on year for Children’s and Adults’ Social Care is having a significant impact on the Council’s finances. The forecast future revenue cost exposure also covers the costs of the investment borrowing.
	88.	In the current financial and operating climate, the investment proposals are generally regarded as significant and very ambitious. Should the investment programme be implemented then 6 major development projects averaging just short of £30m each would be progressed alongside each other, and over consecutive years, placing a heavy burden on the construction sector in Hampshire. To go further, would add any number of unnecessary risks to the County Council and to the private sector.
	89.	The investment plans, if implemented, will mean a sustainable future for HCC Care and the ability to support up to 1,000 people at any point in time, in largely fit for the future homes across Hampshire. We will continue to rely on the independent sector for circa 80% of annual residential and nursing requirements and this appears to be a sensible and logical balance to try to go forward with. The investment proposals are designed to allow HCC Care to continue to have strong market presence and to avoid the County Council from being over reliant on the independent sector over future decades.
	Staff Consultation
	90.	In addition to the formal public consultation process, a separate formal HR consultation process was also organised to ensure the management team engaged formally with the staff most affected by the proposals in the Cabinet report.
	91.	Several all-staff meetings were arranged to ensure as many staff as possible were told in person about the proposals in the Cabinet report just before it was available online, and further staff briefings took place immediately after the Cabinet decision but prior to the formal HR consultation process beginning on the 4 September 2023, the same day as the formal public consultation commenced. Meetings were also held with Trade Unions during this pre consultation period.
	92.	Staff (and Trade Unions) were briefed on 4 September 2023, marking the start of the 10-week formal HR consultation process which covered staff at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead (including the Day Service). Additionally, staff who previously worked at Cranleigh Paddock and Copper Beeches (the 2 homes that have been temporarily closed since November 2021) were also covered by the formal HR consultation.
	93.	As part of the briefing staff were informed that there would be no compulsory redundancies if the portfolio proposals are approved and then implemented, but that a voluntary redundancy ‘window’ would open early in the HR consultation period. Although, in overall terms, the HCC Care service does have many vacant positions, the location of the homes with vacant posts does not necessarily make redeployment for those most affected by the proposals, a practical option. This was a leading factor in the decision to offer voluntary redundancy. That said, it was made very clear to staff that the service will strive to retain as many staff as possible and that voluntary redundancy will only be agreed if there is no realistic prospect that the member of staff could be redeployed.
	94.	During the HR consultation period, a series of meetings with individual members of staff took place with a representative from HCC Care Services’ senior management team and senior HR colleagues to ensure everyone had an opportunity to talk about the proposals and the potential impact of a decision to close any or all the homes. The level of engagement was unprecedented, with meetings being proactively arranged to ensure as many staff as possible had an opportunity to talk to senior managers about the proposals and were able to access HR advice, including voluntary redundancy and pension estimates.
	95.	As anticipated (and hoped) most staff indicated a preference to continue working for HCC, so the meetings provided a valuable opportunity to discuss the sort of roles, hours of work and location to help the management team prepare for the future should the overall portfolio proposals ultimately be approved. They also facilitated discussions about working in different roles, for example Case Managers in the local community social work teams, and thus gathered intelligence that would not have been possible without face-to-face discussions.
	96.	A total of 153 staff (97%) had at least one meeting, and in many cases, more than one, to discuss personal circumstances in detail. If staff were unavailable, because they were on long term sick leave or maternity leave, phone calls were arranged to ensure they were not disadvantaged because of their absence.  A few staff did not want to meet, in the main because they are only contracted to work for a small number of hours and not wanting to discuss redeployment. In other cases, some staff were due to move to other roles or indeed to retire.
	97.	Regular meetings were arranged with the Trade Unions, on average once every two to three weeks, throughout the consultation period. Overall, the Trade Unions reported a surprisingly low number of enquiries from their members. They have reported that the level of engagement with staff, the principle of voluntary redundancies only and the offer of a second voluntary redundancy window, if the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health approves the closure proposals, have reduced some of the anxiety and stress for staff.
	98.	The voluntary redundancy window referenced above, was opened on 25 September 2023 and was due to close on 5 November 2023, but it was extended for another week until 12 November 2023, because there had been some delays with some of the requested pension estimates. Additionally, it was confirmed there would be a second opportunity to apply for voluntary redundancy (10 February 2024 to 18 February 2024) if the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health approved the closure proposals at today’s decision day. This is intended to help those staff who either wanted more time to consider their position or did not feel able to commit until a formal decision is made.
	99.	To date 50 applications for voluntary redundancy have been received. This equates to 32% of the total staff potentially impacted by the home closure proposals. It is likely this number will increase if the second voluntary redundancy window is opened should the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health approve the closure proposals. In summary, currently 108 staff are wanting to continue working for HCC Care and are thus seeking redeployment. This equates to 68% of the overall impacted workforce.
	Consultation and Equalities
	100.	It is for the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health as decision maker to have due regard to the need to: Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct prohibited under the Equality Act and advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
	101.	Equalities Impact Assessments have been carried out to determine the impacts of these recommendations on both residents of the homes, users of the day service at Solent Mead and staff that would be affected should they be approved. The full EIA for both residents and service users and for staff can be found at the end of this report, with the key potential impacts detailed below.
	102.	An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on the proposals contained in this report, in relation to their potential impact on both the residents of the homes involved and the users of the day service. In completing it, a range of concerns expressed during the public consultation have been considered, in particular relating to age and disability.
	103.	Approximately 350 individuals live in the 8 homes that would be impacted by these proposals (remembering that 2 other homes that are set to be affected, are temporarily closed, and thus have no current residents), of these 75% are over 80 years old. In addition, 13 service users have been identified in respect of the Solent Mead Day Service that is also proposed to be closed as part of the overall proposals.  Of these 13 service users 54% (7) are over 80 years old.
	104.	It has been identified that there will be a medium negative impact on current residents and current day service users, in relation to the protected characteristic of age, within homes or services that are proposed to either close or be remodelled to the extent that relocation of current residents would be necessary.
	105.	Some impacts on the grounds of age were reflected as a concern in the consultation responses. The consultation analysis highlighted concerns that it could be unsettling or traumatic for older residents to move from their current homes.
	106.	To mitigate impacts, should the decision be made to close the homes, HCC Care and Care Management (Social Workers) have the necessary skills and expertise to handle the closure process sensitively and work with residents, service-users, and their families to find suitable alternatives for each of the current residents and service-users.  For current users of Solent Mead Day Service, they would be supported to find alternative Day Service opportunities.
	107.	It is also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in specialist care for older people in Hampshire, particularly those requiring complex dementia and nursing care which would be a positive impact for future cohorts of residents.
	108.	Approximately 96% of the current HCC Care residents have a disability and in terms of day service users the disability level is 54%.  Most residents have multiple chronic conditions, including mobility issues, dementia, and sensory loss. It has therefore been identified that there would be a medium negative impact on current residents, in relation to the protected characteristic of disability, within homes that are proposed to either close or be remodelled to the extent that relocation of current residents would be necessary.
	109.	Concerns were raised during the public consultation about the impacts on people with dementia, particularly in relation to the proposed new homes and the proposed extensions to existing homes. To mitigate this, the homes would be designed to feel homely and domestic in nature, whilst at the same time meeting appropriate guidance and regulations for complex dementia care and nursing care. In terms of communal facilities, groups of 10 residents would have shared access to lounge and dining facilities. In addition to the ensuite bathrooms, assisted bathrooms and shower rooms would be provided within the homes on a 1:10 resident ratio.
	110.	It is also recognised that the proposals outline future investment in specialist dementia provision which would be a positive impact for the future cohorts of residents– and particularly those with complex dementia. The proposal would place Hampshire in a strong position to meet the needs of residents with complex dementia which is expected to become the fastest growing service area in the next 5-10 years.
	111.	An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on the proposals contained in this report, in relation to their potential impact on the staff working in the homes involved. The assessment found that there were neutral impacts on all protected characteristics, except for race where the staff impact was assessed as negative / medium.
	112.	Our data confirms that 10% of staff who work for Hampshire County Council identify as being from ethnic minority communities, 86% white and 3% prefer not to say. Within HCC Care, 43% of the HCC Care (Older Persons) workforce identify themselves as BME, 54% White and 2% prefer not to say.  Any staff reductions would be achieved voluntarily and given the profile of the BME workforce any decisions to support voluntary redundancy would be assessed in the context of this profile to ensure there would be no unintended negative or disproportionate impact on staff from ethnic minority communities.
	113.	A Climate Change Impact Assessment is not applicable to this decision report as it relates to the HCC Care service changes to the Older Adults residential and nursing homes portfolio following a formal public consultation and is therefore strategic in nature. The individual investment project proposals recommended within this report will be subject to individual project appraisals which will cover climate change impact assessment requirements.
	114.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	Conclusions
	115.	This report details the outcomes from the 10-week formal public consultation that considered different HCC Care home closure and service cessation proposals that are an integral part of a proposed £173m investment programme (4th quarter 2022 cost base) in the HCC Care Older Adults service portfolio that was considered by Cabinet in July 2023.
	116.	The investment programme resulted from a review of the existing Older Adults service portfolio which highlighted several of the current homes, especially those providing standard residential services, are operating from buildings and layouts that are increasingly not fit for purpose and are challenging for staff to work in. It also was influenced by the development of a future service strategy that, in the context of material growth forecasts for older people generally and for increases in complex dementia levels, is aimed at HCC Care being better able to meet the needs of older persons with complex care needs, including complex dementia.
	117.	The background to the investment programme and what is proposed to result from it has been explained in the report. In summary, the HCC Care Older Adults service would have a more sustainable future if the programme were implemented. It would be able to operate with approximately 1000 beds (100 more than now) and importantly from fit for the future homes. By maintaining a strong market presence, the County Council would be less susceptible to prices in the independent sector, especially complex care prices with the investment programme business case demonstrating that HCC Care is able to deliver complex care services at rates cheaper than the County Council can buy care for in the independent sector.
	118.	Cabinet approved the investment programme in principle in July 2023, but subject to a formal public consultation, public scrutiny of the consultation outcomes by HASC and a subsequent set of decisions by the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health. Should the consultation proposals be approved, and the proposed investment programme be implemented, the HCC Care service would be better positioned to meet increased service demand both in terms of the expected continued increase in the elderly population (over 65’s set to increase by more than 50,000 in the next 6 years) and in terms of being able to support more people with complex dementia – a condition that is forecast to see a 45% increase for the elderly population by 2040.
	119.	As outlined, the investment programme combines 3 new builds, and major refurbishments and expansions to 3 existing homes (Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst) that would also include the cessation of standard residential services at the sites. The investment programme also includes 7 proposed closures of residential homes. 2 of the homes proposed for closure (Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock) are currently temporarily closed and 2 of the homes (Malmesbury Lawn and Westholme) would continue to operate until being replaced by 2 of the 3 proposed new builds in the first half of 2027. It was agreed that the public consultation would thus be focused on the 10 homes affected by the investment programme proposals, divided purposely into 4 consultation categories. It also included consultation on the Day Service at Solent Mead given that the home is included in the closure proposals.
	120.	The 10-week public consultation was relentlessly advertised and promoted prior to its commencement and throughout it being live. This resulted in 724 separate responses being received from residents/their families/friends, from staff, from people living near the sites and from other interested parties including organisations and democratically elected representatives. For 3 of the 4 consultation categories (covering 7 proposed home or service closures) there was greater support than there was disagreement for the proposals.
	121.	For the remaining consultation category, there was strong public disagreement for the proposed closures of residential services at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead. The consultation disagreement by the public was further supported by petitions against the proposed closures. Existing and/or former staff or volunteers who responded to the consultation, were supportive of the proposals.
	122.	The main issues that emerged from the consultation responses and the mitigations have been outlined in detail in this report. Uncertainty for those affected was not surprisingly the biggest issue that came through the consultation and through the informal discussions held with residents and their families by HCC Care staff and by Care Management staff prior to, during and since the consultation period. The concerns included the availability and the proximity of suitable alternative provision, of the levels of support that would be available to residents and their families, the likely financial consequences for those that contribute to, or fully fund the care that they receive, and the potential for reduced visiting by families and friends who might struggle to access alternative homes.
	123.	These points and many more have been addressed in the report. Strong levels of good quality and price competitive alternative provision exists within 10 miles of the homes proposed for closure and the report confirmed that in almost all cases, family and friends visit their loved ones by car. It is accepted that the prospect of having to move to an alternative care home, for some residents and for their families will be unsettling and concerning. The report outlined the vast experience that HCC Care staff and Care Management staff have in dealing sensitively and professionally with resident changing needs and confirmed just how dynamic the residential and nursing care arena is, with reassessments and onward moves being very much part of the daily workload. The report also highlighted the extent of understanding that staff have of existing residents, their needs, and of issues and concerns of family and friends.
	124.	It is very much the case that residents who are supported in HCC Care residential settings do regress over time and in many cases, re-assessments confirm that nursing care or complex dementia services are required to enable the increasing needs of residents to be appropriately catered for. An example was quoted about 6 such assessments that were completed in the first week of 2024, on residents who are currently supported at Green Meadows. In each case, alternative onward nursing care arrangements will be pursued in a sensitive and person-centred manner so that the best outcomes for each resident can be secured.
	125.	The report highlighted how, beyond every day changing needs, that HCC Care staff and Care Management staff have the experience and knowledge from recent events of successfully managing and completing moves for residents to alternative care settings, again carefully controlled and sensitive to the needs and concerns of each individual resident and to their families. The experiences of the Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock temporary closures at the end of 2021 involving 39 residents being moved to alternative care home settings, and the more recent transfer of 20 residents from Westholme following the flooding of rooms in the summer of 2023 were referenced.
	126.	In addition to the potential impacts for residents and their families, it is also acknowledged that there would also be impacts for HCC Care staff who work at the different homes if the closure proposals are approved. The report outlined the extensive engagement that took place with staff as part of a formal HR led, staff consultation process. This process, which confirmed that there would be no compulsory redundancies resulting from the proposed programme, ran alongside but separate to, the formal public consultation process and positively, engagement was secured with 97% of the 150+ staff that are most impacted by the change proposals.
	127.	Nearly 70% of the staff expressed a preference to remain employed with HCC Care if the closure proposals are approved, with 50 applications being received for voluntary redundancy consideration, recognising that redeployment is not always suitable for every individual member of staff. The voluntary redundancy process is consistent with major change programmes that may impact on staff groups. Staff who did apply are aware that their applications will not be decided upon until after the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health 8 February decision day.
	128.	Having robustly reviewed the formal public consultation responses, considered the mitigations to the main issues raised and taken all that has been analysed and evidenced into account, the report recommends that the Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health should support each of the proposals that were publicly consulted on, including the cessation of residential services at the homes (Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, and Solent Mead) for which there was public disagreement to the proposals consulted on.
	129.	The recommendations also support the cessation of the Day Service at Solent Mead which clearly cannot continue if it is agreed that the Solent Mead residential home should close. In respect of the 13 current users of the Solent Mead Day Service, the report did evidence alternative provision in New Milton and Dibden led by HCC Care and/or Age Concern for which available capacity has been confirmed.
	APPENDIX 1
	Copper Beeches Residential Care Home
	Copper Beeches is a 36-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Andover. It was built in 1975. It was temporarily closed in November 2021 for operational reasons.
	The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for HCC Care.
	The typical bedroom size at Copper Beeches does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size at Copper Beeches is 10m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Copper Beeches, but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 36 to 21.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	Should the decision be taken to permanently close Copper Beeches, as of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Copper Beeches there are 6 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and that HCC commissions care with. In addition, there are 12 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes, that HCC commissions care with, rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the local area to meet the needs of older people, both currently and in the future.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Copper Beeches and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is permanently closed with immediate effect.
	Cranleigh Paddock Residential Care Home
	Cranleigh Paddock is a 32-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Lyndhurst. It was built in 1980. It was temporarily closed in November 2021 for operational reasons.
	The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for HCC Care.
	The typical bedroom size at Cranleigh Paddock does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size at Cranleigh Paddock is 10m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Cranleigh Paddock, but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 32 to 18.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Cranleigh Paddock there are 55 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and that HCC commissions care with. In addition, there are 42 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes, that HCC commissions care with, rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile radius.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Cranleigh Paddock and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is permanently closed with immediate effect.
	Bishop’s Waltham House Residential Care Home
	Bishop’s Waltham House is a 32-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Bishop’s Waltham. It was built in 1980. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being modernised to meet the environmental standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care.
	The typical bedroom size at Bishop’s Waltham House does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size at Bishop’s Waltham House is 9m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Bishop’s Waltham House, but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 32 to 24.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Bishop’s Waltham House there are 61 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 12 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the future.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and considered the mitigations in respect of Bishops Waltham House and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is approved for closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	Green Meadows Residential Care Home
	Green Meadows is a 42-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Denmead. It was built in 1969. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care.
	The typical bedroom size at Green Meadows does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size at Green Meadows is 10m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Green Meadows, but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 42 to 20.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Green Meadows there are 65 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 9 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the future.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and considered the mitigations, in respect of Green Meadows and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is approved for closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	Solent Mead Residential Care Home
	Solent Mead is a 35-bed residential care home for Older Adults in Lymington. It was built in 1968. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend themselves to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for HCC Care.
	The typical bedroom size at Solent Mead does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size at Solent Mead is 10m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Solent Mead but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 35 to 19.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	As of December 2023, within a 10-mile radius of Solent Mead there are 32 residential care homes that are rated ‘Good’ or above by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). In addition, there are 21 nursing homes or dual nursing and residential care homes rated ‘Good’ or above by the CQC within the 10-mile radius. It is therefore considered that there is sufficient accommodation in the local area to meet the needs of both current residents and older people in the future.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and considered the mitigations, in respect of Solent Mead and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home is approved for closure and that the closure is completed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	Solent Mead Day Service
	Solent Mead Day Service offers day services to (Older Adults) people aged 65 and over. The Day Service is operated from the same building as Solent Mead residential care home. Were the decision be made to close the residential care home at Solent Mead, then it would not be possible or viable to maintain the day service in its current location.
	Hampshire County Council currently commissions places at 2 Day Services for Older Adults in the New Forest; these are Gore Grange in New Milton and The Horrill Centre in Dibden (Hythe). In both cases, the Day Services referenced are run by Age Concern Hampshire.
	In addition, HCC Care operates a Day Service in New Milton primarily for Younger Adults but does have up to 3 places currently available and able to be accessed by Older Adults. HCC Care combines Day Services provision for Younger and Older Adults in Andover and thus has experience of serving the differing needs of people of all ages.
	Should the decision be taken to close the Solent Mead Residential service and thus the Day Service, then people who currently use the service (13 presently) would be sensitively supported to find alternative Day Service opportunities.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses and considered the mitigations in respect of the Solent Mead Day Service and considering the above and the recommended closure of the Solent Mead residential care home, it is recommended that the Solent Mead Day Service is approved for closure and should be closed by, or at the same time as the residential care home is closed.
	Emsworth House Residential and Nursing Care Home
	Emsworth House, in Emsworth, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 24 residential beds and 48 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1963 but modernised and extended in 2005 to allow it to provide nursing care.
	Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in Emsworth House offering 100 beds for complex dementia and/or nursing care. The proposals include the cessation and removal of the standard residential service prior to the planned development of the site.
	The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their construction as easy as possible.
	Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Emsworth House, then it is expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned that the residential service at Emsworth House will continue to operate until the end of 2025.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Emsworth House and considering the above, it is recommended that the existing residential service is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	Oakridge House Residential and Nursing Care Home
	Oakridge House, in Basingstoke, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 34 residential beds and 57 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1969 but modernised and extended to allow it to provide nursing care in 2010 and then again in 2014.
	Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in Oakridge House offering 88 new and/or modernised beds for complex dementia and/or nursing care. The proposals include the cessation and removal of the standard residential service prior to the planned development of the site.
	The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their construction as easy as possible.
	Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Oakridge House, then it is expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned that the residential service at Oakridge House will continue to operate until the end of 2025.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Oakridge House and considering the above, it is recommended that the existing residential service is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	Ticehurst Residential and Nursing Care Home
	Ticehurst, in Aldershot, is a care home for Older Adults, offering 36 residential beds and 48 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1973 but modernised and extended to allow it to provide nursing care in 2005.
	Recent work, including site visits, has concluded that the proposals could result in Ticehurst offering 100 beds for complex dementia and/or nursing care. The proposals include the cessation and removal of the standard residential service prior to the planned development of the site.
	The proposed modernisation and extension is predicated on being able to continue to provide nursing services through the construction period. This work would require careful planning to ensure that the work can be carried out safely and with minimal disruption to the existing nursing residents. The new blocks would be planned to be constructed as detached buildings with covered or enclosed links to connect them to the retained accommodation to make their construction as easy as possible.
	Should the decision be made to upgrade and refurbish Ticehurst, then it is expected that this work would start at the end of 2025 or early 2026. It is planned that the residential service at Ticehurst will continue to operate until the end of 2025.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Ticehurst and considering the above, it is recommended that the existing residential service is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	Malmesbury Lawn Residential Care Home
	Malmesbury Lawn is a 33-bed residential care home for Older Adults. It was built in 1973.
	The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to being modernised to meet the standards required to support the needs of people requiring nursing care and complex dementia care as outlined in the strategy for HCC Care.
	The County Council is proposing to develop a new 100 bed care home at Oak Park near Havant. This would provide a flexible mix of nursing and complex residential dementia care. This proposed development is approximately 2 miles from Malmesbury Lawn, a residential care home run by Hampshire County Council in Leigh Park Havant. The proposed Oak Park development is anticipated to be completed no earlier than the beginning of 2027.
	The typical bedroom size at Malmesbury Lawn is 16m2 which meets current Building Regulations. The bedroom sizes are partly the result of some bedrooms being knocked through to form 1 bedroom out of 2 rooms. Whilst this has resulted in overall larger floor area, the existing bedroom widths remain restricted.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending Malmesbury Lawn, but this isn’t being proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of bedrooms from 33 to 24.
	The site could not meet the requirement to accommodate a minimum of 80 bedrooms aligning with the HCC Care Home viability model and strategy for future investment.
	Should the decision be made to close Malmesbury Lawn on the completion of the new care home at Oak Park (planned for early 2027), then the residents of Malmesbury Lawn would be supported to move to the new home that will be designed to meet the needs of clients with complex dementia.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses that support the proposals in respect of Malmesbury Lawn and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant) should be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set out in this report.
	Westholme Residential and Nursing Care Home
	Westholme is a care home for Older Adults, offering 34 residential beds and 40 nursing beds. It was originally built in 1965 but extended in 2005 to allow it to provide nursing care. The footprint and layout of the building do not lend itself to being modernised and expanded in the same way that is proposed on the sites at Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst.
	The County Council is proposing to develop a new, minimum 80 bed care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy) near Winchester. This would provide a flexible mix of nursing and complex residential dementia care.
	This proposed development is located approximately 2.5 miles from Westholme, a residential and nursing care home run by Hampshire County Council in Winchester. It is estimated that the new development at Cornerways would be completed no earlier than the beginning of 2027.
	The typical bedroom size within the residential care building at Westholme, does not meet current bed and Buildings Regulation access requirements, although they were in line with standards at the time it was built. Current Building Regulations set out minimum space standards for accommodation used; to comply with this requirement, a minimum room size of 14m2 is required. A room of this size also enables the bed to be accommodated with sufficient space for a carer to stand on each side, to assist the resident. The typical room size within this part of the home is 10m2.
	Consideration was given to remodelling and extending the original residential care wing of the building, but this isn’t proposed as the work required to adapt the existing buildings to provide bedrooms that meet current space standards with ensuite bathrooms was financially unviable. The loss of adjacent bedrooms to provide ensuite facilities, would reduce the overall number of residents that could be accommodated in the home to an unviable level.
	A desktop review by structural engineers has indicated that such work would reduce the number of residential care bedrooms from 34 to 16, resulting in the overall number of bedrooms at Westholme being reduced to 56.
	Should the decision be made to close Westholme on the completion of the new care home at Cornerways (planned for early 2027), then the residents of Westholme would be supported to move to the new scheme given that the proposed new home will cater for both complex dementia and nursing needs.
	Having thoroughly analysed the public consultation responses which support the proposals in respect of Westholme and considering the above, it is recommended that the residential and nursing care home in Winchester should be closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy near Winchester) opens as set out in this report.
	.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	Other Significant Links
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	Equalities Impact Assessments have been carried out to determine the impacts of these recommendations on both residents of the homes, users of the day service at Solent Mead and staff that would be affected should they be approved.
	HCC Care currently operates 15 older persons care homes with 900 beds, consisting of long-term and short-term provision.  This includes 4 residential homes, 4 nursing homes (3 of which are exclusively or predominantly being used to support the short-term needs of patients being discharged from hospitals) and 7 joint residential and nursing homes for older people.  Additionally, 2 further residential homes (Cranleigh Paddock in Lyndhurst and Copper Beeches in Andover) have been temporarily closed since November 2021.  As well as providing residential and nursing care for older people, HCC Care also provides day services, respite services, including a crisis service, and a small number of residential places for adults under 65 years old with learning disabilities.
	a)	that Copper Beeches residential care home in Andover should be permanently closed with immediate effect.
	b)	that Cranleigh Paddock residential care home in Lyndhurst should be permanently closed with immediate effect.
	c)	that Bishop’s Waltham House residential care home in Bishop’s Waltham should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	d)	that Green Meadows residential care home in Denmead should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	e)	that Solent Mead residential care home in Lymington should be closed within 6-12 months of the closure decision if made.
	f)	subject to recommendation 13e (above) being approved, that the Solent Mead Day Centre, attached to the Solent Mead residential care home, in Lymington should be closed by, or at the same time as the residential care home is closed.
	g)	that at Emsworth House residential and nursing care home in Emsworth the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	h)	that at Oakridge House residential and nursing care home in Basingstoke the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	i)	that at Ticehurst residential and nursing care home in Aldershot the older more traditional residential care setting is closed (timing to be confirmed but likely to be at the end of 2025) and ultimately replaced and extended with modern capacity to meet the needs of people requiring complex dementia care and nursing care, whilst at the same time modernising the existing nursing capacity.
	j)	that Malmesbury Lawn residential care home in Leigh Park (Havant) should be closed once a proposed new care home at Oak Park opens as set out in this report.
	k)	that Westholme residential and nursing care home in Winchester should be closed once a proposed new care home at Cornerways (Kingsworthy near Winchester) opens, as set out in this report.
	l)	that in relation to the recommended closures of the residential services at Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows, Solent Mead, Emsworth House, Oakridge House and Ticehurst, that no further residential admissions to these homes are to be agreed if the closure decisions are made.
	Approximately 375 individuals live in the 8 homes (remembering that 2 other homes that are set to be affected, are temporarily closed, and thus have no current residents), that would be impacted by these proposals, of these 75% are over 80 years old.  In addition, 13 service users have been identified in respect of the Solent Mead Day Service that is also proposed to be closed as part of the overall proposals.  Of these 13 service users 54% (7) are over 80 years old.
	It is noted that the two most rural homes are proposed to be closed within 6-12 months, however the planned new and redeveloped homes have been carefully planned to ensure a good geographical spread across the county.
	Staff Equalities Impact Assessment
	Staff - HR data recorded on SAP confirms that within Hampshire County Council 29% of staff are Christians, 1% Buddhist, 1% Hindu, 1% Muslim, 3% prefer not to say, 2% are recorded as “other religion” and 64% have no religion or belief recorded.   Within HCC Care Services - Older Persons 37% of the workforce are Christians, 3% are Buddhist, 3% are Hindu, 2% are Muslim, 1% are recorded as “other religion” and 53% have no religion or belief recorded.  The impact is assessed as neutral because there is no expectation that the proposals, their impact and the mitigations proposed would negatively impact this profile.
	Staff - assessed as Neutral as relevant data is unavailable at this current time and there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.
	Staff - assessed as Neutral as relevant data is unavailable at this current time and there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.
	Staff – the impact is assessed as neutral because the relevant data is unavailable at the current time and there is no indication of a disproportionate impact on this protected characteristic.  Salaries in HCC are at or above the National Living Wage and any potential job changes would not affect salary levels.  In the unlikely event that an employee was redeployed to a lower graded post the employee would be protected given HCC’s pay protection policy.  Specifically, they would either remain on their previous salary for a period of 2 year’s or a grade above the redeployed role if there is a difference of more than one grade.    Those leaving on redundancy terms would only do so voluntarily.
	Staff - assessed as neutral because although the location of some of the homes is within rural communities not all the staff live in the area.  If travel to another location is required, this has been considered in the 1:1 HR consultation meetings to ensure individual circumstances are considered when determining the outcome of the voluntary redundancy or redeployment process.   If staff are required to travel, additional mileage would be reimbursed in accordance with HCC’s relocation mileage policy.


	HCC Care proposals Jan 2024 Final Insight Report for publication - EM DD
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Background
	Slide 3: Methodology
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: Responses submitted via the Response Form
	Slide 10: Of all the people who responded to the consultation, most chose to respond regarding the closures, in particular Bishops Waltham House.
	Slide 11: Level of agreement with proposals (summary all proposals)
	Slide 12
	Slide 13: Group 1 was highly likely to voice disagreements to the closures, while Group 2 was more likely to agree to them and were very supportive of non-closure proposals. Group 3 were particularly opposed to certain closures (Bishops Waltham House, Sol
	Slide 14: Individual proposals
	Slide 15: Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock (proposed permanent closure of temporarily closed home)
	Slide 16: Copper Beeches and Cranleigh Paddock  Level of agreement with proposals overall and by interest group
	Slide 17
	Slide 18: Copper Beeches - illustrative comments
	Slide 19: Copper Beeches - illustrative comments
	Slide 20
	Slide 21: Cranleigh Paddock - illustrative comments
	Slide 22: Bishops Waltham House (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)
	Slide 23: Bishops Waltham House Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 24: Bishops Waltham House – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 25: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 26: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 27: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 28: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 29: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 30: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 31: Bishops Waltham House - illustrative comments
	Slide 32: Green Meadows (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)
	Slide 33: Green Meadows Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 34: Green Meadows – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 35: Green Meadows- illustrative comments
	Slide 36: Green Meadows - illustrative comments
	Slide 37: Green Meadows - illustrative comments
	Slide 38: Green Meadows - illustrative comments
	Slide 39: Green Meadows - illustrative comments
	Slide 40: Green Meadows - illustrative comments
	Slide 41: Solent Mead (Home) (proposed permanent closure of currently operational home)
	Slide 42: Solent Mead (Home) Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 43
	Slide 44: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 45: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 46: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 47: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 48: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 49: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 50: Solent Mead (Home) - illustrative comments
	Slide 51: Solent Mead (Day Service) (proposed closure) 
	Slide 52: Solent Mead (Day Service)  Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 53: Solent Mead (Day Service) – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 54: Solent Mead (Day Service) - illustrative comments
	Slide 55: Solent Mead (Day Service) - illustrative comments
	Slide 56: Emsworth House (proposed site modernisation and expansion)
	Slide 57: Emsworth House Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 58: Emsworth House – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 59: Emsworth House - illustrative comments
	Slide 60: Emsworth House - illustrative comments
	Slide 61: Emsworth House - illustrative comments
	Slide 62: Oakridge House (proposed site modernisation and expansion)
	Slide 63: Oakridge House Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 64
	Slide 65: Oakridge House - illustrative comments
	Slide 66: Oakridge House - illustrative comments
	Slide 67: Oakridge House - illustrative comments
	Slide 68: Ticehurst (proposed site modernisation and expansion)
	Slide 69: Ticehurst  Level of agreement with proposal overall and by interest group
	Slide 70: Ticehurst– reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 71: Ticehurst - illustrative comments
	Slide 72: Ticehurst - illustrative comments
	Slide 73: Ticehurst - illustrative comments
	Slide 74: Westholme (proposed closure and relocation to nearby new build sites)
	Slide 75: Malmesbury Lawn (proposed closure and relocation to nearby new build sites)
	Slide 76: Westholme and Malmesbury Lawn Level of agreement with proposals overall and by interest group
	Slide 77: Westholme – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 78: Westholme - illustrative comments
	Slide 79: Westholme - illustrative comments
	Slide 80: Malmesbury Lawn – reasons and impacts provided by interest group
	Slide 81: Malmesbury Lawn - illustrative comments
	Slide 82: Reasons and impact responses made across multiple proposals   
	Slide 83: Reasons and impact responses made across multiple proposals
	Slide 84: Reasons and impact responses made across multiple proposals (by interest group)
	Slide 85: Reasons and impact relating to multiple proposals - illustrative comments
	Slide 86: Reasons and impact relating to multiple proposals - illustrative comments
	Slide 87: Other comments and suggested alternative approaches
	Slide 88: Any other comments or suggested alternative approaches
	Slide 89: Other comments and suggested alternative approaches – illustrative examples
	Slide 90: Identified equalities impacts
	Slide 91: Identified equalities impacts 
	Slide 92: Engagement sessions and conversations
	Slide 93: Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)
	Slide 94: Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)
	Slide 95: Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)
	Slide 96: Summary of notes from engagement sessions and conversations with residents, service users and their relatives/ representatives (individual and group conversations)
	Slide 97: Unstructured Responses
	Slide 98: Summary of themes from unstructured responses
	Slide 99: Unstructured comments - most commonly mentioned themes
	Slide 100: Methodology and demographics
	Slide 101: About this report
	Slide 102: Communications and Promotion
	Slide 103: List of responding organisations, groups and businesses
	Slide 104: List of responding democratically Elected Representatives’ constituencies
	Slide 105: Respondent age and disability profiles
	Slide 106: Respondent gender, ethnicity and income profiles
	Slide 107: Respondent location profile in relation to care home locations
	Slide 108:                             Appendix  1. detailed breakdown of main interests provided by respondents  Number of people by stated main interest in the proposals (individual category)   2. areas of interest by interest group   (% of people respo
	Slide 109
	Slide 110: Group 2 were slightly less likely than the other groups to answer the question on closures.  Groups 2 and 4 were more likely than other respondents to answer on proposals incorporating relocations.
	Slide 111: Feedback from current or former residents and their families / friends (Group 1) tended to make up a higher proportion of responses for Bishops Waltham House, Green Meadows and Solent Mead.


	2 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES, STATUTORY JOINT COMMITTEES, PANELS AND PARTNERSHIP BOARDS

